
If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format, please call Matthew Evans, Democratic Services Officer 
on 01432 383690 or e-mail matthew.evans@herefordshire.gov.uk in 
advance of the meeting. 

 

 

 

Agenda 
 

Planning and Regulatory 
Committee 
 

 

Date: Wednesday 16 August 2023 

Time: 10.00 am 

Place: Herefordshire Council Offices, Plough Lane, Hereford, 
HR4 0LE 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. Please 
access the following link for the webcast of the meeting: Planning 

and Regulatory Committee - Wednesday 16 August 2023 10.00 am  

For any further information please contact: 

Matthew Evans, Democratic Services Officer 

Tel: 01432 383690 

Email: matthew.evans@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zPwZ0zEkpfU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zPwZ0zEkpfU


 

 

Agenda for the meeting of the Planning and 
Regulatory Committee 

Membership 

 

  
Chairperson Councillor Terry James 
Vice-chairperson Councillor Clare Davies 
   
 Councillor Polly Andrews 

Councillor Bruce Baker 
Councillor Dave Boulter 
Councillor Simeon Cole 
Councillor Dave Davies 
Councillor Elizabeth Foxton 
Councillor Catherine Gennard 
Councillor Peter Hamblin 
Councillor Daniel Powell 
Councillor Stef Simmons 
Councillor John Stone 
Councillor Richard Thomas 
Councillor Diana Toynbee 

 

 
   

 
 



 
Herefordshire Council  16 AUGUST 2023 
 

 

Agenda 

PUBLIC INFORMATION 
 

 

GUIDE TO THE COMMITTEE 
 

 

NOLAN PRINCIPLES 
 

 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

2.   NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY) 
 

 

 To receive details of any Member nominated to attend the meeting in place of 
a Member of the Committee. 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of items on the agenda. 
 

 

4.   MINUTES 
 

13 - 88 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 2023. 
 

 

5.   CHAIRPERSON'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

 

 To receive any announcements from the Chairperson. 
 

 

6.   181494 - LAND ADJACENT TO SPRING COTTAGE, HEADBROOK, 
KINGTON, HR5 3DY 
 

89 - 168 

 Proposed land for residential development and associated work together with 
public open space and local green space. 
 

 

7.   223281 - LAND AT ASHLEY FARM, GRAFTON COURT CLOSE, 
GRAFTON, HEREFORD, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR2 8BL 
 

169 - 218 

 Outline permission for proposed mixed use development to provide 
community hub with enhanced recreation facilities including a 3G pitch, car 
park and access roads, change of use of land from agricultural to allotments 
and productive gardens new buildings to provide changing facilities, 
classrooms, equipment storage, poly tunnels cafe and kitchen. 
 

 

8.   212518 - LAND SOUTH OF YEW TREE FARM, RUCKHALL, COMMON 
ROAD, EATON BISHOP, HEREFORD, HR2 9QX 
 

219 - 234 

 Reserved matters following outline approval 191541 (Outline for three or four 
bedroom dwelling on a plot of land currently part of Hillcrest's garden). 
 

 

9.   231926 - BARN AT WOOLNER HILL FARM, STONEHOUSE LANE, 
BRINGSTY, HEREFORDSHIRE 
 

235 - 244 

 Application for the prior approval of change of use of agricultural building to 
single dwelling. 
 

 

10.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

 

 Date of next site inspection – 5 September 2023 
 
Date of next meeting – 6 September 2023 

 



 
Herefordshire Council  16 AUGUST 2023 
 

 

 



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 

 Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the business 
to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

 Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting. 

 Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to six 
years following a meeting. 

 Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to 
four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a report is given 
at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on which the officer has relied 
in writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

 Access to a public register stating the names, addresses and wards of all Councillors with 
details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and Sub-Committees. 

 Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated decision 
making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

 Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, subject 
to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a 
nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

 Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the 
Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy documents. 

 

Recording of meetings 

 
Please note that filming, photography and recording of this meeting is permitted provided that 
it does not disrupt the business of the meeting. 
 
Members of the public are advised that if you do not wish to be filmed or photographed you 
should let the governance services team know before the meeting starts so that anyone who 
intends filming or photographing the meeting can be made aware. 
The reporting of meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of those doing the 
reporting to ensure that they comply. 
 
The council may make an official recording of this public meeting or stream it live to the 
council’s website.  Such recordings form part of the public record of the meeting and are 
made available for members of the public via the council’s web-site. 
 

Travelling to the meeting  

The Herefordshire Council office at Plough Lane is located off Whitecross Road in Hereford, 
approximately 1 kilometre from the City Bus Station. The location of the office and details of city bus 
services can be viewed at: http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/1597/hereford-city-bus-
map-local-services. If you are driving to the meeting please note that there is a pay and display car 
park on the far side of the council offices as you drive up Plough Lane. There is also a free car park at 
the top of plough lane alongside the Yazor Brook cycle track. 

5

http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/1597/hereford-city-bus-map-local-services
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/1597/hereford-city-bus-map-local-services




 
 

 

 
Guide to planning and regulatory committee 
Updated: 12 June 2023  

Guide to Planning and Regulatory Committee 

The Planning and Regulatory Committee consists of 15 Councillors.  The membership 

reflects the balance of political groups on the council. 

Councillor Terry James (Chairperson) Liberal Democrat 

Councillor Clare Davies (Vice Chairperson) True Independents 

Councillor Polly Andrews Liberal Democrat 

Councillor Bruce Baker Conservative 

Councillor Dave Boulter Independents for Herefordshire 

Councillor Simeon Cole  Conservative 

Councillor Dave Davies Conservative 

Councillor Elizabeth Foxton Independents for Herefordshire 

Councillor Catherine Gennard The Green Party 

Councillor Peter Hamblin Conservative 

Councillor Daniel Powell Liberal Democrat 

Councillor Stef Simmons The Green Party 

Councillor John Stone Conservative 

Councillor Richard Thomas Conservative 

Councillor Diana Toynbee The Green Party 

 

The Committee determines applications for planning permission and listed building consent 
in those cases where: 
 

(a) the application has been called in for committee determination by the relevant ward 
member in accordance with the redirection procedure 

(b) the application is submitted by the council, by others on council land or by or on behalf 
of an organisation or other partnership of which the council is a member or has a 
material interest, and where objections on material planning considerations have been 
received, or where the proposal is contrary to adopted planning policy 

(c) the application is submitted by a council member or a close family member such that a 
council member has a material interest in the application  

(d) the application is submitted by a council officer who is employed in the planning 
service or works closely with it, or is a senior manager as defined in the council’s pay 
policy statement, or by a close family member such that the council officer has a 
material interest in the application 

(e) the application, in the view of the service director, regulatory, raises issues around the 
consistency of the proposal, if approved, with the adopted development plan  

(f) the application, in the reasonable opinion of the service director, regulatory, raises 
issues of a significant and/or strategic nature that a planning committee determination 
of the matter would represent the most appropriate course of action, or 

(g) in any other circumstances where the service director, regulatory, believes the 
application is such that it requires a decision by the planning and regulatory 
committee.  

The regulatory functions of the authority as a licensing authority are undertaken by the 
Committee’s licensing sub-committee. 

7



 
 

 

 
Guide to planning and regulatory committee 
Updated: 12 June 2023  

Who attends planning and regulatory committee meetings? 

The following attend the committee: 

 Members of the committee, including the chairperson and vice chairperson.    

 Officers of the council – to present reports and give technical advice to the committee 

 Ward members – The Constitution provides that the ward member will have the right to 

start and close the member debate on an application. 

(Other councillors - may attend as observers but are only entitled to speak at the discretion 

of the chairman.) 

How an application is considered by the Committee 

The Chairperson will announce the agenda item/application to be considered. The case 

officer will then give a presentation on the report. 

The registered public speakers will then be invited to speak in turn (Parish Council, objector, 

supporter).  (see further information on public speaking below.) 

The local ward member will be invited to start the debate (see further information on the role 

of the local ward member below.) 

The Committee will then debate the matter. 

Officers are invited to comment if they wish and respond to any outstanding questions. 

The local ward member is then invited to close the debate. 

The Committee then votes on whatever recommendations are proposed. 

Public Speaking 

The Council’s Constitution provides that the public will be permitted to speak at meetings of 
the Committee when the following criteria are met: 
 
a) the application on which they wish to speak is for decision at the planning and regulatory 

committee 
b) the person wishing to speak has already submitted written representations within the 

time allowed for comment 
c) once an item is on an agenda for planning and regulatory committee all those who have 

submitted representations will be notified and any person wishing to speak must then 
register that intention with the monitoring officer at least 48 hours before the meeting of 
the planning and regulatory committee 

d) if consideration of the application is deferred at the meeting, only those who registered to 
speak at the meeting will be permitted to do so when the deferred item is considered at a 
subsequent or later meeting 

e) at the meeting a maximum of three minutes (at the chairperson’s discretion) will be 
allocated to each speaker from a parish council, objectors and supporters and only nine 
minutes will be allowed for public speaking 

f) speakers may not distribute any written or other material of any kind at the meeting (see 
note below) 

g) speakers’ comments must be restricted to the application under consideration and must 
relate to planning issues 

8



 
 

 

 
Guide to planning and regulatory committee 
Updated: 12 June 2023  

h) on completion of public speaking, councillors will proceed to determine the application 
i) the chairperson will in exceptional circumstances allow additional speakers and/or time 

for public speaking for major applications and may hold special meetings at local venues 
if appropriate. 

(Note: Those registered to speak in accordance with the public speaking procedure are able 

to attend the meeting in person to speak or participate in the following ways:  

• by making a written submission (to be read aloud at the meeting)  

• by submitting an audio recording (to be played at the meeting) 

• by submitting a video recording (to be played at the meeting) 

• by speaking as a virtual attendee.) 

Role of the local ward member 

The ward member will have an automatic right to start and close the member debate on the 

application concerned, subject to the provisions on the declaration of interests as reflected in 

the Planning Code of Conduct in the Council’s Constitution (Part 5 section 6).  

In the case of the ward member being a member of the Committee they will be invited to 

address the Committee for that item and act as the ward member as set out above. They will 

not have a vote on that item. 

To this extent all members have the opportunity of expressing their own views, and those of 

their constituents as they see fit, outside the regulatory controls of the Committee 

concerned.  

9





 

The Seven Principles of Public Life  

(Nolan Principles) 

 

1. Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

2. Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. 
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve 
any interests and relationships. 

3. Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

4. Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

5. Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 

6. Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

7. Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour and 
treat others with respect. They should actively promote and robustly support the 
principles and challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

 

 

11





 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning and Regulatory Committee 
held at Herefordshire Council Offices, Plough Lane, Hereford, 
HR4 0LE on Wednesday 26 July 2023 at 10.00 am 
  

Present: Councillor Terry James (chairperson) 
Councillor Clare Davies (vice-chairperson) 

   
 Councillors: Bruce Baker, Chris Bartrum, Dave Boulter, Simeon Cole, 

Frank Cornthwaite, Toni Fagan, Elizabeth Foxton, Catherine Gennard, 
Dan Powell, Stef Simmons, John Stone and Richard Thomas 

 

  
In attendance: Councillors Bob Matthews 
  
Officers: Solicitor, Planning & Highways, Development Manager Majors Team and 

Highways Representative 

7. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
Apologies were received from Councillors Polly Andrews, Dave Davies, Peter Hamblin and 
Diana Toynbee. 
 

8. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY)   
 
Councillor Chris Bartrum acted as a substitute for Councillor Polly Andrews 
Councillor Frank Cornthwaite acted as a substitute for Councillor Peter Hamblin 
Councillor Toni Fagan acted as a substitute for Councillor Diana Toynbee 
 

9. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

10. MINUTES   
 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 28 June be approved. 
 

11. 222314 - LAND AT GLOUCESTER ROAD (A40 A449 JUNCTION), ROSS ON WYE, 
HEREFORDSHIRE  (Pages 7 - 66) 
 
Councillor Chris Bartram left the committee to act as the local Ward member for the 
application below.  
 
The Principal Planning Officer gave a presentation on the application and the 
updates/representations received following the publication of the agenda, as provided in the 
update sheet and appended to these minutes.  
 
In accordance the criteria for public speaking Ms Foreman spoke on behalf of Ross-on-Wye 
Town Council, Ms Hall, local resident, spoke in objection to the application and Mr Watt, the 
applicant, spoke in support.  
 
In accordance with the council's constitution the local ward member spoke on the application. 
In summary he explained that the application site was at a sensitive location close to a large 

13

AGENDA ITEM 4



 

roundabout on significant and busy highway infrastructure. There were health objections 
to the application and its impact on childhood obesity particularly given the proximity to 
John Kyrle High School. The application if approved would be contrary to statutory 
requirements for the council to improve the health and wellbeing of the residents of 
Herefordshire. The application was also contrary to paragraph 92 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and planning policy guidance relating to the health 
and wellbeing of local residents. The application site was close to the Wye Valley Area of 
Natural Beauty (AONB) and located on an important gateway into the AONB. It was 
considered that the application would have a detrimental impact upon the AONB and 
would alter the views, setting and character of the AONB. In terms of its impact upon the 
AONB, the application was contrary to Core Strategy policies LD1 and SD1. The 
economic impact of the application upon Ross-on-Wye town centre was queried. The 
assessments of the impact of the application upon the town centre were inadequate and 
it had not been demonstrated that there would be no negative impact as required by the 
Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP). It was also queried why the town centre would 
not have been an acceptable location for the type of restaurant contained in the 
application. The traffic surveys accompanying the application were queried. The surveys 
dated from 2019 from the Department for Transport indicated that traffic flows has 
increased markedly since this time. A locally commissioned traffic survey in September 
2022 had shown the traffic volumes were up to 30% higher than those quoted in the 
2019 survey. The impact of the proposed development upon the local highway network 
and traffic volumes was unacceptable and was contrary to Core Strategy policies SS4 
and MT1.  
 
The committee debated the application. During consideration of the application the 
committee raised the following concerns:  
 
- the increase in the number of car movements arising from the application and the 
impact upon local residents’ amenity and living conditions. There would be a detrimental 
impact upon air quality in the area. The impact of a significant increase in car 
movements upon local residential amenity, for those residents living adjacent to the 
proposed site, was unacceptable. The noise, emissions and headlight glare from cars 
accessing the application site would be unacceptable upon residential amenity. The 
increase in the number of car journeys and the impact upon highways safety was 
unacceptable. There was particular concern that pupils from the local high school would 
access the fast food restaurant across busy local roads. The unacceptable impact upon 
residential amenity posed by the increase in traffic volumes was the contrary to Core 
Strategy policies SS6 and SD1. The unacceptable impact upon highway safety was 
contrary to Core Strategy policy MT1.  
 
- the detrimental impact of a fast food restaurant upon the health and well-being of local 
residents and inconsistency with the council's public health objectives to reduce 
childhood obesity and statutory duty to protect and improve the health and wellbeing of 
the local population. The application was contrary to paragraphs 8 and 92 of the NPPF.  
 
- the location of the application and the drive-through facilities proposed would 
encourage an increase in car journeys. This was contrary to Core Strategy policy MT1 to 
reduce car journeys and also contrary to core strategy policy SS7 to address climate 
change.  
 
- the economic impact of the proposed development upon the sustainability and vitality of 
the town centre was unacceptable and contrary to policy E2 of the Ross-on-Wye NDP.  
 
The local ward member was given the opportunity to close the debate. He thanked the 
committee for their consideration of the application.  
 

14



 

A motion that the application be refused due to: unacceptable impact on residential 
amenity and highway safety (contrary to core strategy policies SS6, SD1 and MT1); 
unacceptable impact upon the health and well-being of the local population posed by a 
fast food restaurant (contrary to paragraphs 8 and 92 of the NPPF); unacceptable impact 
on highways network resulting in an increase in car journeys and the detrimental impact 
upon climate change (contrary to Core Strategy policies MT1 and SS7); and 
unacceptable economic impact upon Ross-on-Wye town centre (contrary to policy E2 of 
the Ross-on-Wye NDP): was proposed by Councillor Toni Fagan and seconded by 
Councillor Stef Simmons. The motion was put to the vote and was carried unanimously.  
 
RESOLVED – that:  
 
The application is refused due to: unacceptable impact on residential amenity and 
highway safety (contrary to core strategy policies SS6, SD1 and MT1); 
unacceptable impact upon the health and well-being of the local population posed 
by a fast food restaurant (contrary to paragraphs 8 and 92 of the NPPF); 
unacceptable impact on highways network resulting in an increase in car journeys 
and the detrimental impact upon climate change (contrary to Core Strategy 
policies MT1 and SS7); and unacceptable economic impact upon Ross-on-Wye 
town centre (contrary to policy E2 of the Ross-on-Wye NDP). 
 
There was an adjournment at 11.12; the meeting reconvened at 11.26. 
 

12. 204242 / 204243 - WARHAM COURT FARM, BREINTON, HEREFORD, 
HEREFORDSHIRE, HR4 7PF  (Pages 67 - 76) 
 
Councillor Chris Bartram resumed his seat on the committee for the following 
application.  
 
Councillor Elizabeth Foxton left the meeting.  
 
The Senior Planning Officer gave a presentation on the application and the 
updates/representations received following the publication of the agenda, as provided in 
the update sheet and appended to these minutes.   
 
In accordance with the criteria for public speaking Mr Morfett spoke on behalf of Breinton 
Parish Council, Mr Barrat, local resident, spoke in objection to the application.  
 
There was an adjournment at 11:45 a.m.; the meeting reconvened at 11:59 a.m.  
 
Mr Carroll, the planning agent, spoke in support of the application.  
 
In accordance with the council's constitution the local ward member spoke on the 
application. In summary, he explained that the site was located in open countryside and 
there was already a farm shop in the Parish of Breinton. The application would result in 
an increase in traffic volumes in the local narrow lanes accessing the site. Reference 
was made to a photograph that had been circulated in the updates sheet which 
demonstrated that the local lanes were unsuitable for HGV access; a weight restriction 
had been requested along the road. There were very limited passing places along the 
local narrow roads and the increase in traffic volumes would have an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety for those rational users of the Lanes including runners, 
walkers, cyclists and horse riders. There had been a number of objections to the 
application and the local Parish Council strongly objected. The application should be 
refused due to the impact on highways are the impact on the landscape in a rural area.  
 
The committee debated the application. During consideration of the application the 
committee raised the following concerns:  

15



 

 
- the scale and nature of the proposed development was not in keeping with the rural 
setting and location and was contrary to Core Strategy policy RA6.  
 
- the proposed development would increase traffic volumes in narrow lanes and 
therefore would have an unacceptable impact upon highway safety and was contrary to 
Core Strategy policy MT1. Increased traffic volumes would have a detrimental impact on 
the use of local highways for recreational purposes contrary to Breinton NDP policies 
B10 and B13.  
 
- increased traffic volumes would contribute to pollution and emissions with a 
consequent impact on climate change. This was contrary to policy SS7 in the Core 
Strategy.  
 
- the proposed demolition of and significant alterations to agricultural buildings 
represented a substantial alteration upon the character and nature of the existing 
buildings contrary to Core Strategy policy RA5.  
 
- the proposed reuse of existing buildings for a farm shop/cafe/office accommodation 
was considered contrary to Breinton NDP Policy B4.  
 
The local ward member was given the opportunity to close the debate. He explained that 
the neighbouring ward councillor objected to the application and urged the committee to 
reject the application on the basis of highways concerns.  
 
A motion that application 204242 be refused due to the: unacceptable scale and nature 
of the building in a rural setting (contrary to Core Strategy policy RA6); unacceptable 
impact on highway safety (contrary to Core Strategy policy MT1 and Breinton NDP 
policies B10 and B13); unacceptable impact on climate change (contrary to Core 
Strategy policy SS7); unacceptable changes to and impact on existing agricultural 
buildings (contrary to core strategy RA5); and unacceptable nature of reuse of empty 
buildings (contrary to Breinton NDP policy B4): was proposed by Councillor Toni Fagan 
and seconded by Councillor Stef Simmons. The motion was put to the vote carried by a 
simple majority.  
 
A motion was proposed that application 204243 was refused for the following reason: in 
the absence of the associated planning permission, the demolition of the two buildings 
and conversion of timber frame building to enable a farm shop/cafe and office units on 
the site are considered to be unjustified and therefore contrary to core strategy policy 
LD4 and guidance contained within the national planning policy framework; was 
proposed by Councillor Toni Fagan and seconded by Councillor Stef Simmons. The 
motion was put to the vote and carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED – that: 
 
Application 204242 is refused due to the: unacceptable scale and nature of the 
building in a rural setting (contrary to Core Strategy policy RA6); unacceptable 
impact on highway safety (contrary to Core Strategy policy MT1 and Breinton NDP 
policies B10 and B13); unacceptable impact on climate change (contrary to Core 
Strategy policy SS7); unacceptable changes to and impact on existing agricultural 
buildings (contrary to core strategy RA5); and unacceptable nature of reuse of 
empty buildings (contrary to Breinton NDP policy B4). 
 
 
Application 204243 is refused as in the absence of the associated planning 
permission, the demolition of the two buildings and conversion of timber frame 
building to enable a farm shop/cafe and office units on the site are considered to 

16



 

be unjustified and therefore contrary to core strategy policy LD4 and guidance 
contained within the national planning policy framework. 
 

The meeting ended at 12.38 pm Chairperson 

17



18



Schedule of Committee Updates 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date: 26 July 2023 
 
Schedule of Committee Updates/Additional Representations 
 

 
Note: The following schedule represents a summary of the 
additional representations received following the publication of the 
agenda and received up to midday on the day before the Committee 
meeting where they raise new and relevant material planning 
considerations. 

 
 

 
 
 

7

MINUTE ITEM 11

19



Schedule of Committee Updates 

SCHEDULE OF COMMITTEE UPDATES 
 

 

 

 

 

ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Neil Hansen: Spatial Planner National Highways: received 24th July 2023 
 
In order for National Highways to fully consider the potential implications of the proposed 
works including works not within the established local highway operational land; can you 
please change your recommendation that the application is recommended for approval 
subject to final consultation and acceptance with National Highway’s. 
 
Some members have also received a further update from the Residents Action Group  (St 
Marys Garden Village). This does not raise any new issues but is attached in full as an 
appendix to this update.  
 
OFFICER COMMENTS 
 
This is a procedural matter, as part of the Local Highway authority recommendation (no 
objection), a planning condition was suggested which identified the need for highway works. 
However, these proposed works (via Section 278 works) are not all within the Local Highway 
Authority land and as such consultation and acceptance with National Highways is required 
to ensure that they have not been prejudiced in anyway. 

 

CHANGE TO RECOMMENDATION 
(change identified in italics below)  

 
Subject to consultation with National Highways and receipt of no objection, and any 
other consultations as deemed necessary and no other material considerations being 
raised that Planning Permission be granted subject to conditions (as listed in main report) 
and any other further conditions considered necessary by officers named in the scheme of 
delegation.  
 

 

 

 

Appendix to update sheet - Application 222314 – St Mary’s Garden Village Action Group 
representation – 18 July 2023. 
 
 

 

 

 222314 - ERECTION OF A FREESTANDING RESTAURANT 
WITH DRIVE-THRU FACILITY, CAR PARKING, LANDSCAPING 
AND ASSOCIATED WORKS, INCLUDING CUSTOMER ORDER 
DISPLAYS (COD), GOAL POST HEIGHT RESTRICTOR, PLAY 
FRAME AND PUMPING STATION.  
 
For: McDonald's Restaurants Ltd per Mr Benjamin Fox, St 
Andrews Castle, 33 St Andrews Street South, Bury St 
Edmunds, IP33 3PH 

 

820



921



1022



1123



1224



1325



1426



1527



1628



1729



1830



1931



2032



2133



2234



2335



2436



2537



2638



2739



2840



2941



3042



3143



3244



3345



3446



3547



3648



3749



3850



3951



4052



4153



4254



4355



4456



4557



4658



4759



4860



4961



5062



5163



5264



5365



5466



5567



5668



5769



5870



5971



6072



6173



6274



6375



6476



6577



6678



Schedule of Committee Updates 

 

 

 
ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Cllr Toynbee (Neighbouring Ward Cllr) 
Thank you for receiving my statement as councillor for the adjoining ward to Credenhill 
Ward. I am pleased that this application is coming to Committee, and thank committee 
members for taking note of the numerous and well-informed representations from a wide 
variety of people and organisations. I have had many communications, over three years, 
about this application; I understand the concerns raised, and am surprised that the 
recommendation coming to committee is for approval.  
 
Warham Court Farm is a few hundred metres outside my ward, Greyfriars, and very much 
part of our local community. The countryside between the city and Breinton is a green lung 
for hundreds of residents of West Hereford, and they deeply value its greenery, peace, 
wildlife, rural heritage and opportunity for exercise. The ancient lanes, lined by wonderful 
hedges, are enjoyed by dog walkers, runners, families and cyclists, not to mention tourists, 
including those who walk the Wye Valley walk and the paths that link it to historic Warham 
and Breinton (see Policy E4 – Tourism, Core Strategy p137).  
 
The lanes around Warham are narrow and winding, with poor drainage, very few passing 
places and poor visibility. A few hundred metres to the South of the site of this application is 
the River Wye, Site of Special Scientific Interest and Special Area of Conservation, the 
ecological sensitivity of which we are all more aware of than ever. A few hundred metres to 
the East is Broomy Hill Conservation Area, designated for its special architectural, historical 
and natural interest.  
 
The area between Hereford and Breinton has a particular local distinctiveness, that should 
be preserved and enhanced (see policy SS6, Core Strategy p42) 
 
Paragraph 6.20 of this report is particularly surprising: “It is acknowledged that there may be 
some increased car journeys to access the shop/café and businesses however, this would 
be somewhat offset by the number of journeys made by local people to access shops and 
employment in Hereford as there is no current facilities within the locality”. A brand new 
business and café, with a large car park, would necessitate a lot more than “some increased 
car journeys” to be financially viable, and the offsetting argument does not reflect reality.  
 
To the West of the site are tiny lanes – indeed this proposal is served exclusively by 
extremely narrow lanes. There are no pedestrian walkways, and the verges and culverts are 
already damaged by vehicles manoeuvring or trying to pass each other. Surprisingly, the 
speed limit is 60mph, and there are no length or weight restrictions on vehicles. 
I enclose a couple of photos shared with me from just this week, which show that in places 
the single track lanes around the site of this application are barely one vehicle wide.  
 

 204242 & 204243 - DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BARNS WITHIN 
THE GROUNDS OF A LISTED BUILDING. PROPOSED NEW 
FARM SHOP AND CAFE AND OFFICE ACCOMMODATION 
BUILDINGS WITH ASSOCIATED CAR PARKING AREA AT 
WARHAM COURT FARM, BREINTON, HEREFORD, HR4 7PF 
 
For: Mrs McMinn per Mr Nick Carroll, 42 Broad Street, 
Worcester, WR1 3LR 

 

67

MINUTE ITEM 12

79



Schedule of Committee Updates 

For vehicles moving from this site towards Hereford, the right turn from the end of Broomy 
Hill onto Barton Road is notoriously dangerous, and an increase in traffic would pose a 
certain risk. 
 
As far as social and community facilities are concerned, (see policy SC1, Core Strategy 
p128), this industrial development would have a detrimental effect on a unique area that 
fulfils Herefordshire Council’s policy of maximising opportunities for city residents to access 
the countryside without the need for a car. Evidence of any benefits to the local community 
of this application being approved is very weak.  
 
Knowing the area extremely well, having read all the documents, and heard from experts 
and residents, my view is that approving this application would have a negative impact on 
the people, traffic flow, quality of life, heritage and environment of the neighbourhood, and 
would not be in keeping with the sort of development we want to encourage in Herefordshire.  
 

 

 
 
 

6880



Schedule of Committee Updates 

Julie Milsom – Director of Herefordshire Community Farm 
 
I am contacting you in my capacity as Director at Hereford Community Farm which is 
referenced in the above application. Having read the Officer Report which is listed on the 
Herefordshire Council Planning website I wish to bring to your attention areas of concern 
and inaccuracies that are pertinent to the application and ask that the committee be made 
aware of these points as a matter of urgency and integrity to the decision making process. 
 
With regret I am unable to attend the Planning Committee Meeting in person to raise these 
points as I already have a commitment at the Hereford Community Partnership Meeting 
where a film about the work of the Community Farm made in conjunction with Herefordshire 
Healthwatch is being previewed. 
 
Hereford Community Farm is an established community asset and as such falls within the 
Core Strategy policy SC1 which states that; 
 
'Existing facilities will be retained, unless it can be demonstrated that an appropriate 
alternative facility is available, or can be provided to meet the needs of the community 
affected, or it can be shown that the facility is no longer required, viable or is no longer fit for 
purpose: and where appropriate it has been vacant and marketed for community use without 
success. Viable alternative facilities must be equivalent to those they replace, in terms of 
size, quality and accessibility.' 
 
Please note: 
 
It is stated in the report section 5.2 in response to the public consultation that 'Hereford 
Community Farm states that they feel reassured that they can continue on the 5 acre site 
and support the diversification scheme' 
 
To clarify At no point has any representative of Hereford Community Farm been 
directly in communication with the Case Officer or other members of the planning 
team with regard to this application or supplied the above statement.  
The position of HCF regarding this application is already stated in a comment dated 
03/02/2021 which remains unchanged neither supporting or objecting to the application. 
 
The proposal as it stands will result in a 40% reduction in footprint of the Hereford 
Community Farm site currently leased from the landlord and the loss of all critical 
infrastructure - the portable classroom facilities - kitchen, office, accessible toilets, and 
heated workrooms essential to ensure an inclusive environment for our clients. In addition 
the 'tin barn' parallel to the lane which is to be demolished for the new building is still in 
active use as the woodwork workshop. The loss of the orchard area to the east which also 
comprises a cabin and covered area used for our schools session (installed by HCF) would 
affect the viability of schools and SEND provision. 
The 5 acre field referenced has been leased by HCF since 2013 when it was formerly a 
grazing paddock and all existing enhancements - greenhouse, vegetable growing areas, 
garden, portable buildings, pathways and fixtures have been installed by HCF. 
 
However it is to be noted that this field was identified as being within the chosen 
route for the Western Relief Road (Hereford Bypass) which if built would render the 
site unuseable for HCF use.  
Consequently it is now impossible for HCF to have any guaranteed security of tenure on this 
part of the site even with the support and agreement of the landlord and this inhibits the 
organisations ability to raise grants or social funding for capital works or developmental 
works on this 5 acre field. 
 
The potential building identified as an alternative premises for HCF to the west is a 
redundant former dairy that was identified in the previous application as unfit for use and to 
be demolished - it is currently used as storage space. 

6981



Schedule of Committee Updates 

To provide clarity and give context we therefore extend an invitation to the Planning 
Committee to visit the Hereford Community Farm site and view the premises during 
their site visit on 26/07 in advance of their meeting. 
 
With reference to points 6.11 & 6.12 it is misleading and inaccurate to state that the proposal 
as it stands for maintaining HCF on the site would 'provide an enhancement and continuity 
to the existing facilities for the Community Farm and overcome the concerns raised in regard 
to the loss of the Community facility.' 
 
There are no detailed plans for the relocation of Hereford Community Farm on this site 
ahead of the new development commencing and without specific conditions there is no 
guarantee that the Hereford Community Farm will be protected or able to continue at 
Warham Court so an alternative has to be sought to ensure that this Community Asset is not 
lost. 
 
In conclusion Hereford Community Farm is appreciative of the opportunities that have been 
provided by the landlord and recognises that the farm diversification proposal that has been 
put forward reflects the landowners right to develop the commercial viability of the site. 
However the absolute priority for Hereford Community Farm is to safeguard delivery of 
service provision for the people that need it, to safeguard the jobs of a skilled and dedicated 
team and to 'future proof' the organisation as a community asset. 
 
Three further letters of objection have been received and are detailed as below: 
 
Representation 1 
 
Have the people who run the Community Farm been consulted via the planning authority or 
others about the impact that this planning application would have on the Community Farm 
and do you have a detailed record of their response which will be discussed at the meeting? 
 
What measures are put in place to ensure that the Community Farm service is not 
disrupted? 
 
The Community Farm, based at Warham Court Farm, provides vital social care placements 
for children, young people and adults living with disability, long term health conditions and 
mental health issues. Crucially, the Community Farm fills the gap left by closure of other 
services due to funding cuts, and is provided at no operational cost to the local 
authority. The facility provides a lifeline to disadvantaged people in and around Hereford.   
 
Representation 2  
This site already has an existing approval for a café and shop on a much more suitable scale 
for the location (Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (herefordshire.gov.uk).  
If it has not been viable to build in accordance with this planning approval, why would an 
much bigger application with a car park the size of Aldi, be more economically viable? 
 
The Planning Officer report is inaccurate and misleading on many occasions. 

1. The site is not within a “settlement” but open countryside which is very rural despite 

its close location to the city of Hereford.  

2. The officer omits to mention that there is already a farm shop in the parish, Breinton 

Manor, which does grow and sell its own produce. This is in addition to Wyevale 

Garden centre which provides a range of retail goods and a large café/restaurant. 

How does the development of another shop and café support local food and drink 

production by setting up in competition with these existing operations? How does this 

development support the vitality of the retail shops and office space in Hereford, 

which is a much more sustainable location for offices and retail and located just 

1/2mile from the site?  

3. Para 6.20 in the officers report is factually incorrect, spurious and misleading. “ It is 

acknowledged that there may be some increased car journeys to access the 

7082

https://myaccount.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents?id=c48681a7-07e1-11e7-ad1b-0050569f00ad


Schedule of Committee Updates 

shop/cafe and businesses however, this would be somewhat offset by the number of 

journeys made by local people to access shops and employment in Hereford as there 

is no current facilities within the locality.” The proposed ventures if successful will 

undoubtedly result in a significant increase in car journeys. The residents of working 

age often work locally or from home, residents will continue shopping at 

supermarkets, etc. so many of these offset journeys do not exist. As the objectors 

have highlighted there are already shops, including a farm shop selling their own 

local produce, within Breinton Parish. 

4. The current farm operation is an intensive livestock unit and does not even grow its 

own feed for these operations, despite what they said they would do in their original 

barn development. Currently, the farm only produces beef and the feed is trucked in 

regularly from Northamptonshire on articulated lorries through Hereford City and 

residential areas of Breinton/Barton Road. How does the proposal support local food 

and drink production? 

5. The plans for the relocation of the Community Farm to the west of the site do not 

make clear how the repurposed farm buildings will provide the same or improved 

facilities for the Community Farm or how they can continue to use the historic apple 

orchard to the east of the new car park. The new location of the Community Farm 

surrounded by the access for delivery and waste vehicles poses a risk to the users of 

this facility as well as impacting clients through increased vehicle noise and 

pollution.. As such the development actually risks the loss of established jobs and 

opportunities offered by the Community Farm, listed as a Community Asset. 

The application should be refused as it is contrary to the following Core Strategy Policies: - 

 Policy RA5  Reuse of Rural Buildings makes it clear that development will only be 

permitted where “The building is capable of accommodating the proposed new use 

without the need for substantial alteration or extension, ancillary buildings, areas of 

hard standing or development which individually or taken together would adversely 

affect the character or appearance of the building or have a detrimental impact on its 

surroundings and landscape setting. As the officers report Para 4.9 overview 

describes it “The Applicant proposes the demolition of existing barns within the 

grounds of a Listed Building and the construction of a new farm shop and cafe and 

office accommodation buildings” this application is therefore contrary in every way to 

this policy and cannot be considered compliant. 

 Policy RA6 (Rural Economy) which permits applications where they: “ensure that the 

development is of a scale which would be commensurate with its location and 

setting”; “do not cause unacceptable adverse impacts to the amenity of nearby 

residents”; “do not generate traffic movements that cannot safely be accommodated 

within the local road network, ”. The vehicle movements CANNOT BE 

INCORPORATED INTO THE LOCAL ROAD NETWORK as the officer is 

recommending the REMOVAL OF ANCIENT HEDGEROWS AND THE CREATION 

OF 3 PASSING BAYS ON ONE ACCESS ROAD ( via Broomy Hill ) to accommodate 

the additional vehicle movements this development will generate. The officer makes 

no comment about the lorries, vans and cars accessing the site from other roads 

across the parish and their impact on other road users and residents and other 

farmers, needing access to their crops and livestock. 

 Policy SC1 which states “Existing facilities will be retained, unless it can be 

demonstrated that an appropriate alternative facility is available, or can be provided 

to meet the needs of the community affected; or it can be shown that the facility is no 

longer required, viable or is no longer fit for purpose; and where appropriate, it has 

been vacant and marketed for community use without success. Viable alternative 

facilities must be equivalent to those they replace, in terms of size, quality and 

accessibility.” Where are the new toilets, classrooms and changing facilities for the 

Community Farm and its vulnerable users in the plans? With no detailed plans and 

clear delivery for the relocation of the Community Farm ahead of the new 

development commencing, this application is contrary to Core Strategy policy SC1.  

7183



Schedule of Committee Updates 

 Policies SD3 or SD4. This farm site had an Environment Agency investigation in 

2021 as untreated, dirty farm water was contaminating land and running directly into 

water courses, flowing into the adjoining River Wye SAC. Despite being asked to do 

so, the Planning Office has not consulted with the Environment Agency on this 

development, despite the proximity of the discharges to the River Wye SAC and local 

water courses. The application does not accord with NDP policy RA6 which states 

the rural developments “do not undermine the achievement of water quality targets in 

accordance with Policies SD3 and SD4”. The drainage proposals are insufficient and 

therefore are not able to show compliance with Core Strategy Policies. 

This application also fails to comply with the following Breinton Neighbourhood Development 
Plan  policies: 

 Breinton NDP Policy B4 which does not support the re-use of buildings for office 

space. The officers recommendation for office use is contrary to this Neighbourhood 

Plan Policy. 

 Breinton NDP Policy B13 provides for “the re-use or conversion of existing buildings 

for outdoor recreation and tourism related uses appropriate to the tranquil and 

unpolluted open countryside”. 

 

To properly protect the Community Farm the officer should be recommending that the 
Condition should be amended to make it clear that should the application be approved so 
that it reads something like : - 
“The application CANNOT proceed, until the Community Farm has been successfully 
relocated in equivalent or improved facilities as they currently application outlines. 
Processes need to be agreed with the planning authority to minimise the noise and danger 
to staff and users of the Community Farm from delivery and waste vehicles manoeuvring 
close to the relocation area.  Safe access to the historic apple orchard across the site which 
plays an important part of the therapy provided by the Community Farm should be protected 
for use by the staff and beneficiaries of the therapeutic support.  
 
The heavy, articulated feed and livestock lorries are coming & going on a regular basis to 
Warham Court Farm are causing the following damage to:- 
1.the Longmeadow junction due to the weight and load of articulated lorries turning tightly on 
this junction. 
2. the lanes from Brecon Road to Warham Court Farm (C1189 and U73022), including 
Magpie Lane (U73023) - which are crumbling away and narrowing as the vehicles wheels 
are wider than the road widths in places. 
3.collapsing the culverts under the roads causing flooding and erosion of the road surfaces 
(see the long term problems of the culvert outside Warham Farm Cottages, and the pitted 
and patched dangerous road surface just below where the water accumulates). 
4. damaging residents water mains supplies that sit inside the lanes and driveways; 
5. eroding the banks of some of the roadside fields and verges.  
6. damaging hedges and trees. 
7. intimidating other road users eg. car drivers, walkers, cyclists, etc. 
This is why weight & length restrictions on the roads are urgently needed and have been 
requested by the Parish Council and residents outside of this planning application. 
 
Under the latest planning application for Warham Court Farm, Herefordshire Highways say it 
is fine for there to be increased traffic on the lanes & the Broomy Hill road has sufficient 
width for delivery, building and waste vehicles and there is no issue with the 60mph speed 
limit. 
The driver of the Northamptonshire feed lorry that forced 6 residents to have to find an 
alternative route into Hereford on Monday due to blocking the Warham road (C1189), says 
he has been told by Warham Court Farm (Kevin Hammett) to deliver along the C1189 and 
not the Broomy Hill Road. Is this what the farm will be telling all the other delivery and 
building lorries to the new development? If so, why are Highways only requiring passing 

7284



Schedule of Committee Updates 

bays for the Broomy Hill Road, and not the C1189 and other lanes in the parish, if the 
deliveries can take any route they like to the farm? 
 
I do not believe that this application should be given approval. However, as a smaller farm 
shop and café as part of the location of the Community farm was previously been given 
approval may I suggest that if planning are approval of the development at Warham Court 
Farm is to be recommended that Councillors at the planning meeting need to add and 
approve the following conditions to any consent: 
1. Condition that Broomy Hill Road is the vehicle access route to Warham Court Farm for all 
vans and lorries accessing the farm business units, shop and café and for the development 
vehicles. 
2. A condition restricting the length and width of vehicles going to and from Warham Court 
Farm is applied to all routes in Breinton, including the C1189,U73022, U73023, Broomy Hill 
and Brecon Road and limiting vehicle speeds to 40mph, the same as outside Wyevale 
Garden Centre. 
3. the hours of delivery vehicles to Warham Court Farm should be restricted from 9.00am to 
5pm weekdays. With Warham Court Farm looking to sell their own food and drink, deliveries 
should not be required at the weekend. This would protect the quiet lanes for the access and 
amenity of local parish and city residents for walking, cycling, running, horse riding, etc. 
particularly out of school/office hours, when most people utilise the quiet rural lanes for 
leisure and amenity. (The adjoining wards of Greyfriars, Whitecross, Kings Acre, etc have 
the lowest proportion of open space for residents than any other part of the City. Breinton is 
an important leisure area for these residents, accessible by sustainable modes of transport). 
4. If planning cannot condition a particular route for vehicles in and out of the Warham Court 
Farm site, then the condition for parking bays needs to be expanded so that the developer 
needs to provide more passing bays around the Parish to prevent delivery and farm vehicles 
restricting the movement of other road users and residents around the parish.  
 
5. There needs to be a section 106 request for the culverts along the length of the C1189 
(Breinton Lane to Hereford) and the Broomy Hill road, to be upgraded so that they can take 
the weight of the vehicles during the demolition and development and the delivery and waste 
lorries, and to make good the junctions at Long meadow and upgrade the road surfaces 
between Longmeadow and the Warham House turning, caused by damage of culverts and 
failure of the farm ditches to prevent field run off eroding the road surfaces. 
 
6. The farm owner needs to maintain the ditches and drainage around Warham to prevent 
field run-off and localised flooding and to accommodate the additional waste water 
generated by this development, which according to the drainage plans are to be discharged 
into the local water courses. 
 
7. Breinton Parish only has one bus a week, and is often over capacity and does not 
currently go past Warham Court Farm. To help minimise the number of vehicle movements 
generated by the site, there should be further S106 request or condition, that the 
development funds another regular, local bus service between Hereford and around Breinton 
Parish, to link the site by local public transport and enable all residents, regardless of 
whether they are able or own a car, to access the jobs offered by this development. This 
would accord with sustainable development and enable local residents and other users to 
access the site by means other than private car. 
 
It seems very odd that when the City has so many empty shops, offices and other business 
units, that the officer would recommend development of more retail and café away from 
Hereford, especially when it will rely on so many car journeys from Hereford residents. 
Breinton is not an area of high unemployment or deprivation requiring diversification. 
Breinton is not marked as an area for employment or commercial development in the Core 
Strategy. 
 

7385



Schedule of Committee Updates 

This is a car reliant development in open countryside accessible only by narrow, single track 
roads and no consideration has been given to other travellers, such as walking, running, 
cycling, horse-riding. 
 

 

OFFICER COMMENTS 
 

The objectors further comments are acknowledged though do not raise any new material 
considerations that are not covered within the Committee Report.  
 
Whilst recognising the views expressed, the scheme has been subject of consultation with 
all relevant technical consultees and is considered to be in accordance with planning policy 
in that it supports farm diversification and conversion of rural buildings.   
 
The Transport Statement provided has stated that the majority of traffic will come from the 
east along Breinton Road and therefore requiring the passing bays to the east.  Condition 8 
states that development cannot begin prior to the details of the passing bays being agreed. 
 
Additional conditions are suggested below that seek to control the use of the farm shop and 
café (Office use already has a suggested condition).  
 

To protect the future of the Hereford Community Farm, condition 9 requires full details of the 
relocation and siting of the Hereford Community Farm use and any associated structures to 
be submitted to and approved prior to first use of the proposal. 
 
 
A HRA has been undertaken with regard to the proposed development and concluded that 
there would be no adverse effects on the integrity of the identified River Wye Special Area of 
Conservation subject to appropriate mitigation being secured, condition are included in the 
report.  Natural England has reviewed the HRA and has no objections.   
 
A separate discharge licence may need to be obtained from Environment Agency. Any 
separate regulatory licence requirement is outside of planning controls and any HRA 
associated with this planning application. 
 

CHANGE TO RECOMMENDATION 
 
ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS SUGGESTED:  
 

 The area identified as café in building 5/6 on plan number 2011/P/04E shall be used 
for Class E (b) and for no other purpose (including any other purpose in Class E of 
the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, or in any 
provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification. 

 
Reason: The local planning authority wish to control the specific use of the 
land/premises, in the interest of local amenity and to comply with Policies MT1 and 
SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

 The premises within unit 5/6 identified as the farm shop on plan number 2011/P/04E 
shall be exclusively for the sale of goods and produce supplied eithers as the owners 
own produce or from neighbouring farms or the local areas, defined as being within 
5miles radius of the approved farm shop.  
 
Reason: The local planning authority wish to control the specific use of the 
land/premises, to support local produce and growers and to preclude the 
establishment of an unrestricted out of town retail unit and in the interest of local 

7486



Schedule of Committee Updates 

amenity and to comply with Policies MT1, E5 and SD1, of the Herefordshire Local 
Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy B4 of 
Breinton Neighbourhood Development Plan. 

 

7587



88



 

 

 

 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Ollie Jones on 01432 260504 

PF2 
 

 

MEETING: PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 16 AUGUST 2023 

TITLE OF 
REPORT: 

181494 - PENDING SECTION 106 AGREEMENT PROPOSED 
LAND FOR RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT AND ASSOCIATED 
WORK TOGETHER WITH PUBLIC OPEN SPACE AND LOCAL 
GREEN SPACE.   AT LAND ADJACENT TO SPRING COTTAGE, 
HEADBROOK, KINGTON, HR5 3DY 
 
For: Mr & Mrs Turner per Mr Peter Draper, Yew Tree Cottage, 
Byford, Hereford, Herefordshire HR4 7LB 
 

WEBSITE 
LINK: 

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/det
ails?id=181494 
 

 

Reason Application submitted to Committee – Re-direction  

 
Date Received: 23 April 2018 Ward: Kington  

 
Grid Ref: 330174,256478 

Expiry Date: 30 July 2018 
Local Member: Cllr Terry James (Kington)  
 
 
1. Background / Reason for application being returned to Committee 
1.1 The application was considered by the Planning and Regulatory Committee (‘the Committee) on 

18 December 2018. The Committee resolution was that planning permission be granted on the 
grounds that the application was supported by policies SS1, SS2 OS2 and MT1, with approval 
to be subject to a Section 106 agreement to be prepared by officers after consultation with the 
Chairman and local ward member, and officers named in the scheme of delegation to officers 
be authorised to detail the conditions and reasons put forward for approval. The minutes of the 
Committee meeting are available at Appendix 1. A link to an audio recording of the meeting is 
available through the agenda webpage below: 

 
 Agenda for Planning and Regulatory Committee on Tuesday 18 December 2018, 10.00 am     

 
1.2 Following the Committee’s resolution and prior to the completion of the required Section 106 

agreement, Natural England advised Herefordshire Council that it could no longer rely upon the 
Nutrient Management Plan to offset the phosphate generated by development. The associated 
restrictions imposed follow a judgement in the Court of Justice of the European Union on the 
application of the Habitats Regulations. Known as the ‘Dutch Case’, the judgement essentially 
directed that in in situations where a designated site is already failing it conservation objectives, 
planning permission can only be granted for new development where it can be shown that this 
would have a neutral impact (or represent betterment) commonly now referred to as ‘nutrient 
neutrality’ upon the integrity of the designated site. Those requirements have been transferred 
into law in the United Kingdom following its exit from the European Union.  
 

89

AGENDA ITEM 6

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=181494
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=181494
https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=264&MId=6989&Ver=4


 

 

1.3 The application site is located within the hydrological the catchment of the River Lugg, which is 
a tributary of the River Wye Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and forms part of the 
designated site. It is currently failing its conservation targets on phosphate levels. Following 
advice issued by Natural England (as the relevant statutory body) in July 2019 as above 
referred to, Herefordshire Council as the Local Planning Authority (LPA) has been unable to 
approve new developments within the Lugg catchment unless it can be demonstrated with 
certainty that it would be nutrient neutral with respect to water quality and the integrity of the 
designated site. This has become known as the need to demonstrate ‘nutrient neutrality’. 
 

1.4 The proposal is for residential development and would therefore generate foul water that is 
proposed to be managed through a connection to the mains sewer network serving Kington. 
The additional phosphate load generated has the potential to impact upon the River Wye SAC 
through the discharge of treated sewerage into the catchment. As such, there is requirement for 
the LPA to complete an ‘Appropriate Assessment’ before permission can be granted. A positive 
assessment in this regard was not possible following the application being considered by 
Planning Committee in 2018 – given the length of time taken to progress the Section 106 
agreement; there were no methods available at the time to mitigate for the effects of the 
development and hence it could not be concluded that the proposal would have a neutral effect 
on the integrity of the River Lugg SAC. As a result, the application was placed ‘on hold’ pending 
a solution coming to fruition that would allow for a positive HRA to be completed. 
 

1.5 In the interim, Herefordshire Council has been developing a project to deliver a series of 
integrated wetlands to provide secondary treatment to discharge of mains wastewater treatment 
works. The first site in Luston has been granted planning permission with construction 
completed. The delivery of the wetlands will reduce the amount of phosphate entering the 
catchment, allowing Herefordshire Council to offer a Phosphate Credits scheme to mitigate for 
the effects of proposed development (achieve nutrient neutrality) whilst still delivering net 
betterment to water quality in the Lugg catchment. Herefordshire Council’s Cabinet took the 
decision to authorise the commencement of credit trading in July 2022: 
 
https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=8974 
 

1.6 The application in this case now seeks to purchase phosphate credits to mitigate for the effects 
of the development on the SAC and is eligible for such an allocation. This is discussed within 
the relevant section in the main body of the report which follows. 
 

1.7 Notwithstanding the Committee resolution, the application is returned to this Committee given 
that since December 2018, there have been demonstrable changes to the planning policy 
context. These are material and therefore must be considered by this Committee. To explain, 
the application was previously considered in the context of the Council not being able to 
demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply – the position of April 2018 being 4.55 years. The 
implication of this was prescribed by the 2018 version of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) which specifically set out at Paragraph 11d the following;  
 

d)  where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless: 

 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or  
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for  refusing the 
development proposed; or 
 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

 

90

https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=8974


 

 

1.8 As per the minutes of the Committee meeting on 18 December 2018 as shown in Appendix 1 
and the recording of the meeting, officers consider it clear that in reaching the resolution to 
grant planning permission, the above ‘tilted-balance’ was engaged, meaning that the adverse 
impacts were identified but it was considered that they did not significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits of the development. 
 

1.9 However, the currently supply position is that Herefordshire Council are able to demonstrate in 
excess of a 5 year housing land supply. When having regard to most up to date version of the 
NPPF (2021) – the same test as above-mentioned applied. However, because of the change in 
supply position, it can no longer be engaged. Rather, it is Paragraph 11 which is instead 
engaged. This states the following;  
 

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay. 

 
1.10 Therefore, in simple terms – any adverse impacts that were identified by the Committee must 

no longer significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. Instead, development proposals 
should accord with an up-to-date plan. This represents a significant change to the planning 
policy context and is material to the consideration of this application. Therefore, while the 
previous resolution reached by the Committee is acknowledged, this can only be attributed very 
limited weight in the context of the aforementioned significant changes to the planning policy 
context. 
 

1.11 With the above in mind, the application has been reappraised as per the report set out below. 
The original Officer Report can be found in Appendix 2. 

 
2. Site Description 
2.1 The site is situated on the north side of Headbrook, east of Kington’s town centre and west of 

the A44 by-pass. It is currently in agricultural use but is adjacent to existing residential areas 
along Headbrook, Old Eardisley Road and Bridge Street. The site amounts to 3.83 hectares and 
is irregularly shaped, essentially level and bound to the north by the River Arrow and to the 
south by the dwellings that front onto Headbrook which are arranged in a linear fashion along 
Headbrook are all set in narrow plots with little in the way of residential curtilage to the rear.  
Views into and across the site are afforded from its edges and there are defined visual 
boundaries created by the existing development and the mature trees and hedgerows within 
and along the boundaries, especially to the north and east.   

 
2.2 There is an existing field accesses to the site; a narrow field gate between 45 and 47 

Headbrook.  This is considered to be inadequate to serve the proposed housing development 
and consequently the application site includes land immediately to the west of 45 Headbrook. 
There are no definitive Public Rights of Way into or across the site, but north of the site and 
river and within 300 to 400 metres are several local public footpaths and stretches of Offa’s 
Dyke Path and the Herefordshire Trail, both National and Local Long Distance Paths. The 
application submission highlights opportunity for new footpath and cycle routes to be created 
and linked into existing routes, and includes the possibility of a new footbridge across the River 
Arrow in the north-west corner of the land. At its closest the site is approximately within 300 
metres of the town centre, which includes a post office, the bulk of shops, services and public 
transport facilities. The site is all within easy walking and cycling distance of the town centre and 
its full range of services. 

 
3. Proposal  
3.1 This application is made in outline and seeks planning permission for residential development, 

associated works and the provision of public open-space and green space, with other matters 
reserved for future consideration. The proposal is for 35 dwellings although the submitted plans 
are illustrative only (see Figure 1), showing 33 dwellings and demonstrates how residential 
development on the site could come forward. The scheme would provide 35% affordable 

91



 

 

provision. It has been illustrated how access to the site could be taken off Headbrook between 
Numbers 43 and 45.  

 
 
 
 

 
 

Figure 1 – Indicative Proposed Site Plan 
 
 
4. Policies  
 
4.1 Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy   
 

SS1   Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
SS2   Delivery new homes 
SS3   Ensuring sufficient housing land delivery 
SS4   Movement and transportation 
SS6   Environmental quality and local distinctiveness 
KG1   Development in Kington 
RA1   Rural housing distribution 
H1   Affordable housing – thresholds and targets 
H3   Ensuring an appropriate range and mix of housing 
OS1   Requirement for open space, sport and recreation facilities 
OS2   Meeting open space, sport and recreation Needs 
MT1   Traffic management, highway safety and promoting active travel 
LD1   Landscape and townscape 
LD2   Bodiversity and geodiversity 
LD3   Green infrastructure 
LD4   Historic environment and heritage assets 
SD1   Sustainable design and energy efficiency 
SD3   Sustainable water manangement and water resources 

92



 

 

SD4   Waste water treatement and river quality 
ID1   Infrastructure delivery 

 
4.2 Kington Area Neighbourhood Development Plan 
 
 The referendum for voters within the Kington, Kington Rural and Lower Harpton Group and 

Huntington parish areas was held on 25 July 2019. Because the number of votes cast in favour 
of a ‘yes’ vote did not constitute more than half of those voting, the Kington Area 
Neighbourhood Development Plan was not made. It therefore carries no material weight for the 
purposes of decision-taking. 

 
4.3 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

Chapter 2  Achieving sustainable development 
Chapter 4  Decision-making 
Chapter 5  Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
Chapter 6 Buildding a strong, competitve economny  
Chapter 9  Promoting sustainable transport 
Chapter 11  Making effective use of land 
Chapter 12  Achieving well-designed places 
Chapter 14  Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Chapter 15  Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Chapter 16  Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 
5. Planning History 
5.1 None. 
 
6. Consultations 

Following receipt of additional supporting documents (Phosphate Calculations, updated Ecology 
Assessment), additional consultations were undertaken locallay and with the Town Council, as 
well as with technical consultees where relevant to the submitted information. The original and 
updated responses are detailed below.  

 
6.1 HC Built and Natural Environment Team (Building Conservation) – object  
6.1.1 12/10/18 –  

 
Recommendations: 
The corridor of the River Arrow makes a strong contribution to the setting of the Conservation 
Area and the housing proposed to the North of the site would cause less than substantial harm 
to this setting. Policy 196 of the NPPF would apply. 
 
Background to Recommendations: 
The site is situated to the South of the Kington Conservation Area. A Conservation Area 
Appraisal exists from 2007, although this doesn’t look at the site or the River Arrow Corridor in 
detail. 
 
Whilst there is not statutory protection in the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 for the setting of Conservation Areas, (as there would be for Listed Buildings 
for example), this is a material planning consideration. 
 
Comments: 
The River Arrow makes a strong visual and historic contribution to the significance of the 
Conservation Area. Historically this is a primary reason for the Town being in this location, the 
crossing point allowed for traders to meet and also the means for a Mill, tanneries and other 
industries to develop. In terms of the character of the Conservation Area there are key views 
from the Bridge to the South of the town, looking East and from the East towards the Town.  It is 
the view from the Conservation Area which would be most affected by the proposals, in 

93



 

 

particular the proposed housing towards the north of the site. The transition from Headbrook to 
the River Arrow Corridor is an important aspect of views from the Conservation Area. Those 
views from the south extremity of the town looking directly south should not be entirely 
discounted, although it is noted that this is an area of more modern housing and not within the 
Conservation Area.  

 
6.2 HC Built and Natural Environment Team (Landscape) - object 
6.2.1 9/7/18 –  
 Policy context 
 

National Planning Policy Framework 
 
 11. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 

Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2011 – 2031 (October 2015) 
 
 SS6.  Environmental quality and local distinctiveness 
 SS7.  Addressing climate change 
 LD1. Landscape and Townscape 
 LD2. Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
 LD4. Historic environment and heritage assets  
 SD3. Sustainable water management and water resources 
  

Designations/Constraints 
 

• Draft – Kington Neighbourhood Development Plan – GS06 Land Beside River – 
designated as Green Space 

• Listed Buildings (Conservation Advisor to provide further information) Grade II, No 19 
Headbrook 

• Registered Park and Garden – Hergest Croft – no views envisaged 
• Agricultural Land Classification – Grade 3 Good to Moderate Agricultural soil 
• Settlement boundary – The proposal is within the settlement boundary 
• Conservation Area – Western boundary adjacent to a conservation area 
• Flood zones and Ground Water Sensitivity areas – (Drainage engineer to provide further 

information)  
• Pollution areas – The north western part of the site has a pollution area 
• Public view points : See Figure 6 of the Landscape Visual Impact Assessment for 

various views of the site 
  

Herefordshire Landscape Character Assessment  
 

Riverside Meadows – Main Characteristics are: ‘Pastoral land use, with well defined linear 
patterns of willow and alder trees. Tree cover represented by stream side and hedgerow trees’. 
Secondary characteristics are ‘Wetland habitat with river channels and hedge and ditch 
boundaries’. 

 
Landscape and Visual effects 
 
I have visited the site  
I have read the Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (September 2017) 
I have seen the Illustrative Site Plan, Job No A.174 13.01 P.04, No Revision 
I have seen the HK B7A. LVIA Appendix 1 – Revised layout Concept  
 
These are my landscape comments which reference to this application relating to the following 
above planning policy statements: 
 

94



 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework, Item 11, 109 states: ‘The planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing 
valued landscapes and soils’ 
 
The northern boundary of the proposal site lies parallel and adjacent to the River Arrow. The 
site provides an attractive historical visual amenity for the town with its association to the river. 
The western boundary of the site is adjacent to the town’s conservation area and the site when 
seen from nearby public rights of way view-points has a strong sense of place. On the northern 
boundary of the site the River Arrow is designated as a Special Wildlife Site corridor. On the 
southern boundary of the site there is a Grade II Listed building No 19 Headbrook. The 
agricultural land classification is that of a Grade 3 soil which is considered to be a good to 
moderate agricultural soil.  
                                                                                                                                                                
The Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2011 – 2031, Dated October 2015, following   
policies state: 
 
SS6. Environmental quality and local distinctiveness: ‘Development proposals should conserve 
and enhance those environmental assets that contribute towards the county’s distinctiveness, in 
particular its settlement pattern, landscape, biodiversity and heritage assets and especially 
those with specific environmental designations’. 

 
The River Arrow and its associated flood plain represent a distinct landscape character of 
Riverside Meadows and local distinctiveness for the town, providing both visual amenity, flood 
storage and biodiversity value. The proposed site lies in an area designated in the emerging 
Kingston Neighbourhood Development Plan as a Local Green Space. The loss of this Local 
Green Space would not contribute towards the county’s distinctiveness with reference to this 
historical, environmental and heritage asset. 
 
SS7. Addressing climate change: ‘Development proposals will be required to include measures 
which will mitigate their impact on climate change’. 
 
With future erratic weather predicted due to climate change, flooding adjacent to river corridors 
will occur more often. Further information on these development proposals adjacent to the flood 
plain should be obtained from our Drainage Risk team. 
 
LD1. Landscape and townscape: ‘Development proposals should’ 

 
• Demonstrate that character of the landscape and townscape has positively influenced 

the design, scale, nature and site selection, protection and enhancement of the setting 
of settlements and designated areas; 

• Conserve and enhance the natural, historic and scenic beauty of important landscapes 
and features, including Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, nationally and locally 
designated parks and gardens and conservation areas; through the protection of the 
area’s character and by enabling appropriate uses, design and management; 

• Incorporate new landscape schemes and their management to ensure development 
integrates appropriately into its surroundings; and 

• Maintain and extend tree cover where important to amenity, through the retention of 
important trees, appropriate replacement to trees lost through development and new 
planting to support green infrastructure. 

 
The River Arrow and its associated flood plain provide a natural, historic and scenic beauty for 
the town of Kington. This historical, environmental and aesthetically valued asset will not be 
protected by this proposed development, due to the loss of Riverside Meadow land which will 
deplete this existing valued Green Space asset. 
 
LD2. Biodiversity and Geodiversity: ‘Development proposals should conserve, restore and 
enhance the biodiversity and geodiversity assets of Herefordshire’. 

95



 

 

 
The River Arrow corridor is a Special Wildlife Site. Further information can be obtained from our 
Ecologist. 
 
LD4. Historic environment and heritage assets: ‘Development proposals should protect, 
conserve and where appropriate enhance heritage assets’ 
 
There is a listed building near to the south western site boundary, a Grade II No 19 Headbrook 
House.  Further information can be obtained from our Conservation officer. There will be a loss 
of Riverside Meadows which has an historic value for the residents of Kington and tourist to the 
town. 
 
SD3. Sustainable water management and water resources: ‘Measures for sustainable water 
management will be required to be an integral element of new development in order to reduce 
flood risk; to avoid and adverse impact on water quantity; to protect and enhance groundwater 
resources and to provide opportunities to enhance biodiversity, health and recreation’. 

 
The northern part of the site runs parallel to the River Arrow is in a Flood Zone 3. The northern 
central part of the site is within a Flood Zone 2. On the eastern boundary of the site a stream 
corridor which runs in a northerly direction towards the River Arrow experiences a 1: 30 year 
deep flood. Further information on these constraints should be sought from our Flood Risk 
Team. 
 
Recommendations 
 
I would object to this Outline application on the basis of the following points: 
 
The proposed development site lies in an area designated in the emerging Kington 
Neighbourhood Development Plan as a Local Green Space. Even though the NDP is not in an 
advanced stage, this green space should be protected as a valued community and 
environmental resource for the future. 
 
The proposed development would deplete the size of the existing Riverside Meadows adjacent 
to the River Arrow flood plain. This existing green space is an historic, aesthetic and 
communally valued open space. This depletion of existing environmental, historical and locally 
valued aesthetic would therefore not contribute or enhance the natural, historical and locally 
valued landscape. 
 
This proposal is adjacent to the River Arrow flood plain. With climate change there is the 
potential to exacerbate the present flood issues and water quality issues in this area with this 
proposed development.  

 
6.3 HC Built and Natural Environment Team Archaeology – no objection  
6.3.1 11/5/18 – no objection. 
 
 
6.4 HC Built and Natural Environment Team (Ecology) - comment 
6.4.1 6/2/23 – HRA completed and submitted to Natural England. See Appendix 3. 
 
6.4.2 11/1/23 - These comments only apply to Ecological matters that are outside the purview of 

required Habitat Regulations Assessment. 
 
 General Ecology Comments 
 The updated ecological assessment-report by Middlemarch dated November 2022 is noted and 

refers. 
 It appears that there has been little substantive change since original 2018 ecology comments. 

It is noted that as an outline application required detailed and specific information can be 

96



 

 

secured for final consideration as part of future Reserved matters/Discharge of Conditions. 
These comments remain valid for 18 months/two main optimal periods from the date of the 
supplied ecology report. If outline permission is not granted by October 2024 a further update 
ecological report should be produced, submitted and updated ecology comments made. 

 
 Subject to relevant mitigation there are no identified likely effects on local populations of 

protected species or general biodiversity interests. 
 
 As identified in supplied ecology report to ensure all relevant considerations are a 

comprehensive Construction Environmental Management that should include wider effects of 
construction as well as specific section on ecological/wildlife considerations and protections, 
with details of appointed responsible person and relevant ecological clerk of works. If 
submission of required CEMP is delayed for any reason the submitted CEMP should be based 
on an valid and updated ecological/proposed development assessment process. . A good guide 
to all aspects requiring consideration with a CEMP can be found at: 
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Construction_environmental_management_plan  

 
 Ecological Protection and Construction Environmental Management Plan 
 No longer than one year prior to any works commencing on site a detailed Construction 

Environmental Management Plan – including ecological working method statement based on 
the assessment and details of the person responsible for the implementation of the CEMP, shall 
be supplied to the LPA for written approval. The approved CEMP shall be implemented in full for 
the duration of all construction works at the site unless otherwise approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that all species are protected and habitats enhanced having regard to the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ (the ‘Habitats 
Regulations’), Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981,), National Planning Policy Framework (2021), 
NERC Act (2006) and Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy policies SS1, SS6, LD1, LD2 
and LD3 and the council’s declared Climate Change & Ecological Emergency. 

 
 As identified in current guidance and policies all developments should show how they will 

deliver a meaningful and lasting Biodiversity Net Gain. A detailed specification and location 
scheme for all permanent biodiversity net gain features is requested for approval through a 
relevant condition on any planning permission granted. 

 
 Nature Conservation – Biodiversity and Habitat Enhancement 
 Prior to any construction work above damp proof course a specification and annotated location 

plan for proposed biodiversity net gain enhancement features including significant and 
meaningful provision of ‘fixed’ habitat features including a range of bird nesting boxes, bat 
boxes (or similar roosting features), Hedgehog homes and hedgehog highways through all 
impermeable boundary features must be supplied to and approved in writing by the local 
authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented in full and hereafter maintained as 
approved unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  

 
 Reason: To ensure that biodiversity net gain is secured and habitats enhanced having regard to 

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as amended by the Conservation 
of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ (the ‘Habitats Regulations’), 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, National Planning Policy Framework, NERC Act (2006) and 
Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy (2015) policies SS1, SS6 LD1, LD2 and LD3; and the 
council’s declared Climate Change and Ecological Emergency 

 
 The site is in an area with an intrinsically dark landscape that benefits local amenity and nature 

conservation interests, including nocturnal protected species present at the site. A condition to 
ensure all external lighting is kept to the essential minimum for householder safety and any 
systems installed compliant with current best practice is requested: 

 

97



 

 

 Protected Species and Dark Skies (external illumination) 
 No external lighting shall be provided other than the maximum of one external LED down-lighter 

above or beside each external door (and below eaves height) with a Corrected Colour 
Temperature not exceeding 2700K and brightness under 500 lumens. Every such light shall be 
directed downwards with a 0 degree tilt angle and 0% upward light ratio and shall be controlled 
by means of a PIR sensor with a maximum over-run time of 1 minute. The Lighting shall be 
maintained thereafter in accordance with these details. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that all species and local intrinsically dark landscape are protected having 

regard to The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as amended by the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ (the ‘Habitats 
Regulations’), Wildlife & Countryside Act (1981 amended); National Planning Policy Framework, 
NERC Act (2006) and Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy policies SS1, SS6, LD1-3; ; and 
the council’s declared Climate Change and Ecological Emergency 

 
6.4.3 23/8/18 – Thank you for consulting me again on this application.  I note my colleague has 

completed the HRA assessment process for this satisfactorily.  With regard to the ecological 
assessment, I welcome the updated survey which finds much remains unchanged.  However, 
the presence of two riparian species (otter and white clawed crayfish) have been raised and 
confirmed as present along this stretch of the R. Arrow.  I believe the plans to be ultimately 
adequate in habitat creation along the stream corridor here and so good water quality and lack 
of disturbance will be of utmost importance to maintain before and after construction.  The bulk 
of the development will fall outside the flood plain and will lie some distance from the course of 
the river but a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) should be produced to 
ensure no construction materials/fuels etc. will be placed near the buffer zone.  Except for 
planting there should be no need to enter this buffer zone during construction.  Certainly no 
heavy machinery should be allowed the CEMP should clearly designate this zone as fenced off 
from the rest of the site.  I do not believe it is possible, enforceable or even reasonable to adopt 
an exclusion zone around the river post-construction but site development should in no way 
impede the use of the river by these two species including barrier installations, lighting or bank 
access points.  If the footbridge across the proposed in the Design and Access Statement is 
intended as part of this application, then details of construction must be submitted as part of the 
approval and accommodated in the species’ mitigation.. 

 
 In addition, the recommendations of the ecological report should be encompassed within a 

ecology mitigation and enhancement plan.  This should include a programme of Reasonable 
Avoidance Measures for two species above.  I would also advise that information boards should 
be installed as part of the interpretation and advisory element of enhancement highlighting the 
features living adjacent to such a spectacular biodiversity resource.  The signs should also 
indicate controls on disturbance which people should exercise (such as by dogs, vegetation 
damage and any water-sports intended). 

 
 Consequently, the following non-standard conditions should be added to any approval: 
 
 Prior to commencement of development, a Construction Environmental Management Plan shall 

be submitted for approval in writing by the local planning authority and shall include timing of the 
works, details of storage of materials and measures to minimise the extent of dust, odour, noise 
and vibration arising from the demolition and construction process. The Plan shall be 
implemented as approved. 

 
 Reasons: 
 To ensure that all species are protected having regard to the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

(with amendments and as supplemented by the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000), the 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 and the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010 (and 2012 amendment).  

 

98



 

 

 To comply Herefordshire Council’s Policies LD2 Biodiversity and Geodiversity, LD3 Green 
Infrastructure of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2013 – 2031 and to meet the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

 
  AND  
 
 The recommendations for species mitigation and habitat enhancements set out in the 

ecologist’s report from Ecology Services dated 2018 should be followed unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority and the scheme shall be carried out as 
approved.  An enhancement plan for the site including interpretive advice boards for protected 
riparian species present should be submitted to the local planning authority in writing.  The plan 
shall be implemented as approved. 

 
 An appropriately qualified and experienced ecological clerk of works should be appointed (or 

consultant engaged in that capacity) to oversee the ecological mitigation work. 
 
 Reasons: 
 To ensure that all species are protected having regard to the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

(with amendments and as supplemented by the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000), the 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 and the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010 (and 2012 amendment).  

 
 To comply Herefordshire Council’s Policies LD2 Biodiversity and Geodiversity, LD3 Green 

Infrastructure of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2013 – 2031 and to meet the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

 
6.4.4 21/5/18 - Thank you for consulting me on this application.  My pre-application comments of four 

years ago welcomed the ecological survey (from 2014).  Unfortunately, this application submits 
the same survey without any updated information.  There is a need to at least carry out a walk-
over survey as a check on potential changes.  For the ecologist to advise on enhancement 
measures there will be a need to base this on current site conditions in any case.  This should 
be done at the outline stage and not left to reserved matters 

 
Secondly, I note Natural England’s comment regarding foul waste treatment.  A mains 
connection is clearly intended and also, a SuD system is proposed for surface water which 
appears acceptable.  Consequently, Natural England’s requirement is met provided the 
condition from Welsh for foul water management is applied. 

 
6.5 Area Engineer (Highways) – comment 
6.5.1 10/7/18 –  

Site Location and Access 
The application site is located on Land adjacent to Spring Cottage Headbrook Kington. The 
proposal sets out the creation of a new access through land between 43 and 45 Headbrook 
which is within the ownership of the developer. The proposed development site lies in an area 
designated in the emerging Kington Neighbourhood Development Plan as a Local Green 
Space. Headbrook road is subject to 30mpg speed limit however the 85th percentile speed in 
the transport assessment for the development shows speeds at 33mph.  
 
The new access would adjoin the existing public access. A transport assessment sets out the 
proposed access and associated works. It must be ensured that the access does not deviate in 
location from this point as access from another location, between 45 and 47 Headbrook for 
instance, would not be appropriate.  
 
There is a bus service near the site, including hourly services which connect Hereford with 
Llandrindod Wells via Kington.   
Traffic Generation 

99



 

 

The information provided by the transport assessment is for 60 dwellings. Using this as a 
baseline, 33 two-way trips were associated with the proposal. As the current proposal is 
indicative of approximately half the number of dwellings, then it is logical to assume that half the 
number of two-way trips will be associated with this site. The highway network should not be 
adversely affected by this increase in movement.  
 
Visibility 
The visibility splays set out in the transport assessment (51m) in line with the 85th percentile 
speeds are appropriate and achievable at the proposed location of the access.   

 
Drainage 
The developer should ensure that run off does not flow to the public highway. 
 
Waste Collection  
A waste collection strategy should be provided by the applicant.  
 
Policy 
Section 106 contributions are mentioned in the planning statement and the developer is happy 
to contribute an average of £9,284 per dwelling.  
 
As a new public road and footway is proposed, the developer should adhere to section 38 
highways adoption agreement and section 278 of the Highways Act 278.  
 
Conclusion 
The transportation department has no objections to this application, subject to the following 
conditions:  
 
CAL - Access, turning area and parking  
 
The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the access, turning area 
and parking facilities shown on the approved plan have been properly consolidated, surfaced, 
drained and otherwise constructed in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority and these areas shall thereafter be retained and kept 
available for those uses at all times. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the free flow of traffic using the 
adjoining highway and to conform with the requirements of Policy T11 of Herefordshire Unitary 
Development Plan 
 
CAJ - Parking - estate development (more than one house) 
 
Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling to which this permission relates an area for car 
parking shall be laid out within the curtilage of that property, in accordance with the approved 
plans which shall be properly consolidated, surfaced and drained, in accordance with details to 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority and those areas shall not 
thereafter be used for any other purpose than the parking of vehicles. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the free flow of traffic using the 
adjoining highway and to conform with the requirements of Policy T11 of Herefordshire Unitary 
Development Plan 

 
CAQ - On site roads - submission of details 
 
Development shall not begin until the engineering details and specification of the proposed 
roads and highway drains have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. 
 

100



 

 

Informative 
 
I45 – Works within the highway (Compliance with the Highways Act 1980 and the Traffic 
Management Act 2004) 
  
This planning permission does not authorise the applicant to carry out works within the publicly 
maintained highway and Balfour Beatty Living Places (Managing Agent for Herefordshire 
Council) Highways Services, Unit 3 Thorn Business Park, Rotherwas, Hereford HR2 6JT, (Tel. 
01432 349517),), shall be given at least 28 days' notice of the applicant's intention to 
commence any works affecting the public highway so that the applicant can be provided with an 
approved specification, and supervision arranged for the works. 
 
Under the Traffic Management Act 2004, Herefordshire Council operate a notice scheme to co-
ordinate Streetworks. Early discussions with the Highways Services Team are advised as a 
minimum of 4 weeks to 3 months notification is required (dictated by type of works and the 
impact that it may have on the travelling public). Please note that the timescale between 
notification and you being able to commence your works may be longer depending on other 
planned works in the area and the traffic sensitivity of the site. The Highway Service can be 
contacted on Tel. 01432 845900. 

 
I08 – Section 278 Agreement 
No work on the site should commence until engineering details of the improvements to the 
public highway have been approved by the Highway Authority and an agreement under Section 
278 of the Highways Act 1980 entered into.  Please contact the Senior Engineer, PO Box 236, 
Plough Lane, Hereford HR4 0WZ to progress the agreement. 
 
I07 – Section 38 Agreement & Drainage details 
 
The developer is required to submit details of the layout and alignment, widths and levels of the 
proposed roadworks, which shall comply with any plans approved under this planning consent 
unless otherwise agreed in writing, together with all necessary drainage arrangements and run 
off calculations. It  is not known if the proposed roadworks can be satisfactorily drained to an 
adequate outfall.  Adequate storm water disposal arrangements must be provided to enable 
Herefordshire Council, as Highway Authority, to adopt the proposed roadworks as public 
highways. The applicant is, therefore, advised to submit the engineering and drainage details 
referred to in this conditional approval at an early date to the Senior Engineer, PO Box 236, 
Plough Lane, Hereford HR4 0WZ for assessment and technical approval.  No works on the site 
of the development shall be commenced until these details have been approved and an 
Agreement under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 entered into. 
 
I05 – No drainage to discharge to highway 
 
Drainage arrangements shall be provided to ensure that surface water from the driveway and/or 
vehicular turning area does not discharge onto the public highway.  No drainage or effluent from 
the proposed development shall be allowed to discharge into any highway drain or over any part 
of the public highway. 
 
I51 – Works adjoining highway 
 
Any work involving the removal or disturbance of ground or structures supporting or abutting the 
publicly maintained highway should be carried out in accordance with details to be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Highway Authority or their agent.  Please contact Balfour Beatty 
Living Places (Managing Agent for Herefordshire Council) Highways Services, Unit 3 Thorn 
Business Park, Rotherwas, Hereford HR2 6JT, (Tel. 01432 349517), 

 
I35 – Highways Design Guide and Specification 
 

101



 

 

The applicant’s attention is drawn to the requirement for design to conform to Herefordshire 
Council’s ‘Highways Design Guide for New Developments’ and  ‘Highways Specification for 
New Developments’. 

 
6.6 HC Strategic Housing – comment  
6.6.1 31/5/18 - I have reviewed the above outline planning application and would advise that the 

applicant is meeting the requirement to provide 35% affordable housing. Local connection in 
relation to the affordable units would need to be included within the S106 and the units would 
need to be tenure neutral and will integrated within the open market units. 

 
The proposed layout for the open market and affordable units are only indicative and I would 
advise that the exact mix and tenure for both, needs to be agreed prior to the submission of any 
reserved matters application.  Therefore, I would look for a condition to be applied to the outline 
planning permission to ensure that this happens. 

 
6.7 HC Waste and Recycling – comment  
6.7.1 1/6/18 - Please refer to "Guidance Notes for storage and collection of domestic refuse and 

recycling" for advice with regards to Waste Management arrangements for households. 
 
6.8 HC Environmental Health (Noise and Nuisance) – comment 
6.8.1 31/5/18 - The proposal has not yet taken into account the acoustic environment in which the 

houses are proposed to be built and I note that there are alternative site layout plans which 
could have different noise exposure risks. I am of the opinion that these risks are a relevant 
factor when determining site layout. 

 
The applicant is requested to undertake a noise risk assessment using Stage 1 of the ProPG 
guidance. This would capture the noise levels across the site and will be useful in assisting in 
the determination of the proposed site layout. Should the noise risks be more than negligible, 
which is likely at the eastern boundary of the site, the application is also requested to follow 
Stage 2 of the ProPG guidance and supply an Acoustic Design Statement 

 
6.9 HC Education – comment 
6.9.1 30/5/18 - The educational facilities provided for this development site are Kington Primary 

School and Lady Hawkins High School. 
  
 Kington Primary School has a planned admission number of 30. As at the schools spring 

census 2018:- 
 

 2 year groups are at or over capacity- Y3=31, Y5=30 
 

Lady Hawkins Secondary School has a planned admission number of 80. As at the schools 
spring census 2018:- 
 

 All Year groups have spare capacity- no contribution 
 

Approximately 1% of the population are affected by special educational needs and as such the 
Children’s Wellbeing Directorate will allocate a proportion of the monies for Primary, Secondary 
and Post 16 education to schools within the special educational needs sector. Although there is 
currently surplus capacity with the catchment secondary school and therefore we are unable to 
ask for a full contribution as indicated in the SPD towards this element please note that 1% of 
the contribution will go towards Special Educational Needs provision within the Local Authority 
maintained Special Schools and therefore we would still be seeking this 1% contribution. 
 
In accordance with the SPD the Children’s Wellbeing Directorate would therefore be looking for 
a contribution to be made that would go towards the inclusion of all additional children 
generated by this development. The Children’s Wellbeing contribution for this development 
would be as follows: 

102



 

 

 
  
 Although no contribution has been requested for the catchment Secondary schools for this 

development, please note that parental preference may dictate that children from this 
development may attend other schools that would ordinarily require a contribution as a result of 
this development taking place. 

 
 Please note this is the contribution that would be requested at this point in time based on the 

current information available that is pupil census data and the criteria in the SPD. It is therefore 
likely that this level of contribution will change (increase or decrease) for all subsequent 
applications made. 

 If you have any queries please do not hesitate to contact me 
 
6.10 HC Open Space Planning Officer – comment 
6.10.1 1/6/18 –  

Open Space Requirements.  
Core Strategy Policies:  
OS1: Requirement for open space, sport and recreation facilities  
OS2: Meeting open space and recreation needs  
 
Core Strategy Policies OS1 and OS2 apply. Open space requirements from all new 

development are to be considered on a site by site basis and in accordance with all 
applicable set standards which are set out below.   Where on-site provision is not 
appropriate off-site contributions may be sought where appropriate on an equally 
beneficial basis for the local community.  

 
• Herefordshire Open Space Study 2006 which recommends POS should be at a rate of 

0.4ha per 1000 population (to note data for amenity public open space has not changed 
significantly and it is still considered to be accurate),  

• Local Evidence: Herefordshire Play Facilities Study and Investment Plan 2012 and 
National Evidence: Fields in Trust Guidance: These recommend children’s play at a rate 
of 0.8ha per 1000 population. Of this 0.25ha should be formal equipped play. 

• Herefordshire Playing Pitch Assessment 2012 and Outdoor Sports Investment Plan 
(2016) and National Evidence: Fields in Trust Guidance: These recommends outdoors 
sports provision of between 1.4 and 1.6ha per 1000 population and where future 
investment in outdoor sport should be directed to maximise the benefits to the local 
community.   

*please note this information will form the basis of a separate SPD on POS standards currently 
being prepared.  

 
On site Provision:  The illustrative site plan shows on-site POS /SUDS areas as detailed in both 

the accompanying Planning Statement and Design and Access Statement.   
 
The POS comprises smaller ancillary areas of play and public open space within the housing 

areas and a larger green space area which is in the flood plain and bounds the river 
corridor.  The total amount is shown as 1.8ha (4.5 acres) and covers over half of the 
application site.  That said, it is understood from the Planning Statement that should this 
application go forward the applicant is considering a future phase subject to EA 
consultation which would potentially mean 0.5ha (1.3acres) of this land would be used 
for housing.  

 
Taking this into account the applicant has exceeded the policy requirements for POS as 

outlined above. The illustrative site plan shows 33 houses.  For a development of up to 

103



 

 

33 houses and an occupancy rate of 2.3 (population 75.9) the developer would be 
required to provide as a minimum of 0.09ha (900sq m) of on-site green infrastructure 
comprising:  

 
• 0.03 ha (300sq m) of Public Open Space @ 0.4ha per 1000 population 
., 
• 0.06ha (600sq m) of Children's play @ 0.8ha per 1000 population: of this 0.018ha 

(180sq m) should be formal play @ 0.25ha per 1000 population   
 
However the land does not make provision for outdoor sports and this is supported.  An off-site 
contribution towards Outdoor Sports will be sought based on the Playing Pitch Assessment for 
Kington and the Outdoor Sports Investment Plan as described below.  
 
It is noted that this is an outline application and the illustrative proposal may change if the 
application progresses to reserved matters and the areas shown as POS may not necessarily 
appear as shown in a subsequent detailed proposal.  Whilst it is recognised that the provision 
far exceeds policy requirement the site doe provide an opportunity to create an impressive area 
of open space. Planning for healthier spaces is good practice and as the plan develops any on 
site provision should be well designed and of a usable size to offer a range of recreation 
opportunities and experiences appropriate to the site and location. Open space needs to be well 
connected and safe and accessible networks of green spaces should incorporate both walking 
and cycling opportunities where possible.  The applicant’s approach to provide POS for both 
recreation and biodiversity/wildlife, formal and informal children’s play space  including a 
dedicated play area and recreational activity, together with a managed environmental/ wildlife 
zone based around the River Arrow’s tributary brook is supported. 

  
Open space needs to be well connected incorporating both pedestrian and cycling 
opportunities. The applicant has indicated that the site will be fully integrated into the 
neighbourhood via existing and new public routes for walking and cycling and possibly a new 
footbridge across the river towards the north-west of the land, which could connect into existing 
town walkways and this too is supported.   
 
Any POS and children’s play areas should be overlooked and housing should be orientated to 
provide natural surveillance.  Given the size of development proposed the policy requirement for 
formal play provision is small at 180sq m.  In this instance, it may be more appropriate to 
provide more natural play opportunities in keeping with the nature of the proposed POS.  
 
It is noted that the SuDS will be designed to incorporate balancing ponds into the future open-
space and landscaping schemes as appropriate. SuDs areas if designed accordingly to take 
account of health and safety and standing water issues can provide good opportunities for both 
informal recreation and biodiversity. 
 
Adoption and Maintenance: Suitable management and maintenance arrangements will be 
required to support any provision of open space and associated infrastructure within the open 
space in line with the Council’s policies. This could be a management company which is 
demonstrably adequately self-funded or will be funded through an acceptable on-going 
arrangement; or through local arrangements such as a Trust set up for the new community for 
example.  There is a need to ensure good quality maintenance programmes are agreed and 
implemented and that the areas remain available for public use 
 
The Council’s SuDS Handbook provides advice and guidance including national guidance on 
the inclusion of SuDs on new development.  The applicant should seek further advice from the 
Council at the earliest opportunity. 
 
 

104



 

 

Off site requirements for outdoor sports:  It is noted that the applicant will negotiate with  
Herefordshire Council the s.106 requirements arising from this development  as part of the 
overall planning application discussions.   
 
An off-site contribution will be sort in accordance with the NPPF and evidence bases:  Kington 
Area Playing Pitch Assessment 2012 and the Outdoor Sports Investment Plan 2018.  
 
The Outdoor Sports Investment Plan, has been prepared by a partnership of Sport England, 
Herefordshire Council, the National Governing Bodies (NGB) for cricket, football, hockey and 
rugby and the County Sports Partnership.  It is annually reviewed and provides up to date 
information on clubs and facilities in accordance with Sport England’s requirements to review 
the Playing Pitch Assessment.   A list of projects for cricket, football, rugby and hockey are 
included which are considered to be sustainable and deliverable in helping to meet the needs of 
both the existing and future populations (future proofed to 2031). All projects have the support 
of the relevant NGB in both their regional and local facilities development plans. 
 
Summary of Projects for Kington: 
 
Football: Kington Town Football Club: used by Kington Town Football club both senior and 

junior teams.  
• Quality Deficiency: Improvements to the existing changing facilities required. Its quality 

rating has deteriorated to below a quality required by Sport England since 2011.     
• Support: The FA has rated this as a priority project to enable the club to develop and to 

move up the football pyramid.  
Cricket: Kington Recreation Ground: Used by Kington Cricket Club both senior and junior 

teams.  
• Quality Deficiency: improvements to the facility including the 3 lane nets required.  Its 

quality rating has deteriorated to below a quality required by Sport England since 2011.    
• Support: The HCB supports this project.  
 
The methodology used to assess requirements arising from new development is considered to 

be CIL compliant and contributions are calculated using the following methodology:  
• Total Investment costs: £285,000:  
• Total housing planned for Kington (Core Strategy): 200 new houses  
• Cost per market house) £1,425 
 
• Total off-site contribution arising from this development of 21 market houses: £29,925 
 

 
6.11 Natural England – no objection  
6.11.1 28/2/23 – Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed 

development will not have significant adverse impacts on designated sites and has no objection. 
This is on the basis of nutrient neutrality being secured. 

 
6.11.2 20/8/18 – Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed 

development will not have significant adverse impacts on designated sites and has no objection.  
 

Natural England’s advice on other natural environment issues is set out below. 
 
6.11.3 16/5/18 - As submitted, the application could have potential significant effects on The River Wye 

SAC.  
 
Natural England requires further information in order to determine the significance of these 
impacts and the scope for mitigation.  

 
The following information is required: 

 Clarification of waste water (sewage) treatment. 

105



 

 

 
Without this information, Natural England may need to object to the proposal.  
Please re-consult Natural England once this information has been obtained. 
 
Natural England’s advice on other issues is set out below. 

 
6.12 BBLP Land Drainage Engineer – no objection 
6.12.1 23/5/18 - We have no objections to this outline planning application but recommend that the 

Applicant submits the following information within any subsequent reserved matters application: 
 

Amended calculations of the greenfield runoff rates and proposed discharges rates and 
attenuation volumes using FEH methods and 2013 rainfall data for the site area included within 
the planning application; 

 

 Results of infiltration testing at the location(s) and proposed depth(s) of any 
proposed infiltration structure(s), undertaken in accordance with BRE Digest 365 
methodology; 

 

 Confirmation of groundwater levels to demonstrate that the invert level of any 
soakaways or unlined attenuation features can be located a minimum of 1m above 
groundwater levels; 

 

 Detailed drawings of proposed features such as attenuation features and outfall 
structures; 

 

 Confirmation that the attenuation pond will not situated above ground; if it is 
proposed to be situated above ground level the Applicant must provide an 
assessment of breach. 

 

 Consideration of the risk of water backing up the drainage system from any 
proposed outfall and how this risk will be managed without increasing flood risk to 
the site or to people, property and infrastructure elsewhere, noting that this also 
includes failure of flap valves; 
 

 Description and drawing demonstrating the management of surface water runoff 
during events that may temporarily exceed the capacity of the drainage system; 
 

 A detailed foul water drainage strategy showing how foul water from the 
development will be disposed of and illustrating the location of key drainage 
features; 

 

 Confirmation where the proposed connection into the foul sewer network will be and 
if access to third part land will be required. 
 

 If discharge to the public sewerage system is proposed, confirmation that this has 
been agreed with the relevant authority; 

 If access or works to third party land is required, details of these works and 
agreement in principal with necessary landowners/consenting authorities to cross 
third party land and/or make a connection to the proposed watercourse/sewer; 

 
 If the results of infiltration testing indicate that infiltration will provide a feasible means of 
managing surface water runoff, an alternative drainage strategy must be submitted to the 
Council for review and approval. Best practice SUDS techniques should be considered and we 
promote the use of combined attenuation and infiltration features that maximise infiltration 
during smaller rainfall events. 

 
6.13 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water  

106



 

 

 18/5/18 - We refer to your planning consultation relating to the above site, and we can provide 
the following comments in respect to the proposed development.  

 
 We have reviewed the information submitted as part of this application with particular focus on 
the Flood Risk Assessment Statement (HKB4) Ref PJD/pjda.HR.1020908.18 which indicates 
that foul water will drain to the public combined sewer and surface water will discharge to the 
nearby watercourse.  

 
 We are aware of flooding concerns on the main road but our investigations have concluded that 
the root cause is not due to hydraulic overload on the sewer network.  

 
 Therefore, if you are minded to grant planning permission we request that the following 
Conditions and Advisory Notes are included within any subsequent consent. 
 
Conditions  
Foul water from the development site shall be allowed to discharge to the public sewerage 
system and this discharge shall be made between manhole reference number SO60560422 and 
SO30560529 as indicated on the extract of the Sewerage Network Plan attached to this 
decision notice. Thereafter, no surface water, land or highway water shall drain directly or 
indirectly to the public sewerage system. 
 
Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health 
and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment. 
 
Advisory Notes 
The applicant may need to apply to Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water for any connection to the public 
sewer under S106 of the Water industry Act 1991. If the connection to the public sewer network 
is either via a lateral drain (i.e. a drain which extends beyond the connecting property boundary) 
or via a new sewer (i.e. serves more than one property), it is now a mandatory requirement to 
first enter into a Section 104 Adoption Agreement (Water Industry Act 1991). The design of the 
sewers and lateral drains must also conform to the Welsh Ministers Standards for Gravity Foul 
Sewers and Lateral Drains, and conform with the publication "Sewers for Adoption"- 7th Edition. 
Further information can be obtained via the Developer Services pages of www.dwrcymru.com 
 
The applicant is also advised that some public sewers and lateral drains may not be recorded 
on our maps of public sewers because they were originally privately owned and were 
transferred into public ownership by nature of the Water Industry (Schemes for Adoption of 
Private Sewers) Regulations 2011. Under the Water Industry Act 1991 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water 
has rights of access to its apparatus at all times. 

 
 Our response is based on the information provided by your application. Should the proposal 
alter during the course of the application process we kindly request that we are re-consulted and 
reserve the right to make new representation. 

 
6.14 Historic England  
6.14.1 22/5/18 -  

 The outline application affects land within the setting of Kington Conservation Area that makes a 
positive contribution to the conservation area's significance in terms of its historic, aesthetic and 
communal value. Historic England objects to the application on the grounds that the supporting 
information does not comply with paragraph 128 of the NPPF and the design, amount, location 
and density of the development will result in harm to the conservation area that is unjustified in 
terms of paragraphs 131, 132, 134 and 137. 

 Historic England Advice 
 Kington Conservation Area encompasses the historic town of Kington established as a borough 
in the twelfth century. The heart of the conservation area is characterised by a typically tight 
urban form deriving from the layout of medieval burgage plots along the High Street. This area 
has dense two and three storey buildings set at the back of pavement providing a high degree 

107



 

 

of enclosure to the street and funnelled views with a rich visual texture of historic building 
materials. A similar plot pattern characterises Bridge Street but the density of development is 
significantly lower and gaps between buildings and views through carriage arches allow garden 
greenery and trees to come through into the streetscape experience. 
 The form of the landscape around the town is such that setting contributes much to the 
significance of the conservation area. Kington is located between and contained by the course 
of two rivers, the Arrow and Back Brook which flow from the Radnorshire Hills to the west to 
form a confluence just east of the town. The rivers cut through higher ground to the north, 
Bradnor Hill, and west, Hergest Ridge and these hills form a prominent rural setting for the 
conservation area. At the end of Bridge Street the flood meadows of the River Arrow that form 
the town’s natural southern boundary make themselves apparent particularly to the southeast 
where views from a public footpath have a distinctly rural feel and layers of trees, open space 
and topography limit the impact of linear development on the north side of Headbrook and the 
more substantial new development on rising ground to its south side. The application site forms 
part of the rural, water meadow setting and the wider landscape setting which contribute to the 
significance of the conservation area in terms of its aesthetic quality, its historic interest as a 
settlement developed within the natural constraints of the river confluence and its communal 
value. 

 
While the detailed impact of the proposed development cannot be assessed due to the outline 
nature of the application, it is clear to Historic England that the scale and amount of 
development represents a change in setting that will impact on the significance of the 
conservation area. The application should therefore be assessed against the policy contained in 
Section 12 of the NPPF which places great weight on the conservation of heritage assets and 
most particularly against paragraphs128, 131, 132, 134 and 137. The Historic England 
publication ‘The setting of Heritage Assets, Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in 
Planning Note 3’ provides relevant advice on the identification of setting and assessment of the 
impact of change within it on significance. 

 
Historic England is concerned that, for a number of reasons, the Design and Access Statement 
submitted in support of the application does not meet the requirements of paragraph 128. It 
relies on a compartmentalised landscape assessment and views analysis that does not draw 
out the contribution of setting to the historic, aesthetic and communal value of the conservation 
area and does not follow the staged approach to assessment set out in our guidance referred to 
above. We are also concerned that, in its outline form, the application does not demonstrate the 
design quality required by paragraphs 131 and 137. On the basis of the information submitted 
Historic England considers that, while the proposals have sought to reduce impact by locating 
housing in the southwest corner of the site, the amount, density and location of the development 
and loss of green space will result in an urbanisation of the water meadows that will change 
their character considerably. Taken with the existing development on the south side of 
Headbrook, the aggregative amount of development in the setting of the conservation area will 
increase considerably. 

 
We consider that this will harm the significance of the conservation area by obscuring the links 
between its historic pattern of development and the Arrow’s water meadows and diminishing the 
aesthetic value of its undeveloped, rural, green setting and the communal value of the 
conservation area that lies in this setting. 

 
We note that the Kington NDP identifies land between Headbrook and the River Arrow as 
important green space forming part of the river corridor that contributes to the character and 
setting of Kington Town and that housing would lead to loss of its rural character. Historic 
England concurs with this conclusion. The NDP indicates that potential for alternative sites to 
meet the town’s housing needs exists and in this context we would suggest that the harm 
caused by the proposal to the significance of the conservation area is unjustified in terms of 
paragraphs 132 and 134. 
 
Recommendation 

108



 

 

Historic England objects to the application on heritage grounds. We do not consider that the 
application meets the requirements of the NPPF, in particular paragraph numbers 128, 131, 
132, 134 and 137. In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of 
section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special 
attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of 
conservation areas and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 to 
determine planning applications in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise 

 
6.15 Wye Valley NHS Trust – comment  
6.15.1 8/6/18 - In the circumstances, it is evident from the above that the Trust’s request for a 

contribution is not only necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms if it is 
directly related to the development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. The contribution will ensure that Health services are maintained for current and 
future generations and that way make the development sustainable. 

 
7. Representations 
 
7.1 Kington Town Council – object 
7.1.1 10/1/23 – , Kington Town Council considered the revised documentation for this application at 

its meeting last night and it was evident that we were unclear what we were being asked to 
comment on, given that outline permission has, I believe, been granted.  I will shortly be 
updating the website with our comments but there was nothing in the newly uploaded 
documentation that we felt changed in any way the comments that the Town Council has 
submitted previously. 

 
However, the renewed interest in this site has meant that we have reviewed the draft s106 
material, including the Draft Heads of Terms which I believe has been drawn up by the 
applicant’s agent albeit that it is dated September 2018.  It is unclear whether we are being 
asked to comment on this now and there is reference within the document to a potential liability 
accruing to Kington Town Council in the form of a possible transfer of land to the Town Council 
as public open space.   I’ve copied Kevin Bishop into this email in respect of this element and 
would request that if this current re-consultation is to include the provisions within the draft s106 
agreement for this site, Kington Town Council would wish to add further comment on this. 
 

7.1.2 17/9/18 –  As was specified in the Council’s objection to this application, the Kington and 
Area Neighbourhood Development plan is now nearing the Regulation 16 Stage. The Plan has 
been fully revised in relation to the Regulation 14 Consultation and the voluminous consultation 
appendices have had a final edit. The completed Plan will be submitted to Herefordshire 
Council’s NDP Team on Wednesday Sept 19th. As previously identified the Plan proposes that 
the whole of application site should be designated Local Green Space and identifies a range of 
other sites which will fully meet the housing allocation for Kington specified in Herefordshire’s 
Core Strategy. These policies have been strongly supported in the various consultations during 
the development of the NDP and we trust they will be given full consideration by the Planning 
Committee when this application is considered. 

 
7.1.3 6/6/18 - Kington Town Council considered this application at its meeting on June 4th and 

resolved to object to the application for the reasons detailed below. 
 

1. The Council's views on the application are informed by its role in preparing the Kington 
Area Neighbourhood Plan (KANP) and the central role it has played in identifying 
housing development sites. This role is a formal requirement of the Herefordshire Core 
Strategy which delegates the task to the Town Council. (Core Strategy. Policy KGl. 
Development in Kington) 
 

2. The KANP completed the Regulation 14 stage in 2017 which included consultations 
which fully "demonstrated engagement and consultation with the community" (KGl). In 

109



 

 

light of the consultations the Plan has been revised and in the form of the Draft 
Regulation 16 Plan is ready to be submitted to Herefordshire Council for the final stages 
of the Neighbourhood Plan process. 
 

3. In preparing the draft KANP, the Town Council carried out detailed assessment of the 
sites throughout the town in relation to the criteria in KGl. In this task it received wide 
ranging professional and technical support through grant provision provided by ocality as 
agents for the National Government's Neighbourhood Planning policies. Our objection to 
the application is based on the extensive assessment we undertook to fulfil the 
delegation of site selection to Kington Council (KGl). 
 

4. Local Green Space - The Kington Area Neighbourhood Plan has designated all the land 
south of the River Arrow at Headbrook as Local Green Space. The designation has had 
the strong support of the community . Together with the land on the opposite side of the 
river it has been described as a 'green lung' linking the eastern area of the town to the 
western end with its green riversides. As an open green space it is perceived to 
contribute to the spatial character and form of the town, providing a green entry to the 
town and a wildlife habitat for birds including owls, bats and riverside trees and plants. 
 

5. Green Infrastructure - Herefordshire Council's Green Infrastructure Study ( 2010) shows 
this land north of Headbrook as part of a Local Strategic Corridor embracing the south 
side of the town. A Local Strategic Corridor is defined in the Study as "aconnected linear 
component of green infrastructure around the town",thus echoing in more technical 
terms the views of local people. The Study contains a description of the land as being 
"wet grassland and wet woodland that should be preserved and enhanced" . Core 
Strategy Policy LD3 Green Infrastructure states that "Development proposals should 
protect, manage and plan for the preservation of existing and delivery of new green 
infrastructure...". By its nature a housing development on this land will be unable to 
comply with this policy since it will building on the green infrastructure, thereby removing 
it and impacting on the adjacent remaining land. 
 

6. Biodiversity - Core Strategy Policy LD2 Biodiversity and geodiversity states 
"Development proposals should conserve, restore and enhance the biodiversity ...".  
 
Para 5.3.12 "Wildlife is not confined to designated sites and many features serve as 
wildlife corridors, links and stepping stones. Ecological networks are vital to the survival 
and dispersal of species. Herefordshire 's biodiversity makes a major contribution to the 
economy, supporting the tourism sector and providing a healthy and attractive 
environment for its residents."  
 
The land of this application is not an AONB or SSSI but it is an important feature of the 
Kington Town landscape and losing this area of biodiversity will diminish the local pool of 
ecological habitats by urbanising the riverside biodiversity. The application does not 
comply with LD2. 
 
A development of 33 or so dwellings will inevitably lead to 60 or more vehicles coming 
and going on this land. This is low-lying area where it is likely that air currents, winds etc 
are not going to ensure rapid dispersal of emissions such as nitrous oxides. The 
cumulative impact of N02 is well documented as being harmful to butterflies, bees and 
other insects as well as a range of plant life. The likelihood is a deterioration in any 
remaining green space adjacent to the development rather than enhancement . 

 
7. Landscape and Townscape - The application does not comply with Core Strategy Policy 

LD1 which requires that "development proposals should demonstrate that the character 
of the landscape and townscape has positively influenced the design, scale, nature and 
site selection, protection and enhancement of the setting of settlements...". 
 

110



 

 

The application site borders the Conservation Area and buildings therein of an 
historically important small Market Town. The site area is part of the setting of the Town. 
No evidence is presented as to how the development proposed will meet the objective of 
LD1. 
 
It does not comply with NPPF paras 132 and 134 which are concerned with the settings 
of designated heritage assets; settings are important components of the value of historic 
buildings. The site where development is proposed is a part of the setting of the heritage 
assets of the Town. Any alteration to the setting such as new build development will 
inevitably harm the setting and thereby the assets themselves. It would lead to a loss of 
space and a diminution of the rural setting of the Town. 
 

8. Requirement to Meet the Core Strategy Housing Target for Kington - Any public benefits 
that might accrue from developing housing on this area can be obtained from other sites 
that are identified in the draft Neighbourhood Plan which fully meets the target set for 
housing provision (200 dwellings) and which more adequately meet the requirements of 
KG1. 
 

9. Relationship of the Application to the draft Settlement Boundary as defined in the draft 
plan -The implication of development on various sites in the town was assessed at the 
Regulation 14stage. This led to a revision of the current UDP Settlement Boundary to 
exclude the application site and its counterpart to the north of the Arrow from within the 
settlement . This more clearly identifies their long term value as a green setting for the 
town as open country on the town's border. 
 

10. Previous Site Planning History - The identification of the application site as Local Green 
Space in the KANP is in line with previous planning guidance for Kington. 
 
The Leominster District Local Plan (1999) which included Kington, strongly emphasised 
the importance of the site for the setting of the town. "There should be no development 
on the river meadows of the Arrow ond Back Brook which form essential elements in the 
setting for Kington as defined on the map. Landscape proposals will be encouraged 
which would enhance the river meadows, enable recent developments to fit more 
sensitively into the town's setting, encourage a diversity of wildlife and promote a 
riverside walk. 
 
These river meadows contribute significantly ta the character and setting of the town and 
should be protected from intrusive development in particular in accordance with Pa/icy 
A.25 Much of the area is subject ta serious flooding or is described as flood prone and 
so is not suitable for development in accordance with Policy A15. The River Arrow is 
designated a SWS by the Herefordshire Nature Trust " 
 
The Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan (2007) sustained this policy by designating 
the whole site as "Protection of Open Areas and Green Space" (Inset Map Kingl) 
 
A portion of the site was included in Herefordshire's 2012 Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment (SHLAA) but identified as "Land that had Significant 
Constraints". As a result, the site was re-assessed at the first stage of the 
Neighbourhood Plan process. The Town Council did consider whether a small 
development of 15 houses might be appropriate but unanimously resolved (December 
2015) that the importance of the site as part of the green setting for the town militated 
against any development and that the whole site should be designated as Local Green 
Space. This decision has been fully supported in all subsequent public consultations on 
the Plan and confirmed by Kington Town Council when it signed off the Draft Regulation 
16 Plan in December 2017. 

 

111



 

 

11. Ambiguities in the Application - The extensive documentation provided by the applicant 
provides confusing information about the level of development proposed which vary from 
33 to 70 dwellings in the text and attached site plans. 
 

12. Requirement for More Detailed Site Assessment - Though this is an outline application, 
we would strongly suggest, given the potential impact of the proposed development on 
the setting and environment of the town, that much more detailed information is required 
at this stage on: 
 
Landscape assessment including issues of sensitivity and capacity site biodiversity 
given frequent reports of bats and owls on the site, site archaeology, in view of other 
investigations in the Arrow Valley impact on the Conservation Area, (See Historic 
England's objection for detail on this) impact on the river systems (the Arrow, the Lugg 
SSSI and the Wye Special Area of Conservation) of waste water. 
 
Impact on the sewerage system. The following guidance provide to us by Welsh Water 
in response to our Regulation 14 Consultation should be noted: 
 
Wastewater treatment works (WwTW) - Kington's WwTW is currently overloaded and 
there are no improvements planned within Welsh Water's current Capital Investment 
Programme (AMP6 - 1st April 2015-31st March 2020). An improvement scheme will 
form part of their submission to the Industry Regulators for the next Capital Investment 
Programme (AMP7 - lst April 2020-31st March 2025). As such, should a developer wish 
to progress this site in advance of their future Regulatory Investment they will need to 
fund the improvements themselves, firstly by commissioning Welsh Water to undertake 
a feasibility study of the WwTW, before entering into a Section 106 Agreement (of the 
Town & Country Planning Act 1990) to pay for the improvements required. 
 
A more detailed flood risk assessment by the Environment Agency. 
 

7.2 Public consultation  
7.2.1 Site Notices displayed on 14 December 2022 and 4 January 2023. 7 representation received 

objecting to the application (this includes where parties have made successive representations) 
– the comments can be summarised as follows; -  
  
• Previous committee resolution was based on benefits (allotments and extended 

gardens) that have not been forthcoming, or do not form part of the application. 
• The change in the Council’s housing land supply is such which removes any justification 

for the adverse impacts (loss of important water meadow and impact on conservation 
area).  

• Development would adversely impact on the natural beauty of the area. 
• Concerns previously raised by Historic England have not been addressed.  
• The river floods and this will only get worse because of climate change. 
• Natural drainage provided by a riverside meadow is now more relevant because of 

Climate Change.  
• What has changed in the last 4 years to make this site suitable for development? 
• Previous reasons for recommending refusal have not diminished.  
• More efficient use should be made of existing housing developed on brownfield sites to 

protect rights under The Hum Rights Act 1998.  
• Development would adversely affect the amenities of properties along Headbrook (light, 

noise and privacy) 
• No guarantee of additional garden space.  
• Impact of additional population (including light pollution) on natural environment, 

especially along River Arrow. 
• Ecology Survey makes no reference to otters.  
• Site is designated as open-space and should be safeguarded for such.  
• Would the development provide more funding for local infrastructure?  

112



 

 

• Development would lead to increased traffic on a very busy road (Headbrook). 
• Parked cars along Headbrook are a hazard. 
• Would the development provide traffic calming measures? 
• Implications of water table has not been investigated.  
• Does the existing sewerage system have sufficient capacity?  
• Phosphate calculations have not accurately take account of how the site is used with 

respect to agriculture. 
 
7.2.2 Site Notices displayed 9 May 2018. 22 representations received objecting to the application – 

the comments can be summarised as follows; - 
 

• Parts of the field are prone to flooding. 
• If the area is surfaced, where will excess water go? 
• Development could well result in existing properties in the locality flooding, as well as 

those proposed. 
• The area is a haven for wildlife, including red kites, herons and bats. 

The land is outstandingly beautiful and an important wildlife habitat; a ‘green lung’ for the 
town. 

• There is a duty to preserve and conserve the natural environment. This is an ancient 
meadow and once lost, it can never be replaced. 

• Concerns around the safety of the proposed access off Headbrook. 
• Access is too narrow and vision will be obscured by parked vehicles. 
• Not a suitable road system to support any more housing. 
• The application does not accord with the Kington Area Neighbourhood Development 

Plan. 
• The NDP clearly defines the whole of Headbrook meadow as green space. 
• Proposals were put forward in the NDP to allow for 15 dwellings on the site. The town 

council voted unanimously to exclude it as a potential housing site. 
• The NDP has established sufficient potential housing sites to meet its targets for growth. 
• There are no employment opportunities in the area 
• Doctors surgery and local schools are all at capacity 
• Earlier plans have all concluded that the site should not be built on. What has changed 

now? 
• Barn conversion scheme adjacent to the site was dismissed on appeal with an Inspector 

saying it was ‘inappropriate’ to build on the site 
• Construction of affordable housing for elderly people would free up existing housing for 

families 
• The sewerage system in Kington is not able to cope with the increased amount of 

housing proposed 
 
4 representations received supporting the application – the comments can be summarised as 
follows; -  
 
• Kington is under pressure to provide new homes and this is the best proposal put 

forward 
• The town would benefit from the opening up of a riverside walk 
• Development would be ‘in’ town and not looming over it from some higher point 
• The NDP is still some way from being adopted 
• There has been extensive research as part of the application submission with respect to 

flooding 
• The 2011 Herefordshire Strategic Land Availability Assessment deemed that the site 

was suitable, in part, for housing, unlike other land put forward by the NDP 
• Home owners will be able to walk to local shops, schools and other services 
• The proposal provides new public open space  

 
7.3 CPRE Herefordshire – object;  
7.3.1 8/6/18 – The comments can be summarised as follows; - 

113



 

 

 
• The proposed development would harm the setting of Kington Conservation Area which 

lies immediately adjacent to the site. 
• The site has been identified as a green space in the emerging Kington NDP 
• Should this application be allowed then it would set a precedent for further development 

in green space with the potential to hugely damage the setting of this important historic 
town. 

• It is recognized that Herefordshire Council has not identified a 5 year housing land 
supply and that the Local Plan may be considered out of date thus invoking paragraph 
14 of the NPPF, the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

• However, for the reasons outlined above this development proposal is not sustainable, 
conflicts with several specific NPPF policies and in line with the final clause of paragraph 
14 should be refused: “For decision-taking this means where the development plan is 
absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date granting permission unless any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against policies in this Framework taken as a whole or specific policies in this 
Framework indicate development should be restricted”. 

 
8. Officer’s Appraisal 
 

Principle of development  
 
8.1  Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states as follows:  

“If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.”  

 
8.2 In this instance the adopted development plan is the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy 

(CS). With respect to the Kington Area Neighbourhood Development Plan does not form part of 
the development plan, a referendum for voters was held on 25 July 2019. Because the number 
of votes cast in favour of a ‘yes’ vote did not constitute more than half of those voting, the 
Kington Area Neighbourhood Development Plan has not been adopted and accordingly does 
not form part of the development plan. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is also 
a significant material consideration. The Kington Area NDP did not pass the referendum and 
therefore cannot be attributed any weight for the purposes of decision-making. 

 
8.3 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 

(the 2012 Regulations) and paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires a 
review of local plans be undertaken at least every five years in order to determine whether the 
plan policies and spatial development strategy are in need of updating, and was updated in 
November 2020.  The level of consistency of the policies in the local plan with the NPPF will be 
taken into account by the Council in deciding any applications. In this case the relevant policies 
have been reviewed and are considered entirely consistent with the NPPF and therefore can be 
attributed significant weight. 

 
8.4 In accordance with the NPPF, the delivery of sustainable housing development to meet 

objectively assessed need is a central theme of the Core Strategy. Policy SS2 confirms that 
Hereford City, with the market towns in the tier below, is the main focus for new housing 
development. In the rural areas new housing development will be acceptable “where it helps to 
meet housing needs and requirements, supports the rural economy and local services and 
facilities and is responsive to the needs of its community”. 

 
8.5 Policy SS2 makes an overall provision for the delivery of a minimum 16,500 homes in 

Herefordshire between 2011 and 2031 to meet market and affordable housing need. Of these, 
just over two thirds are directed to Hereford City and the market towns. With specific regard to 
Kington, Policy KG1 sets out that the town will accommodate around 200 new homes over the 
plan period. 

114



 

 

 
8.6 As set out in Paragraph 1.9 of this report, Herefordshire Council are now able to demonstrate a 

5 year housing land supply. Accordingly, this renders the housing supply policies as contained 
within the Core Strategy as being compliant with the principles as set out within the NPPF and 
therefore are up-to-date. They therefore attract full-weight for decision-taking purposes in terms 
of applying the presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out within Paragraph 
11 of the NPPF. 

 
8.7 As a starting point, Policy KG1 is most relevant, identifying a minimum proportionate housing 

growth target of around 200 dwellings through the plan period. It also sets out a number of 
criteria against which new development proposals will be assessed. These are material to the 
determination of the application. 

 
8.8 The site is located to the south of the substantive built part of Kington and to the north of the 

linear pattern of residential development along Headbrook. More recent development has taken 
place further south around Old Eardisley Road and this has served to create in effect, a 
secondary residential area that is somewhat separate from the rest of the town.  

 
8.9 It is approximately a 500-metre walk from the town centre along lit footways, providing safe and 

reasonable means of access to the services and amenities afforded within the town, including 
the Primary School and Lady Hawkins (Secondary School). In addition, the site lies within very 
close proximity to the bus stop on Headbrook which provides daily, and relatively frequent 
services towards Hereford via Lyonshall or Eardisley, and Llandrindod, via Kington town centre 
and New Radnor. The site is, therefore, spatially well-located with respect to accessibility to 
services, providing genuine choice in terms of means of movement, and consequentially can be 
considered sustainable in a locational sense.   

 
8.10 The latest (April 2022) Housing Growth Figures for the Kington (Rural) Housing Market Area 

(HMA) indicate that while the parishes of Kington & Lower Harpton (-17) and Brilley (-2) have so 
far underperformed with respect to meeting its housing targets, the HMA as a whole has 
exceeded its target by 176. Although this does not include Kington town itself which as of April 
2022 benefits from 39 completions (2011 – 2022) and 21 commitments, so far underperforming 
noting that Policy KG1 identifies the town will accommodate around 200 new homes in the plan 
period. As such, the benefits of providing housing within indisputably the most sustainable 
settlement within the wider HMA should be given considerable weight.  

 
8.11 The site is not designated for use as public open space. It is acknowledged that while it was 

previously earmarked for such as part of the Kington Area NDP, the plan is not adopted. 
Therefore, while noting any desires locally for the use of the site for open space (or other), 
these are purely aspirational and there is no policy requirement or designations precluding its 
use for residential development. Nevertheless, the development would comprise the provision 
of open-space and thus facilitate walking routes through the site. 

 
8.12 However, the proposal must be assessed under the three indivisible dimensions of sustainable 

development – economic, social and environmental, if it is to be considered as sustainable. 
Paragraph 8 of the NPPF is clear that these roles are mutually dependent upon one another 
and that to achieve sustainable development economic, social and environmental gains should 
be sought jointly and simultaneously through the planning system. The following sections of this 
report consider aspects of the scheme and the constraints of the site that will be material to the 
determination as to whether the scheme represents sustainable development in the round.  

 
 Impact on the character and appearance of Kington Conservation Area  
 
8.13 The application site lies approximately 60-metres to the east of the boundary of the Kington 

Conservation Area. The Conservation Area covers a large portion of the town, taking in Bridge 
Street (where it is closest to the application site),  the town centre area as well as the recreation 
ground to the south of Park Avenue and Church Road/Castle Hill whereby prominently stands 

115



 

 

the Grade I-listed Church of St Mary, with its spire visible from the application site and along 
Headbrook.  

 
8.14 Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that with 

respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area “special attention shall be paid to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area”.  

 
8.15 With the above in mind, it must be recognised that considerable importance and weight must be 

given to this abovementioned duty. It does not allow for a local planning authority to treat the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the area as merely a 
material consideration to be weighed up in the planning balance. The minimum requirement of 
‘preserving’ is set out within the upstanding case of South Lakeland District Council v Secretary 
of State for the Environment whereby it was concluded that ‘to preserve’ meant doing no harm. 

 
8.16 Policy LD1 of the Core Strategy makes reference to a need to conserve historic features, 

amongst which it includes conservation areas, with Policy LD4 of the Core Strategy requiring 
that heritage assets should be protected, conserved and enhanced, and seeks to ensure that 
the scope of the work to ensure this is be proportionate to the assets significance. Specifically, 
Policy KG1 of the Core Strategy expresses how development for proposals in Kington will be 
encouraged where they protect, conserve and where possible enhance the historic character of 
Kington, in particular the Conservation Area and its significance and setting, including particular 
features, its heritage assets important buildings, scenic views and the landscape features 
surrounding the town. 

 
8.17 Paragraph 195 of the NPPF states how local planning authorities should identify and assess the 

particular significance of any heritage assets affected. Although from a legislative perspective 
no statutory protection is afforded to the setting of conservation areas, the NPPF which 
proceeds the aforementioned Act, groups together a number of designated heritage assets 
through the very definition ‘heritage asset’, treating them alike with respect to considering 
affects of proposals. 

 
8.18 The application site in this particular instance forms part of the rural water meadow setting. The 

pivotal importance of the site in this regard is such that it forms a natural boundary between the 
main bulk of development lying to the north of the River Arrow and linear development along the 
northern side of Headbrook. There are views into the southeastern portion of the site from 
Bridge Street – as well as along the footpath which heads northeast along Tanyard Lane. The 
views in this direction, but as well north-westwards from Headbrook (close to the access point to 
the site) offer a distinctly rural feel with layers of trees and open space. Furthermore, from 
elevated land forming a play area to the north of ‘Sutton Walls Grove’ off the western side of Old 
Eardisley Road, there is inter-visibility between the majority of the application site and the 
Kington Conservation Area and the wider setting of Kington, set beneath Bradnor Hill. These 
attributes contribute demonstrably to the significance of the Kington Conservation Area given 
the sites aesthetic quality, historic interest in terms of understanding how the town developed 
within the natural constraints of the River Arrow confluence and its associated communal value, 
as expressed by Historic England in their consultation response objecting to the application. 

 
8.19 The NPPF defines setting of a heritage asset as “the surroundings in which a heritage asset is 

experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. 
Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an 
asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral”. 

 
8.20 Relevant case law is also useful in helping to understand the meaning of setting in practice and 

its implications thereafter with respect to considering development that may impact upon in it. In 
R. (on the application of Miller) v North Yorkshire CC, it was advised that the extent of a setting 
was a matter of judgement to be considered “in the round” and can include the view from the 
heritage asset towards the development, the view from the development towards the heritage 
asset and; any other relevant view which includes both the heritage asset and the development.  

116



 

 

 
8.21 In this case, it is considered that, as detailed above, the site contributes to the setting of the 

Kington Conservation Area. The proposal in this case would give rise  to an urbanisation of the 
existing water meadows which flank the River Arrow on the eastern fringes of the town. The 
infilling of this area would obscure but also erode the critical links between the historic pattern of 
development (to the north of the river and then linear along the northern side of Headbrook). As 
articulated by Historic England, this would lead to a diminishing of the aesthetic value of its 
undeveloped, rural, green setting and the communal value of the conservation area that lies in 
this setting. It would fundamentally and permanently detract from Kington’s rural character.  

 
8.22 The proposal, therefore, for the above reasons, has failed to demonstrate that it would protect, 

conserve and where possible enhance the historic character of Kington and the significance of 
the Conservation Area and its setting – as explicitly required by Policy KG1 of the Core Strategy 
and reflected through Policy LD4. The harm identified is considered to be ‘less than substantial’, 
as set out within the NPPF. 

 
8.23 Paragraph 202 of the NPPF states that where a development proposal would lead to less than 

substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its  
optimum viable use. Paragraph 206 also recognises that local planning authorities should look 
for opportunities for new development within Conservation Areas to enhance or better reveal 
their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting that make a positive 
contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its significance) should be treated favourably. 

 
8.24 Those public benefits can include the economic, educational and socio economic benefits. Only 

if it is considered that such benefits are substantial enough to outweigh the identified less than 
substantial harm should policy tension with respect to heritage matters be considered as 
reconciled.  

 
8.25 In this case, the proposal would provide a modest but arguably locally significant supply of 

housing with an on-site, policy-compliant affordable provision. This would provide benefits in the 
social sphere and it is also recognised that with this, wider socio-economic benefits would be 
felt by Kington and its wider hinterland through increased expenditure and trade during the 
construction phase, and also by occupiers – although the level and extent of these benefits 
cannot be accurately estimated or guaranteed in any case. Officers acknowledge that the 
development may facilitate an increased appreciation of the river meadow, through open-space. 
However, such benefits cannot be substantiated as part of this outline application, and would 
come at the aforementioned expense of harm to the setting of the Conservation Area. Indeed, 
while no weight can be attributed to the aspirations of the un-adopted Kington Area NDP, other 
uses for the site which could provide significant public benefits have not been shown as 
undeliverable in lieu of residential development.  

 
8.26 Furthermore, the proposal now looks to provide the opportunity for gardens along Headbrook – 

this would be secured through a Section 106 agreement. The National Planning Practice 
Guidance at Paragraph 20 states that public benefits “should be of benefit to the public at large 
and not just be a private benefit”. The nature of this benefit would not be genuinely public as it 
relates ultimately to benefits received by private property as a result of the development and 
therefore, it is the view of officers that this can only be attributed limited weight.  

 
8.27 When taking the above into account and acknowledging the significance of the application site 

to the setting of the Kington Conservation Area, it is considered that the standard expected 
benefits of a development of this nature would not sufficiently outweigh the identified less than 
substantial harm. As such, the inability to reconcile heritage harm solicits tension with Policy 
LD4 and KG1 of the Core Strategy, as well as the principles set out within the NPPF.  
 
Impact on wider landscape  

 

117



 

 

8.28 Policy LD1 requires that proposals demonstrate that the character of the landscape and 
townscape has positively influenced the design, scale, nature and site selection of the 
development, as well as the protection and enhancement of the setting of settlements and 
designated areas. Development proposals should conserve and enhance the natural, historic 
and scenic beauty of important landscapes and features (specifically designated assets) 
through the protection of the area’s character and by enabling appropriate uses, design and 
management. New landscape schemes along with their management should ensure 
development integrates appropriately into its surroundings and maintains tree cover. In wider 
terms, Policy SS6 sets out that development proposals should conserve and enhance 
environmental assets that contribute towards the county’s distinctiveness, in particular its 
settlement pattern, landscape, biodiversity, heritage assets, and especially those with specific 
environmental designations. All proposals should be shaped through an integrated approach to 
planning to ensure environmental quality and local distinctiveness. 

 
8.29 Policy KG1 of the Core Strategy states that development in Kington will be encouraged where it 

would protect, conserve or enhance scenic views and the landscape features surrounding the 
town.  

 
8.30 The site is very typical of a riverside meadow landscape type as defined by the Council’s 

Landscape Character Assessment (the LCA). It is a flat, well defined, alluvial floodplain with the 
river lined by trees on either side. A similar flat area of meadow land flanks the river on its 
northern bank. The LCA suggests that such landscapes are often framed by steeply rising 
ground and that settlement is typically absent and this is the case as far as the site is 
concerned. The site forms an attractive setting for this part of Kington and is framed more 
widely by Bradnor Hill to the northwest, the Radnorshire Hills to the west and Hergest Ridge to 
the southwest. The site is therefore significant in its contribution to the distinctively rural setting 
of Kington. The site is especially important to the town’s setting when arriving from the east (and 
traversing west along Headbrook). It forms a green corridor which provides a visual link towards 
the centre of the town.  

 
8.31 The proposal indicatively shows that the areas immediately adjacent to the river are to be kept 

free from development, in part a result of the flood related constraints discussed in the 
proceeding sections of this report. This enables the tree-lined bank to remain undisturbed. The 
hedge line that runs south in the western quadrant of the site is to be retained and enhanced, 
and; whilst the application is made in outline and landscaping is a matter to be reserved for 
future, consideration, the submission nevertheless indicates that substantial areas of new 
planting could be proposed. 

 
8.32 However, the inherent character of the landscape is of an open meadow that is free from 

development. As above outlined, the land forms an important setting to Kington and its 
Conservation Area when approaching the town from an easterly direction, and this will be 
changed to the detriment of the area through the introduction of development. Although made in 
outline, the development would invariably require the provision of road access from Spring 
Cottage, scarring the site to provide access to the development in the southwestern portion of 
the parcel of land. Together – this would result in a significant and permanent urbanisation of 
this attractive river meadow.  

 
8.33 Attention is also drawn to the fact that, in relation to an appeal in 2007 for a barn conversion 

adjacent the site (Headbrook Barn Appeal Reference APP/W1850/A/07/2038659), the Inspector 
commented on the significance of the area of land, stating that:  

  
“…I consider that it (the site) makes an important contribution to the attractive appearance and 
open rural setting of this part of Kington.” 

 
8.34 In dismissing the appeal on grounds, amongst others, relating to the detrimental impact of the 

development on the open character of the area, the Inspector considered the benefits of 
bringing the building back into use and providing an additional dwelling and said that: 

118



 

 

 
“…I consider that these benefits do not outweigh the harm that would be caused to an important 
open area of green space which contributes to the character and setting of Kington.” 
 

8.35 Although the proposal is different from that to which the appeal relates, it does serve to 
demonstrate the importance of the site in terms of its contribution to the setting of Kington. This 
has not changed in the intervening period and the setting of settlements carries significant 
weight. This is simply reinforced by the fact that a significant proportion of the town is 
designated as a conservation area, as set out within the preceding assessment. It is the view 
therefore, that the proposal does not respect the landscape character of the area and 
consequently fails to accord with Policy LD1 and KG1, as it does not protect or enhance the 
landscape setting of Kington. 

 
Impact on amenity of the site’s neighbours  
 

8.36 Policy SD1 of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure development does not give rise to any adverse 
impacts on the amenity of existing or future occupiers. For a residential scheme, this could be 
as a result of overlooking, overshadowing and loss of light. Additionally, during the construction 
phase there could be impacts in terms of noise, dust and other pollution.  

 
8.37 In this case, the application is made in outline with all matters reserved for further consideration 

as part of any reserved matters application. The site is essentially level but there is a closer 
inter-relationship with many of the dwellings along Headbrook, especially to the southwestern 
corner where development is proposed. The boundary treatments are limited which enables 
views from these dwellings across the site and river meadow. Although the right to a private 
view is not protected, and is not a material planning consideration, ensuring acceptable and 
adequate outlook certainly is.  

 
8.38 It is noted that following the previous Planning Committee resolution, the application confirmed 

their commitment to provide a continuous 5-metre wide area of land between numbers 31 to 43 
Headbrook to enable the gardens of these properties to be extended. This would be planted 
and landscaped in accordance with the details submitted as part of any forthcoming reserved 
matters application approved by the authority. This would be where this has been agreed with 
the respective property owners. This would be secured by the Section 106 agreement and is set 
out in the draft agreement submitted by the applicant. 

 
8.39 As such, it would be for any forthcoming reserved matters submission to suitably demonstrate 

how the quantum of proposed development could come forward without adversely impacting the 
relationship between the site and adjacent properties in an unacceptable manner. At this stage, 
the submitted indicative plans provide officers with sufficient comfort that this can be addressed 
at a later stage.  

 
8.40 Given the proximity of the site to residential areas, conditions requiring details of the 

construction process and how this would be managed, together with restrictions on hours of 
construction are recommended, should approval of this application be forthcoming.  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
Access and highway safety  
 

8.41 Policy MT1 of the Core Strategy relates to the highways impacts of new development, and 
requires that proposals demonstrate that the strategic and local highway network can absorb 
the traffic impacts of the development without adversely affecting the safe and efficient flow of 
traffic on the network or that traffic impacts can be managed to acceptable levels to reduce and 
mitigate any adverse impacts from the development. It also requires that developments are 
designed and laid out to achieve safe entrance and exit and have appropriate operational and 
manoeuvring space, having regard to the standards of the Council’s Highways Development 
Design Guide. This approach accords with the principles outlined in section 9 of the NPPF, in 
particular Paragraphs 108-9 which advises that it should ensure that safe and suitable access 

119



 

 

can be achieved for all users and that development should only be refused on highways 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highways safety. 

 
8.42 Whilst the application reserves all matters for future consideration, the opportunities for the 

provision of access are limited to a single point onto Headbrook. Concerns have been raised by 
some local residents about the impacts of a new access and increased vehicle movements on 
highway safety, particularly given that there are limited off-street parking opportunities for 
existing properties on Headbrook and that on-street parking could obscure visibility from the 
proposed new access. 

 
8.43 The application is supported by a Transport Statement (TS) that has been written on the basis 

of an initial proposal for a development of up to 60 dwellings. The Council’s Area Engineer 
(Highways) has commented in detail on this aspect of the submission and has also been 
mindful of the objections received. As the information provided by the TS is for 60 dwellings. It 
assumes 33 two-way trips at peak hourly periods. As the current proposal is for just over half 
the number of dwellings, it is considered reasonable to assume that it would generate 15 to 20 
two-way trips. The view of the Area Engineer (Highways) is that there is sufficient capacity and 
that the highway network should not be adversely affected by this increase in movement. 

 
8.44 The proposal is therefore considered acceptable when having regard to Policy MT1 of the Core 

Strategy and the principles as set out within Paragraph 111 of the NPPF. 
 
 Drainage and flooding  
 
8.45 Policy SD3 expects that new development comprises effective and sustainable water 

management in order to reduce flood risk. This includes ensuring that development proposals 
are located in accordance with the sequential test and exception tests where appropriate, 
consistent with the overarching guidance and principles as set out within the NPFP. 
Furthermore, development should include appropriate sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) to 
manage surface water, appropriate to the hydrological setting of the site. 

 
8.46 The majority of the letters of objection received express concerns about the potential for the 

development to increase the risk of flooding in areas immediately surrounding the application 
site. They note the proximity of development to the River Arrow and the fact that the land is a 
water meadow. 

 
8.47 When having regard to the Environment Agency’s ‘Flood Map for Planning’, it is indicated that 

the site is located outside of, but within very close proximity Flood Zones 2 and 3. This is 
confirmed by the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) submitted with the application and in the 
response from the BBLP Land Drainage Team.  

 
8.48 The submitted FRA clarifies the extent and depth of fluvial flood risk within the site boundary 

and considers the potential effects of climate change. It also identifies how flood risk to the 
proposed development has been minimised, how the development has been made safe, and 
how the impacts of the development on people and property elsewhere have been avoided. 

 
8.49 The FRA considers the risk of flooding on site from all sources, including surface water, 

groundwater, sewers, reservoirs and any other manmade sources. The FRA also assesses the 
potential effects of climate change on the probability and extent of the flood risk, this being 
shown on the plan in Figure 2.  

120



 

 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Figure 2 – Flood Risk Map  
 
8.50 The detailed consultation response from the Land Drainage Engineer confirms that the FRA 

includes an update of the Environment Agency’s hydraulic model of the River Arrow. The Flood 
Appraisal drawing (above) shows the flood extents derived from the updated model for the 1 in 
100yr +35%CC, 1 in 100yr +70%CC and the 1 in 1000yr return periods. The illustrative site plan 
drawing indicates the residential dwellings will be located outside of the modelled 1 in 1000 year 
flood extent. On this basis the proposed development does not displace flood water from the 
floodplain to other parts of the town during periods of heavy rainfall and is not considered to 
increase flood risk elsewhere. It demonstrates sequentially that the site has capacity to 
accommodate some development, outwith areas at risk of flooding. This would importantly also 
allow for the access from Spring Cottage.  

 
8.51 The submission also provides a draft strategy for surface water attenuation which confirms that 

runoff rates will not exceed existing Greenfield runoff rates. The BBLP Land Drainage Engineer 
is content with the assumptions made and confirms that there is no objection to the proposal 
subject to the imposition of conditions to require the submission of a detailed drainage strategy. 
This would factor into concerns with respect to water table but wider issues relating to impact on 
stability would be considered a Building Regulations issue. Therefore, in light of the fact that the 
area proposed for development indicatively lies outside of Flood Zones 2 and 3, the application 
of the Sequential Test as outlined in the NPPF, which requires ‘more vulnerable’ development 
to be steered away from areas at flood risk, is not required. Furthermore, although officers 
acknowledge that the former draft Kington Area NDP allocated for housing land that are at a 
significantly lower risk of flooding, no weight can be attributed to this given that the NDP does 
not form part of the development plan. 

 
8.52 On the basis of the consultation responses received, officers are satisfied that the proposal 

takes full account of the risk of flooding and that any potential impacts can be mitigated through 
the imposition of conditions and dealt with suitably at the reserved matters stage. The proposal 
is therefore considered to comply with Policy SD3 of the Core Strategy. 

 
 
 
 

121



 

 

Ecology  
 

8.53 Policy LD2 of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure that development proposals conserve, restore 
and enhance biodiversity assets of Herefordshire. Important sites, habitats and species shall be 
retain and protected in accordance with their status. Relevant guidance and principles are set 
out within the NPPF at Chapter 15. 

 
8.54 In terms of impacts on biodiversity and protected species, the presence of two particular riparian 

species; otter and white clawed crayfish, have been raised and confirmed as present along this 
stretch of the River Arrow. The application has been accompanied by an updated Ecology 
Assessment (November 2022) which reflects the time in which the application has been on hold 
rendering the previous 2018 submission out of date. The Ecology Team have reviewed the 
submission and note that there have been limited substantial changes since 2018.  

 
8.55 The submission is such which demonstrates that habitat creation along the river corridor could 

be achieved and secured through detail submitted at a later stage, either as part of the reserved 
matters or details to be submitted and required by conditions. The bulk of the development 
would fall outwith the flood zone and will lie some distance from the course of the River Arrow 
but that a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) should be produced to ensure 
no construction materials/fuels etc. will be placed near the buffer zone. This is a matter that 
could be secured by way of condition. 

 
8.56 On the basis of the above, it is considered  the potential impacts of development on ecology 

and biodiversity can be mitigated. Policy LD2 places a requirement on development to 
conserve, restore and enhance biodiversity assets and, whilst this is not entirely evident from 
this outline submission, officers are sufficiently content that further details as part of a reserved 
matters submission and by way of a detailed Biodiversity Enhancement Plan could adequately 
address this.  

 
Impact on the River Lugg / Wye Special Area of Conservation 

 
8.57 The application site lies within the hydrological catchment of the River Lugg, which forms part of  

the River Wye Special Area of Conservation (SAC) currently failing its conservation status as a  
result of phosphate levels within the river. 

 
8.58 As the competent authority, Herefordshire Council is required to complete an Appropriate  

Assessment of the implications of the plan or project for that site in view of that site’s 
conservation  objectives. Regulation 63 (5) directs that the competent authority may agree to 
the project (i.e.  grant planning permission) only after having ascertained that it will not 
adversely affect the  integrity of the European site. Regulation 63 (3) requires consultation and 
regard to representations made by the relevant statutory body, which in this case is Natural 
England. 

 
8.59 The Applicant in this case has utilised Natural England’s ‘Nutrient Neutrality Budget Calculator – 

River Lugg Catchment’ to determine that the development would create an annual phosphorus  
load of 4.47kg TP/year which must be managed against in order to avoid detriment to the River  
Lugg. The Council’s Built and Natural Environment Manager (Ecology) has quality checked and  
confirmed these figures as accurate. 

  
8.60 The comments received querying the existing land use calculations have been also been 

reviewed by Ecology. The land use element is intended to be an average of the last ten years 
so if the use is on and off (i.e that the site is not or has not always been used for dairy 
production), then it does not render the calculations as inaccurate. The coefficients in the model 
which generate the 0.48 existing use figure are set by Natural England and Ricardo, taking data 
from a large number of research studies and building in precautionary buffers in order to allow 
the model to be considered sufficiently certain for the purposes of HRA.  

 

122



 

 

8.61 Noting the above, the Applicant has applied for, and received, an allocation of phosphate credits 
from Herefordshire Council. In purchasing these credits, the Applicant will be funding the 
delivery of the wetland project which, in turn, will mitigate for the effects of their development 
and deliver net betterment to the Lugg. The amount of credits to be purchased must therefore 
be commensurate with the impact that requires mitigation. The Council’s Phosphate Credit 
Pricing and Allocation Policy April (2022) sets a charge of £14,000 per Kg of phosphate 
generated. Based upon the annual phosphorus load of 4.47kg TP/year, the Applicant is required 
to purchase credits to the value of £62,580. This would be secured by a Section 106 legal 
agreement. 

 
8.62 The Council’s Built and Natural Environment Team (Ecology) has completed an appropriate  

assessment. This assessment concludes, subject to appropriate mitigation being secured in the  
form of Phosphate Credits, that the proposal would not give rise to any adverse effects on the  
integrity of the River Lugg / River Wye SAC. It is therefore the view of the Council, as the 
competent authority, that the proposal is compliant with the Conservation of Habitats 
Regulations (2017) (as amended) and that there is no conflict with policies LD2 and SD4 of 
Core Strategy. 

 
8.63 This assessment has been submitted to Natural England for consideration and a response was  

received on 28 February 2023 to confirm that the statutory body agreed with the LPA’s  
conclusions. The proposed development would be made nutrient neutral by purchasing credits 
to a constructed wetland and Natural England agrees that with this nutrient neutrality in place, 
there  are no adverse effects on the integrity of the River Wye SAC. They hence offer no 
objection. 

 
Section 106 – Planning Obligations  

 
8.64 A development of this scale and nature attracts various financial contributions which would need 

to be secured via a Section 106 Agreement. The provision of a policy compliant level of 
affordable housing would also need to be secured within such an agreement. Consultation 
comments have been provided in respect of certain requirements, for example for health care 
provision and education. These are set out within the draft Section 106 agreement, which now 
also includes the mechanism for the securing of the requisite purchase and allocation of 
phosphate credits to mitigate the phosphate impacts of the development as above set out. 
While the Section 106 has been progressed, as the application is recommended for refusal, it 
has not been completed. Therefore, presently, in the absence of a completed Section 106 
agreement which is considered necessary to mitigate the impacts of the development, the 
proposal runs contrary to the requirements of Policy ID1 of the Core Strategy.  

 
Conclusion  

 
8.65 Policy SS1 of the Core Strategy and Paragraph 11 of the NPPF engage the presumption in 

favour of sustainable development and require that developments should be approved where 
they accord with the development plan. The NPPF encompasses the government’s view of what 
is meant by sustainable development in practice. The three themes, economic, environmental 
and social should be pursued jointly and simultaneously. 

 
8.66 The application sites lies immediately adjacent to Kington’s main built form and in simple terms 

therefore, is locationally sustainable. The town offers a range of local services and the site is 
readily accessible to all of these. The proposal would also contribute to a local under supply of 
housing within Kington (also enabling the provision of affordable housing), although it is 
recognised that less sustainable settlements within the wider rural Kington HMA have 
performed well.  

 
8.67 Notwithstanding the above, the proposal would give rise to harm to the significance of the 

Kington Conservation Area and it is not possible to reconcile the harm with the public benefits 
accruing from the development. Similarly, the proposal would unacceptably result in harm to the 

123



 

 

riverside meadow and the significance of such with respect to the rural setting of Kington and 
the wider landscape.  

 
8.68 In accordance with Paragraph 11 of the NPPF, planning decisions should apply a presumption 

in favour of sustainable development. In recognising that the Council are able to demonstrate a 
5 year housing land supply – the development plan is considered up-to-date for the purposes of 
decision-taking. In applying the aforementioned presumption, this means approving 
development that accords with an up-to-date development plan. In this case, the proposal has 
been found to conflict with the relevant policies as contained within the development plan, as 
discussed within the officer’s appraisal section of the report. Therefore, the proposed 
development cannot be taken as according with the development plan in the round and 
therefore, is considered to be representative of a unsustainable form of development.  

 
8.69 The application is therefore recommended for refusal for the reasons as set out below.  
 
RECOMMENDATION; - That planning permission be refused for the following reasons: 
 
1. The application site forms part of the rural, water meadow setting and the wider 

landscape setting which contribute to the significance of the Kington Conservation 
Area in terms of its aesthetic quality and its historic interest as a settlement.  The 
proposal will harm the significance of the Conservation Area by obscuring the links 
between its historic pattern of development and the River Arrow’s water meadows 
and diminishing the aesthetic value of its undeveloped, rural, green setting and the 
communal value of the conservation area that lies in this setting.  Whilst these 
impacts are considered to be less than substantial in terms of the significance of 
the conservation area as a heritage asset, they are towards the upper end of the 
less than substantial spectrum.  The local planning authority does not consider that 
there are other public benefits that outweigh the harm caused by permitting the 
development.  The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies LD1 and LD4 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and paragraph 202 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  
 

2. The application site is described as a Riverside Meadow in the Council’s Landscape 
Character Assessment.  These are landscapes that are typically absent of built 
development.  The introduction of a residential development in this location is 
contrary to the landscape character which also makes an important contribution to 
the attractive appearance and open rural setting of this part of Kington.  The 
proposals fail to demonstrate that they have been positively influenced by the 
landscape and townscape character of their surroundings.  Accordingly the 
proposal is contrary to Policy LD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

3. Therefore, in light of the environmental harm caused by permitting the development 
and in considering the three overarching objectives of sustainable development the 
local planning authority does not consider that the proposal represents a 
sustainable form of development.  The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy SS1 
of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and paragraph 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  
 

4. The application is not accompanied by a completed Section 106 Agreement which 
is considered necessary to mitigate the impacts of the development and to ensure 
the delivery of affordable housing.  In the absence of such an agreement the 
proposal is contrary to Policy ID1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy 
and the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document – Planning Obligations.  
 

  
 

124



 

 

Decision:  ..............................................................................................................................................  
 
Notes:  ..................................................................................................................................................  
 
 ..............................................................................................................................................................  
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Minutes of Planning and Regulatory Committee meeting – 18 December 2018 
Appendix 2 – Officer report to Planning and Regulatory Committee meeting – 18 December 2018 
Appendix 3 – Habitats Regulation Assessment 
 
Background Papers 
 
None identified. 
  

125



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made. 

  

APPLICATION NO:  181494   
 
SITE ADDRESS :  LAND ADJACENT TO SPRING COTTAGE, HEADBROOK, KINGTON, HR5 3DY 
 
Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.   Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Herefordshire Council.  Licence No: 100024168/2005 

 

126



 

Jones, Ollie Page 1 07/08/23 
Version number 1 

Agenda item 

181494 - LAND ADJACENT TO SPRING COTTAGE, 
HEADBROOK, KINGTON, HR5 3DY 

Proposed land for residential development and associated work together with 
public open space and local green space. 

Decision: 

The application was approved contrary to the Case Officer’s recommendation. 

Minutes: 

(Proposed land for residential development and associated work together with 
public open space and local green space.) 
  
(Councillor James fulfilled the role of local ward member and accordingly had 
no vote on this application.) 

The Development Manager gave a presentation on the application, and 
updates/additional representations received following the publication of the 
agenda were provided in the update sheet, as appended to these Minutes. 

In accordance with the criteria for public speaking, Mr M Fitton, of Kington 
Town Council spoke in opposition to the Scheme.  Mr B Brown, a local resident, 
spoke in objection.  Mr M Turner, the applicant, spoke in support. 

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the local ward member, 
Councillor TM James, spoke on the application. 

He made the following principal comments: 

        The question was whether the environmental harm outweighed the 
community benefit. 

        One benefit would be that land by the riverside would be opened up for 
community use.  There was a recreation area at the other end of the town 
but a lack of outdoor community space in the part of the town where the 
application site was. 

        Discussions were taking place as to whether some land could be made 
available for allotments.  There was a shortfall in provision in Kington. 

        In relation to the representations by Heritage England he observed that the 
conservation area was a considerable distance from the application site.  It 
could only be viewed from one small part of the conservation area. 

127



        There was considerable opposition to the draft Neighbourhood 
Development Plan and questions as to whether it was deliverable. 

        Part of the site had been included in the 2012 Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment (SHLAA). 

        The houses on Headbrook had no gardens.  The proposal might offer the 
opportunity to provide them with some garden space. 

In the Committee’s discussion of the application the following principal points 
were made: 

        The proposal was sustainable development close to an area of open space 
from which residents would benefit.  It was within walking distance of 
Kington.  It would provide housing that Kington needed, noting the concerns 
about the deliverability of the NDP. 

        The access was achievable. 

        There would be benefit if garden space could be provided for the houses 
currently backing onto the site. 

        The outdoor sports investment plan would provide welcome benefits for 
young people. 

        It was questioned whether there was an adverse effect on the conservation 
area. 

        The draft NDP stated that the whole site should be designated as Local 
Green Space.  The proposed development offered a way of providing 
affordable green space accessible to the public in a part of the town where 
there was currently no such provision. 

        The development would link the newer Eardisley Road development to the 
historic core of the Town. 

        The riverside was an important element of the town contributing to its 
character.  The site was unimproved meadow land, which was in short 
supply. 

        There were few letters in support of the application and a considerable 
number opposing it.  The Town Council, the draft NDP, the CPRE, Historic 
England, the Conservation Officer (Landscapes) and the Conservation 
Manager (Historic Buildings) objected to the proposal. 

        The draft NDP identified other housing sites and they should be explored 
before considering the application site. 

The Development Manager commented that the indicative layout suggested 
land would be given to existing properties on Headbrook but no assurance had 
been given and this could not be required by condition.  Similarly allotments 

128



may be provided as part of a reserved matters application but could not be 
required to be provided. 
The Lead Development Manager confirmed that if approved a S106 agreement 
would be required. 
The local ward member was given the opportunity to close the debate.  He 
commented that it was a difficult issue. The benefit of preserving a lovely 
meadow had to be set against the benefit of public access and provision of 
housing including affordable housing. 

Councillor Greenow proposed and Councillor Edwards seconded a motion that 
the application be approved on the grounds that it was consistent with policies 
SS1, SS2 OS2 and MT1, with a S106 agreement also to be provided.  The 
motion was carried with 11 votes in favour, 1 against and 1 abstention. 

  

RESOLVED:  That planning permission be granted on the grounds that 
the application was supported by policies SS1, SS2 OS2 and MT1, with 
approval to be subject to a S106 agreement to be prepared by officers 
after consultation with the Chairman and local ward member,  and officers 
named in the scheme of delegation to officers be authorised to detail the 
conditions and reasons put forward for approval. 

 

129





 

 

 

 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 

MEETING: PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 18 DECEMBER 2018 

TITLE OF 
REPORT: 

181494 - PROPOSED LAND FOR RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AND ASSOCIATED WORK TOGETHER WITH 
PUBLIC OPEN SPACE AND LOCAL GREEN SPACE AT LAND 
ADJACENT TO SPRING COTTAGE, HEADBROOK, KINGTON, 
HR5 3DY 
 
For: Mr & Mrs Turner per Mr Peter Draper, Yew Tree Cottage, 
Byford, Hereford, Herefordshire HR4 7LB 
 

WEBSITE 
LINK: 

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=181494&search=181494 
 

 

Reason Application submitted to Committee – Re-direction 

 
 
Date Received: 23 April 2018 Ward: Kington  

 
 

Grid Ref: 330174,256478 

Expiry Date: 30 July 2018 
Local Members: Cllr T James  
 
1. Site Description and Proposal 
 
1.1 The site is situated on the north side of Headbrook, east of Kington’s town centre and west of 

the A44 by-pass. It is currently in agricultural use but is adjacent to existing residential areas 
along Headbrook, Old Eardisley Road and Bridge Street. 

 
1.2 The site amounts to 3.83 hectares (9.46 acres)of land.  It is an irregularly shaped, flat area, 

bounded to the north by the River Arrow and to the south by dwellings that front onto 
Headbrook.  There are good views into and across the site from its edges and there are defined 
visual boundaries created by the existing development and the mature trees and hedgerows 
within and along the boundaries, especially to the north and east.   

 
1.3 Properties arranged in a linear fashion along Headbrook are all set in narrow plots with little in 

the way of residential curtilage to the rear.  The aerial photograph below shows the site and its 
immediate environs: 

 

131

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=181494&search=181494


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
 
1.4 The Council’s Landscape Character Assessment describes the site as part of a Riverside 

Meadow landscape character designation.  The description of such areas reads as follows: 
 

These are linear, riverine landscapes associated with a flat, generally well defined, alluvial 
floodplain, in places framed by steeply rising ground. They are secluded pastoral landscapes, 
characterised by meandering tree lined rivers, flanked by riverside meadows which are defined 
by hedge and ditch boundaries. Settlement is typically absent. Throughout these landscapes, 
the presence of extensive areas of seasonally grazed waterside meadows has in the past 
provided a strong sense of visual and ecological unity. These are landscapes that 
accommodate a degree of annual flooding, a factor which has been reflected in the traditional 
patterns of land use, the lack of settlement and development. 
 

1.5 There is an existing field accesses to the site; a narrow field gate between 45 and 47 
Headbrook.  This is considered to be inadequate to serve the proposed housing development 
and consequently the application site includes land immediately to the west of 45 Headbrook. 

 
1.6 There are no definitive Public Rights of Way into or across the site, but north of the site and 

river and within 300 to 400 metres are several local public footpaths and stretches of Offa’s 
Dyke Path and the Herefordshire Trail, both National and Local Long Distance Paths. The 
application submission highlights opportunity for new footpath and cycle routes to be created 
and linked into existing routes, and includes the possibility of a new footbridge across the River 
Arrow in the north-west corner of the land. 

 
1.7 At its closest the site is approximately within 300 metres of the town centre, which includes a 

post office, the bulk of shops, services and public transport facilities. The site is all within easy 
walking and cycling distance of the town centre and its full range of services.  

 
1.8 The application is made in outline and is for residential development, associated works and the 

provision of public open space and green space, with all matters reserved for future 
consideration.  The submission is accompanied by illustrative plans as shown below, and a 
suite of documents which include the following: 

 

 Design & Access Statement 

 Planning Statement 

 Housing Assessment 

 Design & Development Brief 

 Flood Risk Assessment (including a detailed Drainage Strategy) 

 Heritage Impact Assessment 

 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

132



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 Ecological Assessment 

 Transport Assessment  

 Heads of Terms 
 

Indicative site layout 

 
 
  
2. Policies  
 
2.1 Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy 
 

The following polcies are considered to be of relevance to this application: 
 
SS1 -  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
SS2 -  Delivery New Homes 
SS3 -  Ensuring Sufficient Housing Land Delivery 
SS4 -  Movement and Transportation 
SS6 -  Environmental Quality and Local Distinctiveness 
KG1 -  Development in Kington 
RA1 -  Rural Housing Distribution 
H1 -  Affordable Housing – Thresholds and Targets 
H3 -  Ensuring an Appropriate Range and Mix of Housing 
OS1 -  Requirement for Open Space, Sport and Recreation Facilities 
OS2 -  Meeting Open Space, Sport and Recreation Needs 
MT1 -  Traffic Management, Highway Safety and Promoting Active Travel 
LD1 -  Landscape and Townscape 
LD2 -  Bodiversity and Geodiversity 
LD3 -  Green Infrastructure 
LD4 -  Historic Environment and Heritage Assets 
SD1 -  Sustainable Design and Energy Efficiency 
SD3 -  Sustainable Water Manangement and Water Resources 
SD4 -  Waste Water Treatement and River Quality 
ID1 -  Infrastructure Delivery 
 

 
 

133



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
 Kington Area Neighbourhood Development Plan 
 
2.2 The Kington Area Neighbourhood Development Plan is post Regulation 16; its public 

consuultation period having expired on 14th November.   Details of examination are curently to 
be confirmed. At this stage the plan has moderate weight at the moment as there are ten 
unresolved objections following the regulation 16 consultation.  The policies that are of 
relevance to the determination of this application are considered to be as follows: 

 
 ENV1 – A Valued Natural Environment – Amongst other matters, this policy makes specific 

provision to: 
 

 protecting and enhance the River Arrow and the Back Brook from the impacts of 
development; 

 respect, protect and enhance important open spaces, views and the area’s landscape 
quality as identified in the Characterisation Assessment and the list of ‘Cherished’ 
Places 

 conserve, protect and enhance local habitats and areas of biodiversity value; 
 

ENV3 – A Valued Built Environment – The stated aim of this policy is to ensure that 
development proposals will be required to conserve, protect and where possible enhance the 
heritage assets and the wider historic environment within the neighbourhood area 
 
ENV 4 – Flood Risk & Drainage – Requires that new development takes appropriate account of 
flood risk and provides appropriate drainage arrangements. 
 
SB1 – Settlement Boundaries – Identifies a settlement booundary for Kington. The policy states 
that the town will seek to accommodate around 200 new dwellings and development proposals 
will be directed to sites that fall within this boundary. 
 
H1 – Housing Delivery Kington Town – Reinforces the need to deliver around 200 new homes 
and that these will be delivered on allocated sites, and within the settlement boundary. 
 
LGS1 – Local Green Spaces – Recognises the special recreational, wildlife, historic and setting 
value of certain areas, and their importance to the community.  The policy requires that these 
are to be protected from development and the list includes the application site. 
 
GI1 – Green Infrastructure – Advises that development proposals will be assessed for the 
contribution they make to the enhancement of biodiversity. 

 
2.3 A copy of the plan identifying particular designations, including the settlement boundary for 

Kington, allocated housing sites and green open spaces is shown below: 

  

 
 
 
 
 

134



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
 

  
National Planning Policy Framework 

 
2.4 The following sections of the NPPF are considered to be of relevance to this proposal: 
 

Section 2 -  Achieving sustainable development 
Section 4  -  Decision-making 
Section 5  -  Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
Section 9 -  Promoting sustainable transport 
Section 11  -  Making effective use of land 
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places 
Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Section 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 
2.5 The Core Strategy policies together with any relevant supplementary planning documentation 

can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:- 
 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted_core_strategy 

 
 
3. Planning History 
 
3.1 There is no planning history that relates specifically to this site 
 
 
 
 
 
 

135

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted_core_strategy


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
4. Consultation Summary 
 
 Statutory Consultations 
 
4.1 Welsh Water – Recommend Conditions and comment as follows: 
 

We have reviewed the information submitted as part of this application with particular focus on 
the Flood Risk Assessment Statement (HKB4) Ref PJD/pjda.HR.1020908.18 which indicates 
that foul water will drain to the public combined sewer and surface water will discharge to the 
nearby watercourse. 
 
We are aware of flooding concerns on the main road but our investigations have concluded that 
the root cause is not due to hydraulic overload on the sewer network. 
 
Therefore, if you are minded to grant planning permission we request that the following 
Condition is included within any subsequent consent: 
 
Condition 
Foul water from the development site shall be allowed to discharge to the public sewerage 
system and this discharge shall be made between manhole reference number SO60560422 
and SO30560529 as indicated on the extract of the Sewerage Network Plan attached to this 
decision notice. Thereafter, no surface water, land or highway water shall drain directly or 
indirectly to the public sewerage system. 
 
Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health 
and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment. 

 
4.2 Natural England – No objection. Comments as follows: 
 
 European site - River Wye SAC - No objection 
 

Natural England notes that your authority, as competent authority under the provisions of the 
Habitats Regulations, has undertaken an Appropriate Assessment of the proposal, in 
accordance with Regulation 63 of the Regulations. Natural England is a statutory consultee on 
the Appropriate Assessment stage of the Habitats Regulations Assessment process. 
 
Your appropriate assessment concludes that your authority is able to ascertain that the proposal 
will not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any of the sites in question. Having 
considered the assessment, and the measures proposed to mitigate for all identified adverse 
effects that could potentially occur as a result of the proposal, Natural England advises that we 
concur with the assessment conclusions, providing that all mitigation measures are 
appropriately secured in any permission given. 
 
River Lugg SSSI – No objection 
 
Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development will 
not damage or destroy the interest features for which the site has been notified and has no 
objection. 

 
4.3 Historic England – Objects to the application on heritage grounds.  Their comments are as 

follows: 

 
Summary  
The outline application affects land within the setting of Kington Conservation Area that 
makes a positive contribution to the conservation area's significance in terms of its historic, 

136



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

aesthetic and communal value. Historic England objects to the application on the grounds 
that the supporting information does not comply with paragraph 128 of the NPPF and the 
design, amount, location and density of the development will result in harm to the 
conservation area that is unjustified in terms of paragraphs 131, 132, 134 and 137.  
 
Historic England Advice  
Kington Conservation Area encompasses the historic town of Kington established as a 
borough in the twelfth century. The heart of the conservation area is characterised by a 
typically tight urban form deriving from the layout of medieval burgage plots along the High 
Street. This area has dense two and three storey buildings set at the back of pavement 
providing a high degree of enclosure to the street and funnelled views with a rich visual 
texture of historic building materials. A similar plot pattern characterises Bridge Street but 
the density of development is significantly lower and gaps between buildings and views 
through carriage arches allow garden greenery and trees to come through into the 
streetscape experience.  
 
The form of the landscape around the town is such that setting contributes much to the 
significance of the conservation area. Kington is located between and contained by the 
course of two rivers, the Arrow and Back Brook which flow from the Radnorshire Hills to the 
west to form a confluence just east of the town. The rivers cut through higher ground to the 
north, Bradnor Hill, and west, Hergest Ridge and these hills form a prominent rural setting 
for the conservation area. At the end of Bridge Street the flood meadows of the River Arrow 
that form the town’s natural southern boundary make themselves apparent particularly to 
the southeast where views from a public footpath have a distinctly rural feel and layers of 
trees, open space and topography limit the impact of linear development on the north side 
of Headbrook and the more substantial new development on rising ground to its south side. 
The application site forms part of the rural, water meadow setting and the wider landscape 
setting which contribute to the significance of the conservation area in terms of its aesthetic 
quality, its historic interest as a settlement developed within the natural constraints of the 
river confluence and its communal value.  
 
While the detailed impact of the proposed development cannot be assessed due to the 
outline nature of the application, it is clear to Historic England that the scale and amount of 
development represents a change in setting that will impact on the significance of the 
conservation area. The application should therefore be assessed against the policy 
contained in Section 12 of the NPPF which places great weight on the conservation of 
heritage assets and most particularly against paragraphs128, 131, 132, 134 and 137. The 
Historic England publication ‘The setting of Heritage Assets, Historic Environment Good 
Practice Advice in Planning Note 3’ provides relevant advice on the identification of setting 
and assessment of the impact of change within it on significance.  
 
Historic England is concerned that, for a number of reasons, the Design and Access 
Statement submitted in support of the application does not meet the requirements of 
paragraph 128. It relies on a compartmentalised landscape assessment and views analysis 
that does not draw out the contribution of setting to the historic, aesthetic and communal 
value of the conservation area and does not follow the staged approach to assessment set 
out in our guidance referred to above. We are also concerned that, in its outline form, the 
application does not demonstrate the design quality required by paragraphs 131 and 137.  
On the basis of the information submitted Historic England considers that, while the 
proposals have sought to reduce impact by locating housing in the southwest corner of the 
site, the amount, density and location of the development and loss of green space will result 
in an urbanisation of the water meadows that will change their character considerably. 
Taken with the existing development on the south side of Headbrook, the aggregative 
amount of development in the setting of the conservation area will increase considerably. 

137



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

We consider that this will harm the significance of the conservation area by obscuring the 
links between its historic pattern of development and the Arrow’s water meadows and 
diminishing the aesthetic value of its undeveloped, rural, green setting and the communal 
value of the conservation area that lies in this setting. 
 
We note that the Kington NDP identifies land between Headbrook and the River Arrow as 
important green space forming part of the river corridor that contributes to the character and 
setting of Kington Town and that housing would lead to loss of its rural character. Historic 
England concurs with this conclusion. The NDP indicates that potential for alternative sites 
to meet the town’s housing needs exists and in this context we would suggest that the harm 
caused by the proposal to the significance of the conservation area is unjustified in terms of 
paragraphs 132 and 134.  
 
Recommendation 
  
Historic England objects to the application on heritage grounds.  
We do not consider that the application meets the requirements of the NPPF, in particular 
paragraph numbers 128, 131, 132, 134 and 137. In determining this application you should 
bear in mind the statutory duty of section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas and section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 to determine planning applications in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

  
 Internal Council Consultations 
 
4.4 Transportation Manager 
  
 Site Location and Access 

The application site is located on Land adjacent to Spring Cottage Headbrook Kington. The 
proposal sets out the creation of a new access through land between 43 and 45 Headbrook 
which is within the ownership of the developer. The proposed development site lies in an area 
designated in the emerging Kington Neighbourhood Development Plan as a Local Green 
Space. Headbrook road is subject to 30mpg speed limit however the 85th percentile speed in the 
transport assessment for the development shows speeds at 33mph.  

 
The new access would adjoin the existing public access. A transport assessment sets out the 
proposed access and associated works. It must be ensured that the access does not deviate in 
location from this point as access from another location, between 45 and 47 Headbrook for 
instance, would not be appropriate.  

 
There is a bus service near the site, including hourly services which connect Hereford with 
Llandrindod Wells via Kington.  
 
Traffic Generation 
The information provided by the transport assessment is for 60 dwellings. Using this as a 
baseline, 33 two-way trips were associated with the proposal. As the current proposal is 
indicative of approximately half the number of dwellings, then it is logical to assume that half the 
number of two-way trips will be associated with this site. The highway network should not be 
adversely affected by this increase in movement.  

 
Visibility 
The visibility splays set out in the transport assessment (51m) in line with the 85th percentile 
speeds are appropriate and achievable at the proposed location of the access.   

 

138



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

Drainage 
The developer should ensure that run off does not flow to the public highway. 

 
Waste Collection  
A waste collection strategy should be provided by the applicant.  

 
Policy 
Section 106 contributions are mentioned in the planning statement and the developer is happy 
to contribute an average of £9,284 per dwelling.  

 
As a new public road and footway is proposed, the developer should adhere to section 38 
highways adoption agreement and section 278 of the Highways Act 278.  

 
Conclusion 
The transportation department has no objections to this application, subject to conditions 
 

4.5 Conservation Manager (Landscapes) – Objects to the application on the following grounds: 
 

The proposed development site lies in an area designated in the emerging Kington 
Neighbourhood Development Plan as a Local Green Space. Even though the NDP is not in an 
advanced stage, this green space should be protected as a valued community and 
environmental resource for the future. 

 
The proposed development would deplete the size of the existing Riverside Meadows adjacent 
to the River Arrow flood plain. This existing green space is an historic, aesthetic and 
communally valued open space. This depletion of existing environmental, historical and locally 
valued aesthetic would therefore not contribute or enhance the natural, historical and locally 
valued landscape. 

 
This proposal is adjacent to the River Arrow flood plain. With climate change there is the 
potential to exacerbate the present flood issues and water quality issues in this area with this 
proposed development. 

 
4.6 Conservation Manager (Historic Buildings) – Objects to the application and comments as 

follows: 
 
 The River Arrow makes a strong visual and historic contribution to the significance of the 

Conservation Area. Historically this is a primary reason for the Town being in this location, the 
crossing point allowed for traders to meet and also the means for a Mill, tanneries and other 
industries to develop. In terms of the character of the Conservation Area there are key views 
from the Bridge to the South of the town, looking East and from the East towards the Town.  It is 
the view from the Conservation Area which would be most affected by the proposals, in 
particular the proposed housing towards the north of the site. The transition from Headbrook to 
the River Arrow Corridor is an important aspect of views from the Conservation Area. Those 
views from the south extremity of the town looking directly south should not be entirely 
discounted, although it is noted that this is an area of more modern housing and not within the 
Conservation Area. 
The corridor of the River Arrow makes a strong contribution to the setting of the Conservation 
Area and the housing proposed to the North of the site  would cause less than substantial harm 
to this setting. Policy 196 of the NPPF would apply. 

 
4.7 Conservation Manager (Archaeology) – No objection 
 
4.8 Conservation Manager (Ecology) – No objection subject to conditions 
 

139



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

I note my colleague has completed the HRA assessment process for this satisfactorily.  With 
regard to the ecological assessment, I welcome the updated survey which finds much remains 
unchanged.  However, the presence of two riparian species (otter and white clawed crayfish) 
have been raised and confirmed as present along this stretch of the R. Arrow.  I believe the 
plans to be ultimately adequate in habitat creation along the stream corridor here and so good 
water quality and lack of disturbance will be of utmost importance to maintain before and after 
construction.  The bulk of the development will fall outside the flood plain and will lie some 
distance from the course of the river but a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) should be produced to ensure no construction materials/fuels etc. will be placed near 
the buffer zone.  Except for planting there should be no need to enter this buffer zone during 
construction.  Certainly no heavy machinery should be allowed the CEMP should clearly 
designate this zone as fenced off from the rest of the site.  I do not believe it is possible, 
enforceable or even reasonable to adopt an exclusion zone around the river post-construction 
but site development should in no way impede the use of the river by these two species 
including barrier installations, lighting or bank access points.  If the footbridge across the 
proposed in the Design and Access Statement is intended as part of this application, then 
details of construction must be submitted as part of the approval and accommodated in the 
species’ mitigation.. 

 
In addition, the recommendations of the ecological report should be encompassed within a 
ecology mitigation and enhancement plan.  This should include a programme of Reasonable 
Avoidance Measures for two species above.  I would also advise that information boards should 
be installed as part of the interpretation and advisory element of enhancement highlighting the 
features living adjacent to such a spectacular biodiversity resource.  The signs should also 
indicate controls on disturbance which people should exercise (such as by dogs, vegetation 
damage and any water-sports intended). 

 
4.9 Housing Officer – No objection and comments as follows: 
 

I have reviewed the above outline planning application and would advise that the applicant is 
meeting the requirement to provide 35% affordable housing. Local connection in relation to the 
affordable units would need to be included within the S106 and the units would need to be 
tenure neutral and will integrated within the open market units. 

 
The proposed layout for the open market and affordable units are only indicative and I would 
advise that the exact mix and tenure for both, needs to be agreed prior to the submission of any 
reserved matters application.  Therefore, I would look for a condition to be applied to the outline 
planning permission to ensure that this happens. 

 
4.10 Parks & Countryside Officer 
 

The illustrative site plan shows on-site POS /SUDS areas as detailed in both the accompanying 
Planning Statement and Design and Access Statement.   

 
The POS comprises smaller ancillary areas of play and public open space within the housing 
areas and a larger green space area which is in the flood plain and bounds the river corridor.  
The total amount is shown as 1.8ha (4.5 acres) and covers over half of the application site.  
That said, it is understood from the Planning Statement that should this application go forward 
the applicant is considering a future phase subject to EA consultation which would potentially 
mean 0.5ha (1.3acres) of this land would be used for housing.  

 
Taking this into account the applicant has exceeded the policy requirements for POS as 
outlined above. The illustrative site plan shows 33 houses.  For a development of up to 33 
houses and an occupancy rate of 2.3 (population 75.9) the developer would be required to 
provide as a minimum of 0.09ha (900sq m) of on-site green infrastructure comprising:  

 

140



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 0.03 ha (300sq m) of Public Open Space @ 0.4ha per 1000 population 
 

 0.06ha (600sq m) of Children's play @ 0.8ha per 1000 population: of this 0.018ha 
(180sq m) should be formal play @ 0.25ha per 1000 population   

 
However the land does not make provision for outdoor sports and this is supported.  An off-site 
contribution towards Outdoor Sports will be sought based on the Playing Pitch Assessment for 
Kington and the Outdoor Sports Investment Plan as described below.  

 
It is noted that this is an outline application and the illustrative proposal may change if the 
application progresses to reserved matters and the areas shown as POS may not necessarily 
appear as shown in a subsequent detailed proposal.  Whilst it is recognised that the provision 
far exceeds policy requirement the site doe provide an opportunity to create an impressive area 
of open space. Planning for healthier spaces is good practice and as the plan develops any on 
site provision should be well designed and of a usable size to offer a range of recreation 
opportunities and experiences appropriate to the site and location. Open space needs to be well 
connected and safe and accessible networks of green spaces should incorporate both walking 
and cycling opportunities where possible.  The applicant’s approach to provide POS for both 
recreation and biodiversity/wildlife, formal and informal children’s play space  including a 
dedicated play area and recreational activity, together with a managed environmental/ wildlife 
zone based around the River Arrow’s tributary brook is supported. 
  
Open space needs to be well connected incorporating both pedestrian and cycling 
opportunities. The applicant has indicated that the site will be fully integrated into the 
neighbourhood via existing and new public routes for walking and cycling and possibly a new 
footbridge across the river towards the north-west of the land, which could connect into existing 
town walkways and this too is supported.   

 
Any POS and children’s play areas should be overlooked and housing should be orientated to 
provide natural surveillance.  Given the size of development proposed the policy requirement for 
formal play provision is small at 180sq m.  In this instance, it may be more appropriate to 
provide more natural play opportunities in keeping with the nature of the proposed POS.  

 
It is noted that the SuDS will be designed to incorporate balancing ponds into the future open-
space and landscaping schemes as appropriate. SuDs areas if designed accordingly to take 
account of health and safety and standing water issues can provide good opportunities for both 
informal recreation and biodiversity. 

 
Adoption and Maintenance: Suitable management and maintenance arrangements will be 
required to support any provision of open space and associated infrastructure within the open 
space in line with the Council’s policies. This could be a management company which is 
demonstrably adequately self-funded or will be funded through an acceptable on-going 
arrangement; or through local arrangements such as a Trust set up for the new community for 
example.  There is a need to ensure good quality maintenance programmes are agreed and 
implemented and that the areas remain available for public use 

 
The Council’s SuDS Handbook provides advice and guidance including national guidance on 
the inclusion of SuDs on new development.  The applicant should seek further advice from the 
Council at the earliest opportunity. 

 
Off site requirements for outdoor sports:  It is noted that the applicant will negotiate with  
Herefordshire Council the s.106 requirements arising from this development  as part of the 
overall planning application discussions.   

 
An off-site contribution will be sort in accordance with the NPPF and evidence bases:  Kington 
Area Playing Pitch Assessment 2012 and the Outdoor Sports Investment Plan 2018.  

141



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
The Outdoor Sports Investment Plan, has been prepared by a partnership of Sport England, 
Herefordshire Council, the National Governing Bodies (NGB) for cricket, football, hockey and 
rugby and the County Sports Partnership.  It is annually reviewed and provides up to date 
information on clubs and facilities in accordance with Sport England’s requirements to review 
the Playing Pitch Assessment.   A list of projects for cricket, football, rugby and hockey are 
included which are considered to be sustainable and deliverable in helping to meet the needs of 
both the existing and future populations (future proofed to 2031). All projects have the support 
of the relevant NGB in both their regional and local facilities development plans. 

 
Summary of Projects for Kington: 

 
Football: Kington Town Football Club: used by Kington Town Football club both senior and 
junior teams.  
 

 Quality Deficiency: Improvements to the existing changing facilities required. Its quality 
rating has deteriorated to below a quality required by Sport England since 2011.     

 Support: The FA has rated this as a priority project to enable the club to develop and to 
move up the football pyramid.  

 
Cricket: Kington Recreation Ground: Used by Kington Cricket Club both senior and junior 
teams.  
 

 Quality Deficiency: improvements to the facility including the 3 lane nets required.  Its 
quality rating has deteriorated to below a quality required by Sport England since 2011.    

 Support: The HCB supports this project.  
 

The methodology used to assess requirements arising from new development is considered to 
be CIL compliant and contributions are calculated using the following methodology: 
  

 Total Investment costs: £285,000:  

 Total housing planned for Kington (Core Strategy): 200 new houses  

 Cost per market house) £1,425 
 

 Total off-site contribution arising from this development of 21 market houses: 
£29,925 

 

4.11 Land Drainage Engineer –  No objection subject to conditions.  Comments as follows: 

 
We have no objections to this outline planning application but recommend that the Applicant 
submits the following information within any subsequent reserved matters application: 
 

 Amended calculations of the greenfield runoff rates and proposed discharges rates and 
attenuation volumes using FEH methods and 2013 rainfall data for the site area included 
within the planning application; 

 Results of infiltration testing at the location(s) and proposed depth(s) of any proposed 
infiltration structure(s), undertaken in accordance with BRE Digest 365 methodology; 

 Confirmation of groundwater levels to demonstrate that the invert level of any 
soakaways or unlined attenuation features can be located a minimum of 1m above 
groundwater levels; 

 Detailed drawings of proposed features such as attenuation features and outfall 
structures; 

 Confirmation that the attenuation pond will not situated above ground; if it is proposed to 
be situated above ground level the Applicant must provide an assessment of breach. 

142



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 Consideration of the risk of water backing up the drainage system from any proposed 
outfall and how this risk will be managed without increasing flood risk to the site or to 
people, property and infrastructure elsewhere, noting that this also includes failure of 
flap valves; 

 Description and drawing demonstrating the management of surface water runoff during 
events that may temporarily exceed the capacity of the drainage system; 

 A detailed foul water drainage strategy showing how foul water from the development 
will be disposed of and illustrating the location of key drainage features; 

 Confirmation where the proposed connection into the foul sewer network will be and if 
access to third part land will be required. 

 If discharge to the public sewerage system is proposed, confirmation that this has been 
agreed with the relevant authority; 

 If access or works to third party land is required, details of these works and agreement in 
principal with necessary landowners/consenting authorities to cross third party land 
and/or make a connection to the proposed watercourse/sewer; 
 

If the results of infiltration testing indicate that infiltration will provide a feasible means of 
managing surface water runoff, an alternative drainage strategy must be submitted to the 
Council for review and approval. Best practice SUDS techniques should be considered and we 
promote the use of combined attenuation and infiltration features that maximise infiltration 
during smaller rainfall events. 

 

4.12 Environmental Health Officer (noise) – Qualified comment 

  
The proposal has not yet taken into account the acoustic environment in which the houses are 
proposed to be built and I note that there are alternative site layout plans which could have 
different noise exposure risks. I am of the opinion that these risks are a relevant factor when 
determining site layout. 
 
The applicant is requested to undertake a noise risk assessment using Stage 1 of the ProPG 
guidance. This would capture the noise levels across the site and will be useful in assisting in 
the determination of the proposed site layout. Should the noise risks be more than negligible, 
which is likely at the eastern boundary of the site, the application is also requested to follow 
Stage 2 of the ProPG guidance and supply an Acoustic Design Statement. 

 
 
5. Representations 
 
5.1 Kington Town Council 
 

 Kington Town Council considered this application at its meeting on June 4th and resolved to 
object to the application for the reasons detailed below. 

 
1. The Council's views on the application are informed by its role in preparing the Kington Area 

Neighbourhood Plan (KANP) and the central role it has played in identifying housing 
development sites. This role is a formal requirement of the Herefordshire Core Strategy which 
delegates the task to the Town Council. (Core Strategy. Policy KGl. Development in Kington) 

 
2. The KANP completed the Regulation 14 stage in 2017 which included consultations which fully 

"demonstrated engagement and consultation with the community" (KGl).  In light of the 
consultations the Plan has been revised and in the form of the Draft Regulation 16 Plan is ready 
to be submitted to Herefordshire Council for the final stages of the Neighbourhood Plan 
process. 

 
 
 

143



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

3. In preparing the draft KANP, the Town Council carried out detailed assessment of the sites 
throughout the town in relation to the criteria in KGl. In this task it received wide ranging 
professional and technical support through grant provision provided by  ocality as agents for the 
National Government's Neighbourhood Planning policies. Our objection to the application is 
based on the extensive assessment we undertook to fulfil the delegation of site selection to 
Kington Council (KGl). 

 
4. Local Green Space - The Kington Area Neighbourhood Plan has designated all the land south 

of the River Arrow at Headbrook as Local Green Space. The designation has had the strong 
support of the community . Together with the land on the opposite side of the river it has been 
described as a 'green lung' linking the eastern area of the town to the western end with its green 
riversides. As an open green space it is perceived to contribute to the spatial character and form 
of the town, providing a green entry to the town and a wildlife habitat for birds including owls, 
bats and riverside trees and plants. 

 
5. Green Infrastructure - Herefordshire Council's Green Infrastructure Study ( 2010) shows this 

land north of Headbrook as part of a Local Strategic Corridor embracing the south side of the 
town. A Local Strategic Corridor is defined in the Study as "aconnected linear component of 
green infrastructure around the town",thus echoing in more technical terms the views of local 
people. The Study contains a description of the land as being "wet grassland and wet woodland 
that should be preserved and enhanced" . 

 
Core Strategy Policy LD3 Green Infrastructure states that "Development proposals should 
protect, manage and plan for the preservation of existing and delivery of new green 
infrastructure...".  By its nature a housing development on this land will be unable to comply with 
this policy since it will building on the green infrastructure, thereby removing it and impacting on 
the adjacent remaining land. 

 
6. Biodiversity - Core Strategy Policy LD2 Biodiversity and geodiversity states "Development 

proposals should conserve, restore and enhance the biodiversity ...". 
 

Para 5.3.12 "Wildlife is not confined to designated sites and many features serve as wildlife 
corridors, links and stepping stones. Ecological networks are vital to the survival and dispersal 
of species. Herefordshire 's biodiversity makes a major contribution to the economy, supporting 
the tourism sector and providing a healthy and attractive environment for its residents." 

 
The land of this application is not an AONB or SSS! but it is an important feature of the Kington 
Town landscape and losing this area of biodiversity will diminish the local pool of ecological 
habitats by urbanising the riverside biodiversity. The application does not comply with LD2. 

 
A development of 33 or so dwellings will inevitably lead to 60 or more vehicles coming and 
going on this land. This is low-lying area where it is likely that air currents,winds etc are not 
going to ensure rapid dispersal of emissions such as nitrous oxides.The cumulative impact of 
N02 is well documented as being harmful to butterflies, bees and other insects as well as a 
range of plant life. The likelihood is a deterioration in any remaining green space adjacent to the 
development rather than enhancement . 

 
7. Landscape and Townscape - The application does not comply with Core Strategy Policy LDl 

which requires that "development proposals should demonstrate that the character of the 
landscape and townscape has positively influenced the design, scale, nature and site selection, 
protection and  enhancement of the setting of settlements...". 

 
The application site borders the Conservation Area and buildings therein of an historically 
important small Market Town. The site area is part of the setting of the Town.  No evidence is 
presented as to how the development proposed will meet the objective of LDl. 

 

144



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

It does not comply with NPPF paras 132 and 134 which are concerned with the settings of 
designated heritage assets; settings are important components of the value of historic buildings. 
The site where development is proposed is a part of the setting of the heritage assets of the 
Town.  Any alteration to the setting such as new build development will inevitably harm the 
setting and thereby the assets themselves. It would lead to a loss of space and a diminution of 
the rural setting of the Town. 

 
8. Requirement to Meet the Core Strategy Housing Target for Kington - Any public benefits that 

might accrue from developing housing on this area can be obtained from other sites that are 
identified in the draft Neighbourhood Plan which fully meets the target set for housing provision 
(200 dwellings) and which more adequately meet the requirements of KGl. 

 
9. Relationship of the Application to the draft Settlement Boundary as defined in the draft plan - 

The implication of development on various sites in the town was assessed at the Regulation 14 
stage. This led to a revision of the current UDP Settlement Boundary to exclude the application 
site and its counterpart to the north of the Arrow from within the settlement . This more clearly 
identify their long term value as a green setting for the town as open country on the town's 
border. 

 
10. Previous Site Planning History - The identification of the application site as Local Green Space 

in the KANP is in line with previous planning guidance for Kington. 
 

The Leominster District Local Plan (1999) which included Kington, strongly emphasised the 
importance of the site for the setting of the town.  "There should be no development on the river 
meadows of the Arrow ond Back Brook which form essential elements in the setting for Kington 
as defined on the map. Landscape proposals will be encouraged which would enhance the river 
meadows, enable recent developments tofit more sensitively into the town's setting, encourage 
a diversity of wildlife and promote a riverside walk. 
 
These river meadows contribute significantly ta the character and setting of the town and should 
be protected from intrusive development in particular in accordance with Pa/icy A.25 Much of 
the area is subject ta serious flooding or is described as flood prone and so is not suitable for 
development in accordance with Policy A15. The River Arrow is designated a SWS by the 
Herefordshire Nature Trust " 

 
 The Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan (2007) sustained this policy by designating the 
whole site as "Protection of Open Areas and Green Space" (Inset Map Kingl) 

 
A portion of the site was included in Herefordshire's 2012 Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA) but identified as "Land that had Significant Constraints". As a result,the 
site was re-assessed at the first stage of the Neighbourhood Plan process.The Town Council 
did consider whether a small development of 15 houses might be appropriate but unanimously 
resolved (December 2015) that the importance of the site as part of the green setting for the 
town militated against any development and that the whole site should be designated as Local 
Green Space. This decision has been fully supported in all subsequent public consultations on 
the Plan and confirmed by Kington Town Council when it signed off the Draft Regulation 16 Plan 
in December 2017. 

 
11. Ambiguities in the Application - The extensive documentation provided by the applicant provides 

confusing information about the level of development proposed which vary from 33 to 70 
dwellings in the text and attached site plans. 

 
12. Requirement for More Detailed Site Assessment - Though this is an outline application, we 

would strongly suggest, given the potential impact of the proposed development on the setting 
and environment of the town, that much more detailed information is required at this stage on: 

 

145



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 Landscape assessment including issues of sensitivity and capacity site biodiversity given 
frequent reports of bats and owls on the site, site archaeology,in view of other investigations in 
the Arrow Valley impact on the Conservation Area, (See Historic England's objection for detail 
on this) impact on the river systems (the Arrow,the Lugg SSSI and the Wye Special Area of 
Conservation) of waste water, 

 
Impact on the sewerage system. The following guidance provide to us by Welsh Water in 
response to our Regulation 14 Consultation should be noted: 

 
Wastewater treatment works (WwTW) - Kington's WwTW is currently overloaded and there are 
no improvements planned within Welsh Water's current Capital Investment Programme (AMP6 -
1st April 2015-31st March 2020). An improvement scheme willform part of their submission to 
the Industry Regulators for the next Capital Investment Programme (AMP7 - lst April 2020-31st 
March 2025). As such, should a developer wish to progress this site in advance of their future 
Regulatory Investment they will need to fund the improvements themselves, firstly by 
commissioning Welsh Water to undertake a feasibility study of the WwTW, before entering into 
a Section 106 Agreement (of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990) to pay for the 
improvements required. 

  
 A more detailed flood risk assessment by the Environment Agency. 
 
 The following additional comments have also been submitted: 
 

 As was specified in the Council’s objection to this application, the Kington and Area 
Neighbourhood Development plan is now nearing the Regulation 16 Stage. The Plan has been 
fully revised in relation to the Regulation 14 Consultation and the voluminous consultation 
appendices have had a final edit.  The completed Plan will be submitted to Herefordshire 
Council’s NDP Team on Wednesday Sept 19th.  As previously identified the Plan proposes that 
the whole of application site should be designated Local Green Space and identifies a range of 
other sites which will fully meet the housing allocation for Kington specified in Herefordshire’s 
Core Strategy.   These policies have been strongly supported in the various consultations during 
the development of the NDP and we trust they will be given full consideration by the Planning 
Committee when this application is considered. 

 
5.2 Lyonshall Parish Council – Observe that consideration should be taken regarding the extra 

traffic using the Headbrook road, as this is the main entrance to Kington for locals living East of 
the town. 

 
5.3 Wye Valley NHS Trust – Request a financial contribution through the completion of a Section 

106 Agreement and comments as follows: 
 
 In the circumstances, it is evident from the above that the Trust’s request for a contribution is 

not only necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms it is directly related to 
the development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. The 
contribution will ensure that Health services are maintained for current and future generations 
and that way make the development sustainable. 

 
5.4 CPRE – Object to the application.  In summary the points raised are as follows: 
 

 The proposed development would harm the setting of Kington Conservation Area which 
lies immediately adjacent to the site. 

 The site has been identified as a green space in the emerging Kington NDP 

 Should this application be allowed then it would set a precedent for further development 
in green space with the potential to hugely damage the setting of this important historic 
town 

146



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 It is recognized that Herefordshire Council has not identified a 5 year housing land 
supply and that the Local Plan may be considered out of date thus invoking paragraph 
14 of the NPPF, the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  

 However, for the reasons outlined above this development proposal is not sustainable, 
conflicts with several specific NPPF policies and in line with the final clause of paragraph 
14 should be refused: “For decision-taking this means where the development plan is 
absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date granting permission unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against policies in this Framework taken as a whole or specific policies 
in this Framework indicate development should be restricted”. 

 
5.5 Twenty two letters of objection have been received in response to the statutory consultation 

period.  In summary the comments made are as follows: 
 
 Flood Risk 

 Parts of the field are prone to flooding 

 If the area is surfaced, where will excess water go? 

 Development could well result in existing properties in the locality flooding, as well as 
those proposed. 

  
 Ecology / Biodiversity 

 The area is a haven for wildlife, including red kites, herons and bats 

 The land is outstandingly beautiful and an important wildlife habitat; a ‘green lung’ for the 
town 

 There is a duty to preserve and conserve the natural environment.  This in an ancient 
meadow and once lost, it can never be replaced 

 
 Highway Safety 

 Concerns around the safety of the proposed access off Headbrook.  

 Access is too narrow and vision will be obscured by parked vehicles 

 Not a suitable road system to support any more housing 
 
 Compliance with Kington area NDP 

 The application does not accord with the Kington Area Neighbourhood Development 
Plan 

 The NDP clearly defines the whole of Headbrook meadow as green space 

 Proposals were put forward in the NDP to allow for 15 dwellings on the site.  The town 
council voted unanimously to exclude it as a potential housing site 

 The NDP has established sufficient potential housing sites to meet its targets for growth 
 
 Other Issues 

 There are no employment opportunities in the area 

 Doctors surgery and local schools are all at capacity 

 Earlier plans have all concluded that the site should not be built on. What has changed 
now? 

 Barn conversion scheme adjacent to the site was dismissed on appeal with an Inspector 
saying it was ‘inappropriate’ to build on the site 

 Construction of affordable housing for elderly people would free up existing housing for 
families 

 The sewerage system in Kington is not able to cope with the increased amount of 
housing proposed 

 
 
 
 

147



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

5.6 Four letters of support have also been received.  In summary the points raised are as follows: 
 

 Kington is under pressure to provide new homes and this is the best proposal put 
forward 

 The town would benefit from the opening up of a riverside walk  

 Development would be ‘in’ town and not looming over it from some higher point 

 The NDP is still some way from being adopted 

 There has been extensive research as part of the application submission with respect to 
flooding 

 The 2011 Herefordshire Strategic Land Availability Assessment deemed that the site 
was suitable, in part, for housing, unlike other land put forward by the NDP 

 Home owners will be able to walk to local shops, schools and other services 

 The proposal provides new public open space 
 
5.2 The consultation responses can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following 

link:- 
 https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=181494&search=181494 
 

 
Internet access is available at the Council’s Customer Service Centres:- 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage 

 
6. Officer’s Appraisal 
 

Policy context and Principle of Development  
 
6.1  Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states as follows:  
 

“If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.”  

 
6.2 In this instance the adopted development plan is the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy 

(CS). It is also noted that the site falls within the Kington Neighbourhood Area, which published 
a draft Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) for Regulation 16 consultation on 3 October 
2018.  The consultation period expired on 14 November and confirmation is awaited as to when 
the plan will go to Examination.  There are outstanding representations and so for the purposes 
of the determination of this application the plan is considered to have moderate weight. 

 
6.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is also a significant material consideration.  
 
6.4  In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (the NPPF), the delivery of 

sustainable housing development to meet objectively assessed need is a central theme of the 
Core Strategy.  Policy SS2 ‘Delivering new homes’ confirms that Hereford, with the market 
towns in the tier below, is the main focus for new housing development. In the rural areas new 
housing development will be acceptable “where it helps to meet housing needs and 
requirements, supports the rural economy and local services and facilities and is responsive to 
the needs of its community.”  

 
6.5  Policy SS2 of the Core Strategy makes an overall provision for the delivery of a minimum 

16,500 homes in Herefordshire between 2011 and 2031 to meet market and affordable housing 
need.  Of these, just over two thirds are directed to Hereford and the market towns.  With 
specific regard to Kington, Policy KG1 says that the town will accommodate around 200 new 
homes over the plan period. 

 
6.6  It has been well rehearsed in many previous reports to Planning Committee that a failure to 

maintain a supply of housing land will render the housing supply policies of the Core Strategy as 

148

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=181494&search=181494
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

being non compliant with the NPPF and therefore out-of-date.  Policy SS3 ‘Ensuring sufficient 
housing land delivery’ thus imposes requirements on the Council in the event that completion 
rates fall below the trajectory set out in Appendix 4 of the Core Strategy. 

 
6.7  Despite the adoption of the Core Strategy, a housing land supply deficit persists. The Council’s 

most recently published position advises of a supply of 4.55 years (April 2018). 
 
6.8  The Core Strategy sets out a number of policies in chapters 3, 4 and 5 for the supply of housing 

which are relevant to the present application.  As a consequence of the housing land supply 
position, the policies in the Core Strategy relating to the supply of housing are out of date by 
reason of paragraph 74 of the NPPF. Although these policies are out of date, the weight that 
they should receive is a matter of planning judgment for the decision-maker. This is a matter 
that has been reinforced in the recent Richborough Estates Supreme Court ruling.  

 
6.9 Policy KG1 is most relevant in this regard.  While it identifies a minimum proportionate growth 

target of around 200 dwellings and is clearly a housing supply policy, it also sets out a number 
of criteria against which new development proposals will be assessed.  These are material to 
the determination of the application and, in your officer’s view, can be attributed weight in the 
planning balance. 

 
6.10 Polices SB1 and H1 of the Kington Area NDP are also policies for the delivery of housing, 

reiterating the requirement to deliver 200 new homes across the neighbourhood area.  
Representations have been made through the Regulation 16 consultation process to the 
housing delivery policies and they are to be given moderate weight. 

 
6.11 The site is located to the south of the substantive residential part of Kington, and to the north of 

the linear pattern of residential development along Headbrook.  More recent development has 
taken place further north around Eardisley Road and this has served to create a secondary 
residential area that is separate from the rest of the town.  It is approximately a 500 metre walk 
from the town centre and the location of the site is considered to be sustainable.  However, the 
proposal must be assessed under the three indivisible dimensions of sustainable development – 
economic, social and environmental, if it is to be considered as sustainable.  Paragraph 8 of the 
NPPF is clear that these roles are mutually dependent upon one another and that to achieve 
sustainable development economic, social and environmental gains should be sought jointly 
and simultaneously through the planning system.  The following sections of this report consider 
aspects of the scheme and the characteristics of the area that will be material to the 
determination as to whether the scheme represents sustainable development. 

 
  Impact on designated heritage assets 
 
6.12   The proposed development site is just 60 metres separate of the Kington Conservation Area 

within which are a number of listed buildings; those closest being on Bridge Street.   
 
6.13  Under Section 66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the 

local planning authority is required, when considering development which affects a listed 
building or its setting: 

 
“to have special regard for the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features 
of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.”   

 
6.14  With particular regard to Conservation Areas, Section 72 of the Act goes on to say: 
 

“special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that area” 

 

149



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

6.15  Appeal decisions have subsequently informed the precise meaning of “preserving” in that it 
means doing no harm. 

 
6.16  It follows that the duties in section 66 do not allow a local planning authority to treat the 

desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings merely as material considerations to 
which it can simply attach such weight as it sees fit.  When an authority finds that a proposed 
development would harm the setting of a listed building, it must give that harm “considerable 
importance and weight”. 

 
6.17  Importantly, this does not mean that an authority’s assessment of likely harm of proposed 

development to the setting of a listed building or to a conservation area is other than a matter 
for its own planning judgement.  Nor does it mean that an the authority should give equal weight 
to harm that it considers would be limited or “less than substantial” and to harm that it considers 
would be “substantial”. 

  
6.18  The NPPF offers further guidance about heritage assets, recognising that they are irreplaceable 

resources that should be conserved; ‘…in a manner appropriate to their significance.’  
Paragraphs 189 to 196 offer particular clarity about the assessment to be made of the 
significance of heritage assets.  Paragraph 192 outlines three criteria to be taken account of in 
the determination of planning applications.  These are as follows: 

 

 the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of  heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 

 the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and 

 the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness. 

 
6.19  Paragraph 193 reiterates the presumption of great weight being afforded to the preservation of 

heritage assets and is clear that; ‘The more important the asset, the greater the weight should 
be.’ 

 
6.20  It is also clear that significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of a 

heritage asset, and that proposals that require this should be fully justified and wholly 
exceptional. 

 
6.21  Paragraph 195 is clear that; 
 
  ‘Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or loss of significance of a 

designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be 
demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is necessary to achieve substantial public 
benefits that outweigh that harm or loss…’ 

 
6.22  Paragraph 196 has been confirmed through case law to be a restrictive policy and deals with 

development that would lead to less than substantial harm.  It has two limbs, stating that harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.  The same case law confirms 
that the second limb; the public benefits, should go first, and that the test is effectively different 
to paragraph 195 – the identification of harm does not immediately direct one to refuse planning 
permission. 

 
6.23  Policy LD1 also makes reference to a need to conserve historic features, amongst which it 

includes conservation areas, while Policy LD4 of the Core Strategy does require heritage assets 
to be protected, conserved and enhanced, and requires the scope of the work to ensure this to 
be proportionate to their significance, it does not include a mechanism for assessing how harm 
should be factored into the planning balance.  As a result, and in order to properly consider the 

150



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

effects of development on heritage assets, recourse should be had to the NPPF in the first 
instance. 

 
  Paragraphs 4-10 of Historic England’s Good Practice Advice Note 2 (Managing Significance in 

Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment) explains that applications have a greater likelihood 
of success and better decisions will be made when applicants and local planning authorities 
assess and understand the particular nature of the significance of an asset and, in this case, the 
contribution the setting makes to significance. 

 
6.24  The National Planning Policy Framework provides a very similar message in paragraphs 189 

and 190 expecting both applicant and local planning authority to take responsibility for 
understanding the significance of a heritage asset and the impact of a development proposal, 
seeking to avoid unacceptable conflict between the asset’s conservation and any aspect of the 
proposal. 

 
6.25  The detailed consultation response from Historic England is clear that the landscape that 

surrounds the town contributes to its significance as a conservation area: 
 
  “The form of the landscape around the town is such that setting contributes much to the 

significance of the conservation area.” 
 
  “The application site forms part of the rural, water meadow setting and the wider landscape 

setting which contribute to the significance of the conservation area in terms of its aesthetic 
quality, its historic interest as a settlement developed within the natural constraints of the river 
confluence and its communal value.” 

 
6.26  The advice from Historic England and the Council’s Historic Buildings Officer is clear that they 

are concerned about the impact of the proposed development on the significance of the 
conservation area.  Your officers are of the view that the impact on the setting of the 
conservation area is less than substantial but that it will be towards the upper end of that 
spectrum.  In particular, Historic England’s consultation response acknowledges that the site 
has some significance in terms of forming the setting for the conservation area.  The landscape 
character of the area and its visual relationship to the conservation area is integral to this.  In 
the words of Historic England  the proposal will result; 

 
  “…  in an urbanisation of the water meadows that will change their character considerably. 

Taken with the existing development on the south side of Headbrook, the aggregative amount 
of development in the setting of the conservation area will increase considerably. We consider 
that this will harm the significance of the conservation area by obscuring the links between its 
historic pattern of development and the Arrow’s water meadows and diminishing the aesthetic 
value of its undeveloped, rural, green setting…” 

 
6.27  Whilst the harm to the significance of the conservation area as a heritage asset is less than 

substantial it is clear from the advice of Historic England as a statutory consultee and in the 
minds of your officers that significant weight should be attributed to these impacts.  The 
proposal will cause harm that renders the proposal contrary to Policy LD4 of the Core Strategy, 
but this will need to be balanced against the public benefits of permitting the scheme.  

 
  Landscape impact and effects on the setting of Kington 
 
6.28  The site is very typical of a riverside meadow landscape type as defined by the council’s 

Landscape Character Assessment (the LCA).  It is a flat, well defined, alluvial floodplain with the 
river lined by trees on either side.  A similar flat area of meadow land flanks the river on its 
northern bank.  The LCA suggests that such landscapes are often framed by steeply rising 
ground and that settlement is typically absent and this is the case as far as the site is 
concerned.  The site forms an attractive setting for this part of Kington.  

151



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
6.29  Policy LD1 of the Core Strategy covers matters relating to landscape and townscape.  It advises 

that development proposals should demonstrate that the character of the landscape and 
townscape has been a positive influence on its design, scale, nature and site selection.  It also 
suggests that proposals should incorporate new landscape schemes in order to integrate 
development, and that existing tree cover should be maintained and extended where it is 
important to amenity. 

 
6.30  The proposal shows that the areas immediately adjacent to the river are to be kept free from 

development.  This enables the tree-lined bank to remain undisturbed.  The hedge line that runs 
south in the western quadrant of the site is to be retained and enhanced, and; whilst the 
application is made in outline and landscaping is a matter to be reserved for future 
consideration, the submission indicates that substantial areas of new planting would be 
proposed.     

 
6.31  However, the inherent character of the landscape is of an open meadow that is free from 

development.  It is the view of your officers that the land forms an important setting to Kington 
and its conservation area when approaching the town from an easterly direction, and this will be 
changed to the detriment of the area through the introduction of development.  This is reinforced 
by the fact that the site has been designated as a local green space by Policy LGS1 of the 
Kington Area NDP.   

 
6.32  The setting of settlements is an important material planning consideration and one that has 

been found to have significant weight on appeal.  In recent cases in Bridstow, Bosbury and Lea 
separate Inspectors all found that the setting of the respective villages would be harmed and 
that this was not outweighed by the council’s lack of a five year housing land supply (Appeal 
references APP/W1850/W/15/3003671, 3010446, and 3053084).   

 
6.33  Members attention is also drawn to the fact that, in relation to an appeal in 2007 for a barn 

conversion adjacent the site (Headbrook Barn Appeal Reference APP/W1850/A/07/2038659), 
the Inspector commented on the significance of the area of land to which your enquiry relates, 
stating that: 

 
 “…I consider that it (the site) makes an important contribution to the attractive appearance and 

open rural setting of this part of Kington.” 
 
6.34  In dismissing the appeal on grounds, amongst others, relating to the detrimental impact of the 

development on the open character of the area, the Inspector considered the benefits of 
bringing the building back into use and providing an additional dwelling and said that: 

 
  “…I consider that these benefits do not outweigh the harm that would be caused to an important 

open area of green space which contributes to the character and setting of Kington.”  
 
6.35  Although the proposal is entirely different from that to which the appeal relates, it does serve to 

demonstrate the importance of the site in terms of its contribution to the setting of Kington.  This 
has not changed in the intervening period and the other recent appeal decisions show that the 
setting of settlements carries significant weight in the planning balance.  This is simply 
reinforced by the fact that a significant proportion of the town is designated as a conservation 
area.  It is your officer’s view that the proposal does not respect the landscape character of the 
area and consequently fails to accord with Policy LD1 as it does not protect or enhance the 
landscape setting of Kington. 

 
 Drainage and Flood Risk 

 
6.36  The majority of the letters of objection received express concerns about the potential for the 

development to increase the risk of flooding in areas immediately surrounding the application 

152



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

site.  They note the proximity of development to the River Arrow and the fact that the land is a 
water meadow. 

 
6.37  Review of the EA’s Flood Map for Planning indicates that the site is located outside of, but close 

to Flood Zones 2 and 3.  This is confirmed by the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) submitted with 
the application and in the response from the Council’s Land Drainage Engineer.     

 
6.38  In accordance with Environment Agency standing advice, the FRA clarifies the extent and depth 

of fluvial flood risk within the site boundary and considers the potential effects of climate 
change. It also identifies how flood risk to the proposed development has been minimised, how 
the development has been made safe, and how the impacts of the development on people and 
property elsewhere have been avoided.   

 
6.39  The FRA considers the risk of flooding on site from all sources, including surface water, 

groundwater, sewers, reservoirs and any other manmade sources.  The FRA also assesses the 
potential effects of climate change on the probability and extent of the flood risk, this being 
shown on the plan below: 

 
 
6.40  The detailed consultation response from the Land Drainage Engineer confirms that the FRA 

includes an update of the Environment Agency’s hydraulic model of the River Arrow. The Flood 
Appraisal drawing (above) shows the flood extents derived from the updated model for the 1 in 
100yr +35%CC, 1 in 100yr +70%CC and the 1 in 1000yr return periods. The illustrative site plan 
drawing indicates the residential dwellings will be located outside of the modelled 1 in 1000 year 
flood extent.  On this basis the proposed development does not displace flood water from the 
floodplain to other parts of the town during periods of heavy rainfall and is not considered to 
increase flood risk elsewhere. 

 
6.41  The submission also provides a draft strategy for surface water attenuation which confirms that 

runoff rates will not exceed existing Greenfield runoff rates.  The Land Drainage Engineer is 

153



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

content with the assumptions made and confirms that there is no objection to the proposal 
subject to the imposition of conditions to require the submission of a detailed drainage strategy. 

 
6.42  In light of the fact that the site lies outside of flood zone 2 and 3, the application of the 

Sequential Test as outlined in the NPPF, which requires ‘more vulnerable’ development to be 
steered away from areas at flood risk, is not required.  Notwithstanding, it is clear that the 
Kington Area NDP does allocate areas for housing land that are at a significantly lower risk of 
flooding. 

 
6.43  On the basis of the consultation responses received, your officers are satisfied that the proposal 

takes full account of the risk of flooding and that any potential impacts can be mitigated through 
the imposition of conditions.  The scheme is therefore considered to comply with Policy SD3 of 
the Core Strategy. 

 
  Ecology 
 
6.44  The Council’s Ecologist has considered the application, both in terms of its impacts on water 

quality in accordance with Policy SD4 of the Core Strategy and also in respect of its potential 
impacts on biodiversity and protected species.  

 
6.45  With regard to the first point, and in accordance with its duties as a ‘responsible authority’ a 

Habitat Regulations Assessment has been completed by the Council’s Ecologist, and this finds 
‘no likely significant effects’ on water quality in either the River Wye Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) or the River Lugg Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).  Natural 
England have confirmed that they have no objection to the HRA findings. 

 
6.46  In terms of impacts on biodiversity and protected species, the presence of two particular  

riparian species; otter and white clawed crayfish, have been raised and confirmed as present 
along this stretch of the River Arrow.   

 
6.47  The application is supported by an Ecological Assessment, the detail of which has been 

considered by the Council’s Ecologist.  He concludes that the plans are adequate in habitat 
creation along the stream corridor, but emphasises the importance of good water quality and 
lack of disturbance along the river corridor. He notes that the bulk of the development will fall 
outside the flood plain and will lie some distance from the course of the river but that a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) should be produced to ensure no 
construction materials/fuels etc. will be placed near the buffer zone.  This is a matter that could 
be addressed through the imposition of an appropriately worded condition. 

 
6.48  On the basis of the above, officers find that the potential impacts of development on ecology 

and biodiversity can be mitigated.  Responses for the Council’s Ecologist and Natural England 
confirm ‘no likely significant effects’ on the River Wye SAC and therefore Policy SD4 of the Core 
Strategy is complied with.  Policy LD2 places a requirement on development to conserve, 
restore and enhance biodiversity assets and, whilst this is not entirely evident from this outline 
submission, officers are sufficiently content that further details as part of a Reserved Matters 
submission by way of a detailed Biodiversity Enhancement Plan could address this. 

 
  Highway Impacts 
 
6.49  Core Strategy Policy MT1 relates to the highways impacts of new development, and requires 

that proposals demonstrate that the strategic and local highway network can absorb the traffic 
impacts of the development without adversely affecting the safe and efficient flow of traffic on 
the network or that traffic impacts can be managed to acceptable levels to reduce and mitigate 
any adverse impacts from the development. It also requires under (4) that developments are 
designed and laid out to achieve safe entrance and exit and have appropriate operational and 
manoeuvring space, having regard to the standards of the Council’s Highways Development 

154



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

Design Guide. This approach accords with the principles outlined in section 9 of the NPPF, in 
particular Paragraphs 108-9 which advises that it should ensure that safe and suitable access 
can be achieved for all users and that development should only be refused on highways 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highways safety.  

 
6.50  Whilst the application reserves all matters for future consideration, the opportunities for the 

provision of access are limited to a single point onto Headbrook.  Concerns have been raised by 
some local residents about the impacts of a new access and increased vehicle movements on 
highway safety, particularly given that there are limited off-street parking opportunities for 
existing properties on Headbrook and that on-street parking will obscure visibility from the 
proposed new access. 

 
6.51  The application is supported by a Transport Statement that has been written on the basis of an 

initial proposal for a development of up to 60 dwellings.  Council’s Traffic Manager has 
commented in detail on this aspect of the submission and has also been mindful of the 
objections received. 

 
6.52  As referred to previously, the information provided by the transport statement is for 60 

dwellings.  It assumes 33 two-way trips at peak hourly periods.  As the current proposal is for 
just over half the number of dwellings it is reasonable to assume that it would generate 15 to 20 
two-way trips.  The view of the Traffic Manager is that there is sufficient capacity and that the 
highway network should not be adversely affected by this increase in movement.  

 
6.53  The transport statement includes a speed survey along Headbrook which shows 85th percentile 

speeds to be 33 and 34mph in each direction respectively.  The visibility splays set out in the 
transport statement are set at 51 metres in each direction and reflect the know speeds along the 
road.  The Traffic Manager is content that the splays are achievable at the proposed location of 
the access and therefore officers are content that the application is compliant with Policy MT1 of 
the Core Strategy. 

 
 Planning Balance and Conclusions 
 
6.54 Both Core Strategy policy SS1 and paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

engage the presumption in favour of sustainable development and require that development 
should be approved where they accord with the development plan.  The NPPF encompasses 
the government’s view of what is meant by sustainable development in practice. The three 
themes, economic, environmental and social should be pursued jointly and simultaneously. 

 
6.55 The application in this case is for housing and in the light of the housing land supply deficit must 

be considered in accordance with the tests set out by paragraph 11 and SS1. Permission 
should be granted, therefore, unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the NPPF as a whole, or if specific 
policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.  

 
6.56 Kington is identified by the Core Strategy as a sustainable settlement where there is a 

presumption in favour of proportionate housing growth. The Kington Area NDP is post 
Regulation 16.  Some representations have been made in respect of its housing delivery 
policies and therefore it attracts moderate weight in the determination of this application. 

 
6.57 Officers are content that the site is immediately adjacent to Kington and, in simple terms of its 

location, it is sustainable.  The town has a range of local services and the site is readily 
accessible to all of these.  This will have some benefit in economic terms, as will the 
engagement of local trades during the construction period of the development.  Some moderate 
benefits will be delivered through biodiversity enhancements and this weighs in favour of the 
development in environmental terms.  There are also some social benefits as the site will 
provide affordable housing.  The application also outlines the delivery of a riverside walk.  Given 

155



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

that the area in question is not currently accessible to the public this is also considered to be a 
social benefit.    
 

6.58 However, the harm caused to the significance of Kington Conservation Area carries 
considerable weight in determining whether the proposal represents sustainable development, 
as does the impact on the riverside meadow as a valuable landscape resource.  Officers have 
not been able to reconcile these negative impacts in environmental terms against the benefits of 
permitting development.  For these reasons the proposal is not considered to represent a 
sustainable form of development and the application is consequently recommended for refusal.   
 

RECOMMENDATION  
 
That planning permission be refused for the following reasons: 
 
1. The application site forms part of the rural, water meadow setting and the wider 

landscape setting which contribute to the significance of the Kington 
Conservation Area in terms of its aesthetic quality and its historic interest as a 
settlement.  The proposal will harm the significance of the Conservation Area by 
obscuring the links between its historic pattern of development and the River 
Arrow’s water meadows and diminishing the aesthetic value of its undeveloped, 
rural, green setting and the communal value of the conservation area that lies in 
this setting.  Whilst these impacts are considered to be less than substantial in 
terms of the significance of the conservation area as a heritage asset, they are 
towards the upper end of the less than substantial spectrum.  The local planning 
authority does not consider that there are other public benefits that outweigh 
the harm caused by permitting the development.  The proposal is therefore 
contrary to Policies LD2 and LD4 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core 
Strategy and paragraph 196 of the National Planning Policy Framework.   
 

2. The application site is described as a Riverside Meadow in the Council’s 
Landscape Character Assessment.  These are landscapes that are typically 
absent of built development.  The introduction of a residential development in 
this location is contrary to the landscape character which also makes an 
important contribution to the attractive appearance and open rural setting of this 
part of Kington.  The proposals fail to demonstrate that they have been 
positively influenced by the landscape and townscape character of their 
surroundings.  Accordingly the proposal is contrary to Policy LD2 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

3. Therefore, in light of the environmental harm caused by permitting the 
development and in considering the three overarching objectives of sustainable 
development  the local planning authority does not consider that the proposal 
represents a sustainable form of development.  The proposal is therefore 
contrary to Policy SS1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and 
paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

4. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

         

The application is not accompanied by a completed Section 106 Agreement 
which is considered necessary to mitigate the impacts of the development and 
to ensure the delivery of affordable housing.  In the absence of such an 
agreement the proposal is contrary to Policy ID1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan 
– Core Strategy and the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document – 
Planning Obligations.  
 
 
 

156



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

Informative: 
 
1. 
 
 
 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in 
determining this application by assessing the proposal against planning policy 
and any other material considerations and identifying matters of concern with 
the proposal and discussing those with the applicant.  However, the issues are 
so fundamental to the proposal that it has not been possible to negotiate a 
satisfactory way forward and due to the harm which have been clearly identified 
within the reason(s) for the refusal, approval has not been possible. 
 

 
Decision:  ..............................................................................................................................................  
 
Notes:  ..................................................................................................................................................  
 
 ..............................................................................................................................................................  
 
Background Papers 
 
Internal departmental consultation replies. 

157



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made. 

  

APPLICATION NO:  181494   
 
SITE ADDRESS :  LAND ADJACENT TO SPRING COTTAGE, HEADBROOK, KINGTON, HR5 3DY 
 
Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.   Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Herefordshire Council.  Licence No: 100024168/2005 

 

158



 
 

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017) 
Part 6, section 63 

‘Assessment of implications for European sites and European offshore marine sites’ 

Habitats Regulation Assessment 

This is a record of the Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) (including Screening for Likely Significant 
Effects and Appropriate Assessment where required) carried out by Herefordshire Council (the 
competent authority) as required by Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats & Species 
Regulations 2017 (the ‘Habitats Regulations’) relating to the following planning application.  

This HRA is carried out in accordance with the relevant guidance documents including those by Natural 
England at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/appropriate-assessment, and David Tyldesley Associates 
https://www.dtapublications.co.uk/ 

The HRA is carried out by Herefordshire Council.  Detailed information will need to be provided by the 
applicant to enable to authority to make the assessment. 

The Project / Plan 

1.1 Planning Application Reference Number, Description and Address 

Application reference number: 181494 
Address: Land adjacent to Spring Cottage Headbrook Kington HR5 3DY 
Description: Proposed land for residential development and associated work together 
with public open space and local green space. 
Applicant: Mr & Mrs M & J Turner 
Case officer: Ollie Jones 
 
Location OSGR: 330174 – 256478 
Link to Planning Application on Herefordshire Council Website: Planning Search – 
Herefordshire Council 

 

1.2 Description of the plan or project (details) 

Outline application for the erection of 35 dwellings. 

1.3 Documents and plans considered – delete/ add as appropriate 

Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2011 – 2031. 
River Wye SAC Nutrient Management Plan. 
  

1.4 Planning Policy context: 

None 

1.5 Size (ha) and description (habitats etc.) of existing site 

2.47ha of agricultural land primarily used for meadow grazing. 

1.6 Surrounding land use and context in relation to designated sites 

Site is 8.8km south of River Lugg SSSI and 9.5km north of the River River Wye SAC. 
The site is closely adjacent to the River Arrow which feeds into the River Lugg SSSI 
and on then into the River Wye SAC. The site itself is within the settlement of Kington. 
The River Arrow flows out of the settlement into the rural environment through 
agricultural land with woodlands present until it meets the River Wye. 

 

 

159

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/appropriate-assessment
https://www.dtapublications.co.uk/
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details/map?id=181494
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=181494&search-term=181494
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=181494&search-term=181494


 

Built & Natural Environment Service (Planning), Plough Lane, Hereford  HR4 0LE 

www.herefordshire.gov.uk | facebook: hfdscouncil | twitter: @hfdscouncil 

 

Relevant Habitats (Natura 2000) site(s)  
Please select all that apply from: 
 

☒ River Wye Catchment SAC (including schemes impacting on the linked River Lugg SSSI) 

☐ River Clun SAC 

☐ Wye Valley Woodlands SAC 

☐ Downton Gorge SAC  

☐  Wye Valley & Forest of Dean Bat Sites SAC (Wigpool Iron Mines SSSI) 

☐ Other site (SAC, Ramsar) 

Details of the Site: 
 

1.River Wye SAC  
 
The River Wye SAC covers an area of 2234.89 ha in Gloucestershire, Herefordshire, Monmouthshire 
and Powys.   

Designated features 
 
Qualifying habitats 
The site is designated under article 4(4) of the Directive (92/43/EEC) as it hosts the following habitats 
listed in Annex I:  

 Transition mires and quaking bogs. (Very wet mires often identified by an unstable ‘quaking’ 
surface).  

 Water courses of plain to montane levels with the Ranunculion fluitantis and Callitricho Batrachion 
vegetation. (Rivers with floating vegetation often dominated by water crowfoot)  
 
Qualifying species 
The site is designated under article 4(4) of the Directive (92/43/EEC) as it hosts the following species 
listed in Annex II:  

 Allis shad Alosa alosa  

 Atlantic salmon Salmo salar  

 Brook lamprey Lampetra planeri 

  Bullhead Cottus gobio  

 Otter Lutra lutra  

 River lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis 

  Sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus  

 Twaite shad Alosa fallax  

 White-clawed (or Atlantic stream) crayfish Austropotamobius pallipes 

Conservation Objectives of the Designated features:  

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and ensure that the site 
contributes to achieving the Favourable Conservation Status of its Qualifying Features, by 
maintaining or restoring;  

- The extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats and habitats of qualifying species 
- The structure and function (including typical species) of qualifying natural habitats 
- The structure and function of the habitats of qualifying species 
- The supporting processes on which qualifying natural habitats and habitats of qualifying 

species rely 
- The populations of qualifying species, and,  
- The distribution of qualifying species within the site. 

160



 

Built & Natural Environment Service (Planning), Plough Lane, Hereford  HR4 0LE 

www.herefordshire.gov.uk | facebook: hfdscouncil | twitter: @hfdscouncil 

 

European Site Conservation Objectives for River Wye SAC - UK0012642 
(naturalengland.org.uk) 
 
Site Condition 
Site condition, for the area of the site in England, is taken from the constituent SSSI units for the River 
Wye SSSI and the River Lugg SSSI. 

 

 
 
Other Relevant Documents 
There is a Site Improvement Plan for the River Wye which can be found at SIP141201FINALv1.0River 
Wye.pdf  
 

 

Stage1: Preliminary Screening including Likely Significant Effects (LSE) 
 
Completed by: 

Fran Lancaster 

Date: 6th January 2023 
 
 

Table 1: Initial Screening  
Does the project or plan qualify for exemption from the HRA process? 
 

Is the project or plan 
directly connected 
with or necessary for 
the conservation 
management of the 
habitat site (provide 
details)? 

No 
 
 
 

161

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6096799802589184?category=5134123047845888
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6096799802589184?category=5134123047845888
file:///C:/Users/fran.lancaster/AppData/Local/Temp/MicrosoftEdgeDownloads/59426584-a903-4906-806a-4b81aa5e120e/SIP141201FINALv1.0River%20Wye.pdf
file:///C:/Users/fran.lancaster/AppData/Local/Temp/MicrosoftEdgeDownloads/59426584-a903-4906-806a-4b81aa5e120e/SIP141201FINALv1.0River%20Wye.pdf


 

Built & Natural Environment Service (Planning), Plough Lane, Hereford  HR4 0LE 

www.herefordshire.gov.uk | facebook: hfdscouncil | twitter: @hfdscouncil 

 

If so the project may 
be considered 
exempt from the 
HRA process. 

If the proposal is 
considered exempt 
from the HRA 
process? Has this 
been consulted upon 
and agreed with 
Natural England? 

N/A – Not exempt 

 

 
Table 2: Screening for Likely Significant Effects (LSE) 
 
Key issues considered: 

☒ Foul water       ☐ Water pollution 

☐ Surface water       ☐ Water abstraction   

☐ Aerial Emissions (ammonia, N deposition & acid deposition) ☐ Recreational impacts 

☐ Construction or Demolition processes  ☐ Protected species impacts (direct) 

☐ Direct impacts inside SAC boundary (habitats) ☐ Protected species impacts (indirect) 

☐ Impacts upon supporting habitats   ☐ Other 

 
Details of key issues & identification of potential effect pathways 

The proposed development includes a mains foul sewerage connection for 35 new 
dwellings which will be treated at the Kington Waste Water Treatment Works which 
sits within the River Lugg SSSI/River Wye SAC catchment in which Natural England’s 
Nutrient Neutrality applies. 
 
The additional phosphate load generated by the proposed development has the 
potential to result in a likely significant effect on the River Wye SAC. A potential effect 
pathway has been identified and an Appropriate Assessment is therefore required. 
 
No other potential effect pathways have been identified. 
 

 

NB: Where avoidance and mitigation measures do not form an integral part of the project/ plan 
and are to be put in place to reduce the impacts, these must not be considered in order to avoid 
impacts at the Screening stage and will require consideration at the Appropriate Assessment 
stage (in line with the People Over Wind judgement).  
 

Are there any 
potential effects of 
the project or plan 
when considered 
alone? 
 

Yes 
An Appropriate Assessment is required. 
 

Are there any 
potential effects of 
the project or plan in 
combination with 
other projects or 
plans? 

Potentially yes. 
A range of other developments resulting in additional foul flows 
within the catchment could potentially act in-combination with 
this proposal. 
 
If ‘yes’ then proposal must be carried forward to the 
Appropriate Assessment Stage. 

162



 

Built & Natural Environment Service (Planning), Plough Lane, Hereford  HR4 0LE 

www.herefordshire.gov.uk | facebook: hfdscouncil | twitter: @hfdscouncil 

 

Natural England consultation reference and summary (if available):  
Natural England responded to the proposed development in August 2018 stating ‘no objection’ 
however since that time Nutrient Neutrality has been introduced in the catchment. This HRA 
and the comments on Natural England subsequent to today’s date shall replace those made in 
2018. 

 
Summary of LSE test conclusions 
 
☐  No likely significant effects – no Appropriate Assessment required and planning 

permission can be legally granted. A consultation with NE is not required where a proposal is 
‘screened out’. 

 
☒ Likely significant effects – Appropriate Assessment required. 

 
           And, where relevant: 
 

☐ Further information to inform the Appropriate Assessment required – the applicant is 

advised to provide the relevant information as detailed below. 
 

Further information 
required to inform 
the Appropriate 
Assessment 

None 

 
 

Stage 2: Appropriate Assessment 
 

 
Completed by: 

 Fran Lancaster 

Date: 6th February 2023 
 
 

Appropriate Assessment statement including alone, impacts in-combination and discussion of 
proposed mitigation measures 
 
Complete the tables and boxes below, deleting as necessary. Where information is taken from 
supporting documents this should be quoted and fully referenced. Any documents not available on the 
Council’s website should be provided to Natural England when they are consulted. 

Table 3: Impacts of the plan/ project alone 

Complete boxes as appropriate below and delete boxes for potential effect pathways which are not 
relevant: 
 

Foul Water Mains Connection – Phosphate Credit Purchase 
The proposal is for 35 new dwellings under this outline application. The proposal has been assessed 
using the standard Natural England methodology and budget calculator. 
 
Assumed occupancy is 2.3 person per dwelling (agreed as locally acceptable). 
Water usage is 110L per person per day (agreed as locally acceptable). 
The site is 2.47ha. 
 
Waste Water will be discharged from the site via a connection to mains sewer and will be treated at 
the Kington WwTW. Kington WwTW has a phosphate limit of 1mg/l which has been used in the 
calculations in line with the NE methodology. 
 
 

163



 

Built & Natural Environment Service (Planning), Plough Lane, Hereford  HR4 0LE 

www.herefordshire.gov.uk | facebook: hfdscouncil | twitter: @hfdscouncil 

 

The Waste Water P load of the development is calculated to be: 
 
Development                                                   35 dwellings 
Occupancy                                                      2.3 per dwelling 
Additional population                                      80.5 people 
Water usage                                                   110l per person per day 
Waste water volume                                       8855l per day 
Receiving WwTW environmental permit        1mg/l (next step uses permit level * 0.9) 
Total phosphate after treatment                     7,969.5mg/TP/day 
Convert mg/TP/day to kg/TP/day                   0.0079695kg/TP/day 
Per year                                                          2.91kg/TP/year 
 
Waste Water Total Phosphate Load is 2.91kg/TP/year. 
 
The Current Land Use is agriculture – dairy. 
 
The Current P Leaching Load is 0.48kg TP. 
 
The Post Development Land Use is 0.76 residential urban land and 1.71ha greenspace which 
equates to an Annual Phosphorus Nutrient Export of 1.29kg TP. 
 
The Phosphate Balance for the Site is: 
 
TP Waste Water post treatment                           2.91kg/TP/year 
Historic landuse P export                                      0.48kg TP                                                   
Post development P export                                   1.29kg TP      
Landuse net change                                             0.81kg TP   
Phosphate budget                                                 3.72kg TP/year 
Phosphate budget including 20% buffer               4.47kg TP/year 
 
 
The Natural England Nutrient Neutrality Budget Calculator – River Lugg Catchment has been used 
correctly for this proposed development and the outcome of the nutrient budget is that there is an 
annual phosphorous load to mitigate = 4.47 kg TP/year. 
 
Mitigation is proposed in this case as an alternative to purchasing Phosphate credits and is set out in 
table 4 below. 
 

 
 
 Table 4: Mitigation Requirements and Outcomes  
 

 
For cases purchasing Phosphate Credits 
 

The development has applied for, and received, an allocation of phosphate credits 
from Herefordshire Council at a cost of £14,000 per kg as follows: 
Annual phosphorous load to mitigate 4.47kg TP/year * £14,000 (plus VAT) per kg 
 
= 4.47 * £14,000 
= £62,580 (Plus VAT) 
 
This proposal is a valid Planning Application awaiting a positive determination subject 
to receipt of Phosphate Credits and the developer is prepared to enter into legal 
agreement with the Council through either a S106 agreement or a S106 agreement 
including a S111 agreement for phased development to secure the financial payment 
for phosphate credits. 
 

164



 

Built & Natural Environment Service (Planning), Plough Lane, Hereford  HR4 0LE 

www.herefordshire.gov.uk | facebook: hfdscouncil | twitter: @hfdscouncil 

 

Herefordshire Council’s Phosphate Credit Allocation Process (taken from the 
Council’s Phosphate Credit Pricing and Allocation Policy April 2022):  
‘The Phosphate Credit Allocation Process is a staged process setting out how 
Phosphate credits that are generated by Herefordshire Council Integrated Wetlands 
can be secured by developers to offset the phosphate load of their development. The 
process necessitates a number of steps which can be run in tandem simultaneously. 
This process is monitored throughout and will span several services as well as 
requiring engagement with, statutory consultees, and developers themselves. Credits 
will only be released as they become available. 
 
The process starts with developers working out the number of credits needed using 
the Council’s Phosphate Calculator Budget Tool supplied by Natural England. The 
developers are then kept on a list according to ‘first come first served’ policy as 
stated above. As credits become available and when applications are ready for 
determination, case officers will contact developers and provide them with an 
invitation to apply for credits. The developer submits this alongside their phosphate 
calculations, a S106 legal document and an online payment for their allocated 
credits. Their application is reviewed internally by Legal and Ecology and in 
consultation with Natural England.  
 
Permission can then be granted or refused. If refused, developers have a set amount 
of time to go through the appeals procedure, credits will be held as stated above. 
Where permission is granted, HRA conditions are applied and they have a set 
amount of time and requirements they must fulfil otherwise the credits are returned to 
Herefordshire Council and payment is reimbursed to developers as stated above.’ 
 
Phosphate Credits in Herefordshire are being generated through the delivery, by 
Herefordshire Council, of a program of integrated wetlands associated with existing 
Waste Water Treatment Works (Wwtw). The first integrated wetland was delivered in 
2022 on land adjacent to the Luston Wwtw. As set out in the feasibility study for the 
wetland1 ‘The purpose of the wetland would be to provide enhanced treatment for 
removal of phosphorus from the final effluent of the Luston Waste Water Treatment 
Works (WWTW), to contribute to the resolution of the current embargo on housing 
development and to deliver nutrient neutrality for future housing.’ 
 
The aim, in creation of the Luston Integrated Wetland is reducing the Total 
Phosphorus (TP) in the effluent leaving the Luston WWTW from 4.24mg/L TP to less 
than 1mg/L TP.  
 
The Council, working with partners, has assessed potential for integrated wetlands at 
8 sites of which Luston is the first to be granted planning permission (under 
application 213571) and constructed. Natural England have been engaged with the 
development of the integrated wetland program and did not object to the planning 
application to create the Luston wetland for the purpose of selling Phosphate Credits. 
 
The precautionary principal has been applied to the construction of the Luston 
wetland, and will be applied to any further integrated wetlands created under the 
project: 
 
‘To provide a robust wetland design and provide certainty, WUF applied a number of 
steps to ensure that the design can be considered to provide certainty under the 
Habitats Directive. These are outlined below and presented in the following sections:  

 The primary objective of the wetland is to provide an effluent quality that 
leaves the wetland at less than 1mgTP/l. To achieve this, and provide 
certainty around the design, WUF have designed the wetland on the basis of 

                                                 
1 Wetland Feasibility, Design and Offsetting. Wetland Development on the River Wye – Luston. Wye and Usk Foundation. 

(May 2022). 

165



 

Built & Natural Environment Service (Planning), Plough Lane, Hereford  HR4 0LE 

www.herefordshire.gov.uk | facebook: hfdscouncil | twitter: @hfdscouncil 

 

a reduction to 0.8mg/l. This has effectively introduced a 20% buffer and over-
sized the wetland to provide greater certainty in its overall future performance, 
thus adopting a precautionary approach.  

 A water balance has been developed and the design has been tested against 
UK Climate Projections (UKCP) estimates for rainfall and evapo-transpiration 
in 2070. Understanding the water balance is essential to ensure that the 
wetland design is robust under current and future climate change conditions 
and that the hydrology of the system will not be compromised.  

 Due to uncertainties with wetland design models, WUF has adopted an 
approach outlined in the Treatment Wetlands publication (Dotro et al., V7 
2017) which recommends application of multiple models to provide sensitivity 
in terms of calculation of overall design.  

 Continued monitoring of phosphorus and flow data at the site to provide 
increasing and greater understanding of the current operation of the treatment 
works.’  

Text taken from the WUF feasibility study. 
 
The full technical design and modelling work for the Luston wetland can be found at 
in the Wetland Feasibility, Design & Offsetting Report for the Luston Wetland by Wye 
& Usk Foundation (May 2022).  
 
Additionally, the precautionary principle is applied to the allocation of Phosphate 
Credits with 80% of the capacity generated by the creation of each integrated 
wetland being allocated to development and 20% of the capacity generated being 

allocated to providing river betterment. HC Global Template (herefordshire.gov.uk) 
 
The sale of phosphate credits to developers will allow the Council to recoup its 
expenditure in delivering the Strategic Wetlands (and credit costs will be regularly 
reviewed as new wetlands are brought forward) and will also provide ongoing income 
for the long term management and maintenance of the wetland features. 
 
On the basis of the program of integrated wetland delivery and the phosphate 
credit system developed by Herefordshire Council in partnership with a 
number of organisations including Natural England and given that the 
development can secure a mains drainage connection and has committed to 
purchasing the phosphate credits required to address the phosphate load 
generated by the development this proposal it is not considered to have a 
likely impact on the integrity of the SAC and planning permission can therefore 
be granted. 
 

 
Table 5: Remaining Impacts 
 

None 

 
Table 6: Consequences for Conservation Objectives of the Designated Site 
 

Impacts on maintaining 
the favourable condition 
of the site 

No – not with proposed mitigation taken into account 

Disruptions or delays in 
progress towards 
achieving the 
conservation objectives 
of the site 

No – not with proposed mitigation taken into account 

Alterations to natural 
progression or other 

No – not with proposed mitigation taken into account Details 

166

https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents/s50102973/Nutrient%20Certainty%20supplement.pdf


 

Built & Natural Environment Service (Planning), Plough Lane, Hereford  HR4 0LE 

www.herefordshire.gov.uk | facebook: hfdscouncil | twitter: @hfdscouncil 

 

natural changes within 
the site 

Loss of key habitat/ 
species features. 

Fragmentation or 
isolation of key species 
and habitats. 

Impacts to diversity, 
distribution, density, 
balance, area or 
population(s) of key 
species or habitats that 
are indicators of the 
favourable condition of 
the site, including from 
disturbance 

No – not with proposed mitigation taken into account 

Alterations to the 
ecological relationships 
and balance between 
species and habitats 
that are key to the 
structure/ function of the 
site 

No – not with proposed mitigation taken into account 

Alterations to nutrient 
balance or other 
processes vital to the 
functioning of the 
ecosystem  

No – not with proposed mitigation taken into account 

 
Table 7: Integrity Test  
 
Will there be an impact upon the Integrity of the Designated Site? 

There will be no adverse impact upon the integrity of the River Wye SAC once the 
proposed mitigation taken into account and legally secured. 

 
Table 8: Are there Alternative Solutions to the proposal? 
If adverse effects on the integrity of the site, either alone or in combination, cannot be ruled out through 
avoidance or mitigation then alternative solutions must be considered. 

N/A 
 
Please Note: Where there are no satisfactory alternatives then consideration may be given to whether 
the proposal could follow the Imperative Reasons of Overriding Public Interest (IROPI) route. Is this 
option is under consideration for a plan or project then specialist legal advice should be sought and 
followed. 
 
Table 9: Recommended planning conditions to secure mitigation which is required in order to 
achieve no effect on integrity of the Designated Site. 

 
No conditions relevant to HRA required in this case. 

 
Conclusion of the Appropriate Assessment: 

 
☒ Herefordshire Council, as a Competent Authority under the Habitat Regulations 2017, Part 

6, section 63(5) concludes that there would be NO adverse effects on the integrity of the Special 
Area of Conservation; subject to appropriate mitigation being secured via the planning 
conditions listed above. Planning Permission can legally be granted. 

167



 

Built & Natural Environment Service (Planning), Plough Lane, Hereford  HR4 0LE 

www.herefordshire.gov.uk | facebook: hfdscouncil | twitter: @hfdscouncil 

 

 
Or 
 

☐ Herefordshire Council, as a Competent Authority under the Habitat Regulations 2017, Part 

6, section 63(5) concludes that there would be an adverse effect on the integrity of the Special 
Area of Conservation. Planning permission CANNOT legally be granted. 

 
 
Please Note: The authority must consult Natural England on the draft HRA and must have regard to the 
advice of Natural England before granting planning permission. 

 
 
 

168



 

 

 

 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 

MEETING: PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 16 AUGUST 2023 

TITLE OF 
REPORT: 

223281 - OUTLINE PERMISSION FOR PROPOSED MIXED USE 
DEVELOPMENT TO PROVIDE COMMUNITY HUB WITH 
ENHANCED RECREATION FACILITIES INCLUDING A 3G 
PITCH, CAR PARK AND ACCESS ROADS, CHANGE OF USE 
OF LAND FROM AGRICULTURAL TO ALLOTMENTS AND 
PRODUCTIVE GARDENS NEW BUILDINGS TO PROVIDE 
CHANGING FACILITIES, CLASSROOMS, EQUIPMENT 
STORAGE, POLYTUNNELS, CAFE AND KITCHEN AT LAND AT 
ASHLEY FARM, GRAFTON COURT CLOSE, GRAFTON, 
HEREFORD, HR2 8BL 
 
For: Ms Foti per Mr Ian Kilby, 41-43 Shiretown House, Broad 
Street, Hereford, HR49AR 
 

WEBSITE 
LINK: 

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=223281&search-
term=223281 

 

 

Reason Application submitted to Committee -  Council Owned land 

 

Date Valid: 29 September 2022 Ward: Newton Farm 
and Wormside  

Grid Ref: 349473,237420 

Expiry Date: 18 August 2023 

Local Members: Cllr Carwardine (Newton Farm)  &  Cllr Thomas (Wormside) (in both) 
 

 
1.  Site Description and Proposal 
 
1.1 The application site forms part of an area which covers approximately 9 hectares and is located 

on the southern edge of Hereford City. The application site is located to the south of Grafton Court 
Close. The site can be accessed from a number of points via the residential areas to the north 
via Vernon Williams Close and from Grafton Lane on the South Eastern corner of the site. There 
is agricultural access (which is via a railway level crossing) located on the eastern site of the site. 
Albeit it is noted that this does not include public access. 

 
1.2 The northern half of the site consists of a large area of public open space and recreation grounds 

with grassed areas, groups of trees and a mature belt of trees to its boundary. This area is an 
amenity space for adjacent residential areas and links to the Belmont Country Park to the North 
West of the site. There are tarmac foot/cycle paths connecting with the residential areas to the 
north (Shaws Path) and a further footpath / cyclepath connecting through to Merryhill Lane in the 
South. The open grassed areas are used for football and is the home of Belmont Wanderers 
Football Club. Currently the site provides for up to 6 pitches of different sizes across the space. 
A mature tree lined hedgerow divides the existing recreational area from land to the south which 

169

AGENDA ITEM 7

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=223281&search-term=223281
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=223281&search-term=223281


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

falls away from the hedge boundary. This is currently agricultural land divided into one large and 
two smaller fields. The footpath/cycle way connects Hereford through to Grafton Lane bisecting 
the field and then runs parallel to the railway before joining Grafton Lane. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1: Site Location plan                                                     Figure 2: Aerial View of the site 

 
1.3 The site is currently accessed from an existing vehicular access from Vernon Williams Close, 

north of the site which currently has a gated access and with an anti-motorcycle barrier to the 
eastern side of the access. There is an existing car park on-site which is primarily provided for 
users associated with the football club as well changing room facilities provided at the northern 
extent of the car park. 

 
1.4 There are  two pedestrian accesses provided at the southern extent of the car park onto the 

existing fields where the football pitches are located, whilst a vehicular access onto the fields is 
also provided from the south-east extent of the car park, which is used as an informal over-flow 
car parking area.  

 
1.5 There are also footpaths within the site, which are utilised by pedestrians, whilst National Cycle 

Network (NCN) Route 46 also routes through the site, within the vicinity of the sites’ eastern 
boundary. 

 
1.6 The application is made in Outline with all matters with the exception of the means of access, 

reserved for future consideration. The application seeks permission for the construction of a new 
purpose built facility on a green field/recreation field site to provide:-  

 

 Fully accessible community hub building with changing facilities, classrooms and education space 
and cafe  

 3G sports pitch  

 The establishment of an accessible community owned market garden  

 Polytunnels  

 Erection of a food and horticultural skill centre  

 Ancillary Farm Shop 

 Educational garden/kitchen garden  

 Associated parking including disabled parking spaces and cycle storage provision 

 Packing shed/machinery/crop/cold store/office and kitchen building  

170



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 On-teaching rooms for gardening, wildlife, horticulture, art and other workshops as well as private 
hire events, parties, seminars, meeting and classes  

 on site toilets, cloak room and storage facilities 
 

The application has been supported by the following: 
 

 Public Consultation Report 

 Application Form 

 Noise impact Assessent Report 

 Transport Statement 

 Travel Plan 

 Landscape and Visual Appraisal 

 Landscape Character and Designations 

 Ecological Appraisal  

 Flood Risk Assessment 

 Aboricultural Impact Assessment 

 Drainage Strategy 

 Planning Statement 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Road Safety Audit Stage 
 

1.7 An Illustrative layout/framework plan (see fig 3) has been produced which demonstrates how the 
proposal can be delivered on the site along with car parking, landscaping and associated 
infrastructure (suds). The application is also accompanied by a range of supporting material as 
detailed above. Albeit the masterplan below (figure 3) does include areas outside of the 
application red line boundary as detailed in figure 1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Figure 3 illustrative Masterplan of the Site 
 

171



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

1.8 As defined within The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015: “reserved matters” in relation to an outline planning permission, or an 
application for such permission, means any of the following matters in respect of which details 
have not been given in the application. For this application Access is being considered.  

 
Access:  In relation to reserved matters, means the accessibility to and within the site, for 
vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of access and 
circulation routes and how these fit into the surrounding access network; where “site” means the 
site or part of the site in respect of which outline planning permission is granted or, as the case 
may be, in respect of which an application for such a permission has been made;  
 
The following matters are reserved for future consideration   
 
Appearance: Means the aspects of a building or place within the development which determines 
the visual impression the building or place makes, including the external built form of the 
development, its architecture, materials, decoration, lighting, colour and texture;  
 
Landscaping: In relation to a site or any part of a site for which outline planning permission has 
been granted or, as the case may be, in respect of which an application for such permission has 
been made, means the treatment of land (other than buildings) for the purpose of enhancing or 
protecting the amenities of the site and the area in which it is situated and includes—  
 
(a) screening by fences, walls or other means;  
(b) the planting of trees, hedges, shrubs or grass;  
(c) the formation of banks, terraces or other earthworks;  
(d) the laying out or provision of gardens, courts, squares, water features, sculpture or public art; 
and  
(e) the provision of other amenity features;  
 
Layout: Means the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the development are 
provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces outside 
the development;  
 
Scale: Except in the term ‘identified scale’, means the height, width and length of each building 
proposed within the development in relation to its surroundings; 
 

1.9 This appplication and the Southside project will be supported through the Government’s Stronger 
Towns’ Fund as it was part of Hereford’s successful bid for £22.4m to support 15 projects which 
all aim to create a greener, fairer city. 
 
The Southside Project has been developed by three local partners: 

 

 Belmont Wanderers FC 

 Growing Local 

 NMITE 
 
2. Policies  
 
2.1 Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy 

 
SS1 -    Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
SS4  -    Movement and transportation 
SS6 -    Environmental quality and local distinctiveness 
SS7 -    Addressing climate change 
OS1 -    Open Space 
MT1 -    Traffic management, highway safety and promoting active travel 

172



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

LD1 -    Landscape and townscape 
LD2 -    Biodiversity and geodiversity 
LD3 -    Green Infrastructure 
SC1 -    Social and community facilities 
SD1 -    Sustainable design and energy efficiency 
SD3 -    Sustainable water management and water resources 
SD4 -    Waste water treatment and river water quality 

 
The Core Strategy policies together with any relevant supplementary planning documentation  
can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:- 

 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted_core_strategy 

 
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) (the 
2012 Regulations) and paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires a review 
of local plans be undertaken at least every five years in order to determine whether the plan 
policies and spatial development strategy are in need of updating, and should then be updated 
as necessary. The Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted on 15 October 2015 and 
a review was required to be completed before 15 October 2020. This was completed in November 
2020.  The level of consistency of the policies in the local plan with the NPPF will be taken into 
account by the Council in deciding any application. 

 
2.2 Neighbourhood Development Plan 
 

Callow and Haywood Neighbourhood Development  Plan (Made 1 December 2016) 
 
 Policy CH1 Protect and Enhance Rural Landscape 

Policy CH2 Design and Access 
Policy CH4 Urban Fringe Sensitivity 
Policy CH8 Provision and Protection of Local Community Facilities 

 
2.3 National Planning Policy Framework (2021) (NPPF) 
 

Chapter 2:  Achieving sustainable development 
Chapter 4:  Decision making 
Chapter 9:  Promoting sustainable transport 
Chapter 11:  Making effective use of land 
Chapter 12:  Achieving well-designed places 
Chapter 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and and coastal change 
Chapter 15:  Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Chapter 16:  Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 

3. Planning History 
 
3.1 None relevant 
 
4. Consultation Summary 
 
 Statutory Consultations 
 
4.1 Sport England: Amended comments: July 2023: No objection 
  
 Many thanks for re-consulting Sport England on this application, and further to our recent meeting 

with the applicant, Sport England understands that the applicant has revised the application 
description to remove layout as a matter under consideration within the outline application, such 
that layout will now form a reserved matter, and that the submitted masterplan is to be treated as 
an illustrative plan. 

173

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted_core_strategy


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 
We would reiterate our advice provided previously that Sport England are supportive of the 
proposal to develop the 3G AGP and associated facilities within the existing playing field. We 
commented previously: 

 
As such, the principle of developing a 3G AGP at this site is accepted as being required to meet 
local needs. Sport England would therefore wish to see this given significant weight in the 
assessment of the application. 

 
The broad location of the 3G AGP is acceptable, providing an appropriate configuration of grass 
pitches on the remainder of the site. The size and dimensions of the AGP does need to be 
clarified, as does the proposed technical specification of the AGP, including the overall 
dimensions including run-off areas, the provision of associated hard surfaced areas for goal 
storage and spectators, the proposed carpet pile length, shockpad specification, infill material 
containment and de-contamination zones, sports fencing design, proposed pitch line markings 
for various pitch sizes to be provided, sports lighting design etc. If these details cannot be provided 
at this stage, they will need to be conditioned. The size and dimensions of the AGP will have an 
impact on how it can be used for football and rugby. For instance, as shown on the masterplan, 
the AGP is likely to be suitable for senior rugby training activities and for some mini and junior 
rugby activities, but would be too small for use for senior rugby matchplay. In addition, the 
dimensions of the AGP will have a bearing on the options for overmarked football pitches. 

 
There is also insufficient details in respect of the design of the communal building as no detailed 
floor plans have been provided at this stage. There will be a need to ensure that the changing 
rooms and associated facilities are designed in accordance with relevant guidance from Sport 
England and relevant NGB’s. Also, the changing rooms will be required to service the AGP so it 
will be important to secure their implementation prior to the first use of the AGP to ensure they 
are available when needed. 

 
A community use agreement will need to be secured to ensure that the proposed 3G pitch and 
ancillary pavilion facilities is made available for wider community use so that this benefits users 
wider than the host football club. Without this, we would be unable to agree to the 3G AGP under 
Exception E5 of our Playing Fields Policy. A suitable condition is recommended. 

 
So, subject to the various conditions listed below to address these points, we consider that the 
proposed 3G AGP can be agreed under Exception E5 of our Playing Fields Policy and that the 
pavilion can be agreed under Exception E2. The car parking is agreed under both E2 and 
Exception E3. 

 
Sport England’s understanding is that with the amendments now made to the description of the 
development, the conditions recommended previously could now be agreed with the applicant 
and the LPA. I have adjusted the wording of conditions 1 and 2 to reflect the change made. These 
are on the basis that the layout of the site now needs to be agreed. As such we wish to raise no 
objection subject to the inclusion of the following conditions: 

 
Condition 1 

No development of the proposed 3G Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP) shall commence until full 

details of the siting, design and specification of the AGP have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority after consultation with Sport England. 

The submitted details shall include plans and information to show the proposed location of 

the AGP within the existing playing field (based upon the approved illustrative masterplan no 

***) the overall AGP dimensions including run-off areas, proposed hard-surfaced areas for 

goal storage, spectator viewing/circulation, the proposed carpet pile length, shockpad 

specification, infill material containment and de-contamination zones, sports fencing design, 

proposed pitch line markings for various pitch sizes to be provided, and detailed sports 

174



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

lighting design. The AGP shall not be constructed other than in accordance with the approved 

details. 

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to accord with 

Development Plan Policy **. 

Informative : The submitted details should demonstrate that the AGP meets relevant design 

guidance from FA and RFU to meet relevant requirements for training and matchplay use 

(where relevant). 
 

Condition 2 

No development shall commence until details of the siting, design and internal layout of the 

proposed communal building/pavilion have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority after consultation with Sport England. The communal 

building/pavilion and proposed additional car parking shall not be constructed other than in 

accordance with the approved details and shall be made available for use prior to the 

approved Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP) being first brought into use. 

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to accord with 

Development Plan Policy **. 

 
Condition 3 

Use of the development shall not commence until: 

(a) certification that the Artificial Grass Pitch hereby permitted has met FIFA Quality Concept 

for Football Turf – FIFA Quality or equivalent International Artificial Turf Standard (IMS) and 

(b) confirmation that the facility has been registered on the Football Association’s Register of 

Football Turf Pitches have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.  

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable, provides sporting 

benefits and to accord with Development Plan Policy **. 
 

Condition 4 

Before the 3G AGP is brought into use, a Management and Maintenance Scheme for the 

facility including management responsibilities, a maintenance schedule and a mechanism for 

review shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority after 

consultation with Sport England. This shall include proposed measures to ensure the 

replacement of the Artificial Grass Pitch when the surface needs to be replaced. The 

measures set out in the approved scheme shall be complied with in full, with effect from 

commencement of use of the 3G AGP. 
 
Reason: To ensure that a new facility/ies is/are capable of being managed and maintained 
to deliver [a facility/facilities] which is fit for purpose, sustainable and to ensure sufficient 
benefit of the development to sport and to accord with Development Plan Policy **. 

 
Condition 5 

No development of the 3G AGP shall commence until a scheme setting out the type, design, 

lux levels and measures to control glare and overspill light from sports lighting, and measures 

to ensure sports lights are switched off when not in use, has been submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority after consultation with Sport England. The scheme 

shall accord with [Sport England's "Outdoor Sports Lighting" Briefing Note published in 2012]. 

175



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

After commencement of use of the 3G AGP the sports lighting shall be operated in 

accordance with the approved scheme. 

Reason: To balance illuminating the [playing field/sports facility] for maximum use and benefit 

to sport with the interest of amenity and sustainability and to accord with Development Plan 

Policy **. 
 

Condition 6 

The 3G AGP and its associated sports lighting shall not be used outside the hours of: 

a) [8 a.m.] and [10 p.m.] Monday to Friday; 

b) [8 a.m.] and [8 p.m.] on Saturday; and 

c) [8 a.m.] and [8 p.m.] on Sunday [and public holidays]. 

Reason: To balance illuminating the [playing field/sports facility] for maximum use and benefit 

to sport with the interest of amenity and sustainability and to accord with Development Plan 

Policy **. 
 

Condition 7 

Use of the 3G AGP shall not commence until a community use agreement prepared in 

consultation with Sport England has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority, and a copy of the completed approved agreement has been provided to 

the Local Planning Authority.  The agreement shall apply to 3G AGP, associated communal 

building/pavilion and car parking and include details of pricing policy, hours of use, access 

by non-members, management responsibilities and a mechanism for review.  The 

development shall not be used otherwise than in strict compliance with the approved 

agreement.   

Reason: To secure well managed safe community access to the sports facility/facilities, to 

ensure sufficient benefit to the development of sport and to accord with Development Plan 

Policy **. 

Informative: Guidance on preparing Community Use Agreements is available from Sport 

England. http://www.sportengland.org/planningapplications/ For artificial grass pitches it is 

recommended that you seek guidance from the Football Association/England Hockey/Rugby 

Football Union on pitch construction when determining the community use hours the artificial 

pitch can accommodate. 
 

Conclusion 
 
Given the above assessment, Sport England does not wish to raise an objection to this application 
as it is considered to meet exceptions E2, E3 and E5 of the above policy. The absence of an 
objection is subject to the above condition(s) being attached to the decision notice should the 
Local Planning Authority be minded to approve the application: 

 
Should the conditions recommended above not be imposed on any planning consent, Sport 
England would consider the proposal to not meet exception 5 of our playing fields policy, and we 
would therefore object to this application. 

 

If you wish to amend the wording of the recommended condition(s), or use another mechanism 
in lieu of the condition(s), please discuss the details with the undersigned. Sport England does 
not object to amendments to conditions, provided they achieve the same outcome and we are 
involved in any amendments. 
 

176

http://www.sportengland.org/planningapplications/


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

Sport England would also like to be notified of the outcome of the application through the receipt 
of a copy of the decision notice.  
 
The absence of an objection to this application, in the context of the Town and Country Planning 
Act, cannot be taken as formal support or consent from Sport England or any National Governing 
Body of Sport to any related funding application, or as may be required by virtue of any pre-
existing funding agreement. 

 
Previous sport England’s comments (March 2023) can be viewed via the link below:

 https://myaccount.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents?id=8f6750bb-dd0b-11ed-9068-f1a77d314b00 

 
4.2 Network Rail: Comments: No objection  

 
Network Rail has no objection in principle to the above proposal but due to the proposal being 
next to Network Rail land and our infrastructure and to ensure that no part of the development 
adversely impacts the safety, operation and integrity of the operational railway we have included 
asset protection comments which the applicant is strongly recommended to action should the 
proposal be granted planning permission. 
 
Any works on this land will need to be undertaken following engagement with Asset Protection to 
determine the interface with Network Rail assets, buried or otherwise and by entering into a Basis 
Asset Protection Agreement, if required, with a minimum of 3 months notice before works start. 
Initially the outside party should contact assetprotectionwales@networkrail.co.uk. 
 
FENCING 
If not already in place, the Developer/applicant must provide at their expense a suitable trespass 
proof fence (of at least 1.8m in height) adjacent to Network Rail’s boundary and make provision 
for its fixture maintenance and renewal without encroachment upon Network Rail land. Network 

 
Rail’s existing fencing / wall must not be removed or damaged and at no point either during 
construction or after works are completed on site should the foundations of the fencing or wall or 
any embankment therein be damaged, undermined or compromised in any way. Any vegetation 
on Network Rail land and within Network Rail’s boundary must also not be disturbed. 
 
DRAINAGE 
Soakaways / attenuation ponds / septic tanks etc, as a means of storm/surface water disposal 
must not be constructed near/within 5 metres of Network Rail’s boundary or at any point which 
could adversely affect the stability of Network Rail’s property/infrastructure. Storm/surface water 
must not be discharged onto Network Rail’s property or into Network Rail’s culverts or drains. 
Network Rail’s drainage system(s) are not to be compromised by any work(s). Suitable drainage 
or other works must be provided and maintained by the Developer to prevent surface water flows 
or run-off onto Network Rail’s property / infrastructure. Ground levels — if altered, to be such that 
water flows away from the railway. Drainage does not show up on Buried service checks. 
 
CHILDRENS PLAY AREAS/OPEN SPACES/AMENITIES 
Children’s play areas, open spaces and amenity areas must be protected by a secure fence along 
the boundary of one ofthe following kinds, concrete post and panel, iron railing, steel palisade or 
such other fence approved by the Local Planning Authority acting in consultation with the railway 
undertaker to a minimum height of 2 metres and the fence should be not able to be climbed. 
 
LANDSCAPING 
Where trees/shrubs are to be planted adjacent to the railway boundary these shrubs should be 
positioned at a minimum distance greater than their predicted mature height from the boundary.  
 
Certain broad leaf deciduous species should not be planted adjacent to the railway boundary. We 
would wish to be involved in the approval of any landscaping scheme adjacent to the railway. 

177

https://myaccount.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents?id=8f6750bb-dd0b-11ed-9068-f1a77d314b00


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

Where landscaping is proposed as part of an application adjacent to the railway it will be 
necessary for details of the landscaping to be known and approved to ensure it does not impact 
upon the railway infrastructure. Any hedge planted adjacent to Network Rail’s boundary fencing 
for screening purposes should be so placed that when fully grown it does not damage the fencing 
or provide a means of scaling it. No hedge should prevent Network Rail from maintaining its 
boundary fence. Lists of trees that are permitted and those that are not are provided below and 
these should be added to any tree planting conditions: 
 
Permitted: 
Birch (Betula), Crab Apple (Malus Sylvestris), Field Maple (Acer Campestre), Bird Cherry (Prunus 
Padus), Wild Pear (Pyrs Communis), Fir Trees - Pines (Pinus), Hawthorne (Cretaegus), 
Mountain Ash - Whitebeams (Sorbus), False Acacia (Robinia), Willow Shrubs (Shrubby Salix), 
Thuja Plicatat “Zebrina” 
 
Not Permitted: 
Alder (Alnus Glutinosa), Aspen - Popular (Populus), Beech (Fagus Sylvatica), Wild Cherry 
(Prunus Avium), Hornbeam (Carpinus Betulus), Small-leaved Lime (Tilia Cordata), Oak 
(Quercus), Willows (Salix Willow), Sycamore - Norway Maple (Acer), Horse Chestnut (Aesculu 
Hippocastanum), Sweet Chestnut (Castanea Sativa), London Plane (Platanus Hispanica). 
 
LIGHTING 
Any lighting associated with the development (including vehicle lights) must not interfere with the 
sighting of signalling apparatus and/or train drivers vision on approaching trains. The location and 
colour of lights must not give rise to the potential for confusion with the signalling arrangements 
on the railway. A glint and glare study should be submitted as part of the reserved matters 
application. 

 
4.3 Welsh Water: Comments: No objection 
 

We can advise that Eign WwTW has a phosphate permit. This matter will need to be considered 
further by the local planning authority. We can confirm capacity exists within the public sewerage 
network in order to receive the domestic foul only flows from the proposed development site. We 
advise that a connection should be made at or downstream of chamber reference S049373646. 
 
It seems the proposal is to utilise sustainable drainage to manage surface water on this site, Dwr 
Cymru Welsh Water have no objection to this however we would advise that the applicant seek 
advice from the Environment Agency and the Building Regulations Authority as both are 
responsible to regulate alternative methods of drainage. 
 
POTABLE WATER SUPPLY 
We anticipate this development will require the installation of a new single water connection to 
serve the new premises, we are currently unsure to whether our network can sufficiently supply 
the proposed development without causing detriment to existing customers' water supply. The 
provisions of Section 45 of the Water industry Act 1991 apply. We therefore rely on the Local 
Planning Authority to control the delivery of any required reinforcement works by way of planning 
condition at planning application stage. 

 
Notwithstanding this, we would request that if you are minded to grant Planning Consent for the 
above development that the Conditions and Advisory Notes listed below are included within the 
consent to ensure no detriment to existing residents or the environment and to Dwr Cymru Welsh 
Water's assets. 
 
Conditions 
No premise shall be occupied until a potable water scheme to serve the development has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
demonstrate that the existing water supply system can suitably accommodate the proposed 

178



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

development. If necessary, a scheme to reinforce the existing public water supply system in order 
to accommodate the development shall be delivered prior to the occupation of any building. 
Thereafter, the agreed scheme shall be constructed in full and remain in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is served by a suitable potable water supply. 
 
No surface water and/or land drainage shall be allowed to connect directly or indirectly with the 
public sewerage network. 
 
Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading ofthe public sewerage system, to protect the health 
and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment. 
 
Only foul water from the development site shall be allowed to discharge to the public sewerage 
system and this discharge shall be made at: or downstream of manhole reference number 
S049373646 as indicated on the extract of the Sewerage Network Plan attached to this decision 
notice. No building shall be occupied until it is served by the approved connection.  
Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health 
and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment. 
 
Advisory Notes 
The proposed development site is crossed by public sewers with the approximate position being 
marked on the attached Statutory Public Sewer Record. The positions shall be accurately located, 
marked out on site before works commence and no operational development shall be carried out 
within a specified easement zone either side of the centreline of the public sewers.  The applicant 
is advised to contact Welsh Water to discuss.  
 
The applicant may need to apply to Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water for any connection to the public 
sewer under S106 other Water industry Act 1991. If the connection to the public sewer network 
is either via a lateral drain (i.e. a drain which extends beyond the connecting property boundary) 
or via a new sewer (i.e. serves more than one property), it is now a mandatory requirement to first 
enter into a Section 104 Adoption Agreement (Water Industry Act 1991). The design of the sewers 
and lateral drains must also conform to the Welsh Ministers Standards for Gravity Foul Sewers 
and Lateral Drains, and conform with the publication "Sewers for Adoption"- 7th Edition.  
 
Further information can be obtained via the Developer Services pages of www.dwrcymru.com 
The applicant is also advised that some public sewers and lateral drains may not be recorded on 
our maps of public sewers because they were originally privately owned and were transferred into 
public ownership by nature of the Water Industry (Schemes for Adoption of Private Sewers) 
Regulations 2011. 
 
The presence of such assets may affect the proposal. In order to assist us in dealing with the 
proposal the applicant may contact Dwr Cymru Welsh Water to establish the location and status 
of the apparatus. 
 
Under the Water Industry Act 1991 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water has rights of access to its apparatus 
at all times. 
 
In accordance with National Planning Policy Framework (Edition 11) and Technical Advice Note 
12 (Design), the applicant is advised to take a sustainable approach in considering water supply 
in new development proposals, including utilising approaches that improve water efficiency and 
reduce water consumption. We would recommend that the applicant liaises with the relevant 
Local Authority Building Control department to discuss their water efficiency requirements. The 
approved use should investigate an adequate grease trap to be fitted, in accordance with 
environmental health regulations, and maintained thereafter so as to prevent grease entering the 
public sewerage system. 

 

179



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

Internal Council Consultations 
 
4.4 Principal Natural Environment Officer (Landscape): Amended comments: No objection 

It is my understanding that proposed masterplan is illustrative, and that my comments are in 
relation to principle of the access only (with access details and other matters reserved). 

 
In terms of landscape, there are no obvious impacts due to the access. There a trees within close 
proximity to the access, and these should be accessed in terms of possible harm to roots and 
health, with suitable mitigation put in place if needed. 

 
No objection 
 
Previous comments: March 2023 
 
In principle the ambition to provide sport, recreation, leisure, community and local food production 
is supported in accordance with NPPF, chapter 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities, 
however I am not convinced the development achieves the details of inclusive and safe places in 
accordance with the policies, 92 b and c.  
 
There does not seem to be an inclusive and safe pedestrian strategy. I see roads and a car park, 
but no footpaths to the building. I see a public building, but no appropriate pedestrian access from 
the local residential area (i.e. John Tarrant Close) that would users of the building. I see a path 
that cuts through or goes around the back of the communal building (awkwardly) and then goes 
to the community farm building, but then stops short of the building. 
 
In terms of appearance and visual impacts, the buildings are exposed, light mast are introduced, 
and general lighting will impact dark skies contrary to Local Plan, Core Strategy policy LD1. This 
is not to say that with quality architectural design, and integrated landscape this could not be 
influenced. Lighting could be addressed with timing controls, and appropriate ‘thin’ engineered 
infrastructure, fittings and colour to reduce visual impacts. 
 
There is evidence of some tree planting to the sports precinct that would account for some degree 
of compensation for soil sealing (hard surfacing of natural ground) in accordance with LD2 and 
LD3. However there are no trees associated with the community farm area, offering no mitigation 
to the exposed building and polytunnels viewed from a range of receptors. 
 
It is not a holistically resolved masterplan, and missing the cohesive pedestrian orientated 
community spirit, a project of this nature should demonstrate. 
 
I provide further detailed comments, and recommendations: 
 
Sports Fields 
 

Access 
The access from the existing car park is within close proximity to an existing tree, and 
would require an arboricultural survey, and method statement as per BS5837:2012 ‘Trees 
in relation to design, demolition and construction – recommendations’. 
Provide tree root protection zone (RPA) and mitigation proposals 

 
The road crosses a pedestrian and cycle path, and would cause potential pedestrian 
safety conflicts.  

 
 Provide further details and a drawing to how conflict is avoided. The transport report 

discusses this interface, but in a general way. A drawing or detail would be beneficial to 
understand the proposal. Is there a change of material, tactile paving for the blind and 

180



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

visually impaired, barriers, and signage etc.? What stops people driving onto the grass, 
or onto the pavement?   

 
How to pedestrians get from John Tarrant Close to the Communal Building in an inclusive 
and safe way? In general the pedestrian circular needs to be reviewed. 

 
Provide a pedestrian circulation strategy as part of the application. 

 
Layout 

 
In terms of the layout of the carpark and functionality, is this provision suitable for the 
realistic use of the Communal building (I.e. buses, drop-off and collect, turnaround and 
servicing). As it is drawn, it appears that pedestrians are required to walk along the road 
to get to the communal building. This is unacceptable, particularly as children and groups 
would be using the facility. 

 
 Provide information outlining the traffic and pedestrian circulation rationale. 

 
The disabled car park, and service area is located in the best place (in my view) to observe 
both sports fields north-west/ south-east.  

 
Confirm the building programme in relationship with its context and users. 

 
The building is central to the precinct, but appears to put its back onto the existing playing 
field (flexible grass pitches) and therefore the building is not visually a centralised focus 
for people arriving from the north (The main access off Vernon Williams Close), and does 
not welcome or invite people to the building. This seems to be a missed architectural 
opportunity. 

 
 Provide an explanation of the building brief as an important communal building and 

enhancement to place making. 
 

The attenuation pond is within close proximity to the car park and the pedestrian path. 
There are level differences and this does not seem to be taken into account. The main 
concern is safety between pedestrians and potentially water depths and edge conditions 
that could be unsafe.  

 
Provide further detail of grading and levels, including sections. Is the pond ecological? Is 
the pond integrated as part of the park amenity with seating? 

 
In general there is a lack of detail in relation to earthworks to form pitches and interfaces. 

 
Provide further detail of grading and levels (cut and fill), with slopes and access. 

 
Community Farm 
 

Access 
 

There does not appear to be vehicle service or emergency access to the building (that is 
to contain storage, kitchen and café). 

 
Provide further information to explain servicing and emergency access to the building (and 
the precinct in general). 

 
 
 

181



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

Layout  
 

The landscape and visual appraisal states there is a medium/ low sensitivity to change, 
and the nature of effect is negligible adverse impacts at completion and +15 years. This 
is difficult to ascertain as the buildings and polytunnels are exposed, and there is no 
mitigation of any sort within the red line boundary. 

 
 Confirm the foundation of the landscape and visual appraisal. 
 

The layout is schematic, it would be useful to have an understanding of the look and feel 
and the atmosphere of the community farm and facilities. What is the vision of the picnic/ 
play area? What is an education garden?  

 
Provide further detail. 

 
How can the layout of the new gravel path to allow maintenance access to market gardens 
be defined (by a red line boundary), when the detail of the actual spaces/use surrounding 
the path has not be designed? The path comes to a dead end. Are maintenance type 
vehicles turning at this point? The pedestrian path joins directly onto this maintenance 
path how are pedestrians or cyclist able to negotiate this path as it turns into a 
maintenance track, when the perceived path of travel would be to connect onto the 
existing path. 

 
- Provide further detail regarding the function and design of the external spaces and uses, 

including an understanding of pedestrian circulation. 
 

4.5 Principal Natural Environment Officer (Trees): no objection 
 

The drawings show arboreal constraints on this site are low. This is reinforced in the tree report, 
which describes that two trees will be affected by a new footway but this is likely to have little 
impact on the long term viability of either tree.  

 
The recommended tree protection measures will ensure trees are suitably protected for the 
entirety of development.  

 
No objection.  

 
Condition.  
Trees In accordance with plans 
 
Except where otherwise stipulated by condition, the development shall be carried out strictly in 
accordance with the following documents and plan:  
 
Bearwood Associates Ltd – BS5837:2012 Arboricultural Impact Assessment Oct 2022 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out only as approved by the Local Planning 
Authority and to conform with Policies LD1 and LD3 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 

4.6 Principal Building Conservation Officer: No objection 
 

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
Historic England – Historic Environment Good Practise Advice in Planning – Note 3 The setting 
of Heritage Assets. 
 

182



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

Historic England – Historic Environment Good Practise Advice in Planning – Note 2 Managing 
Significance in Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment.  
National Planning Policy Framework  
Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2011 – 2031 – Policies LD1, LD4 
 
The proposal is for Proposed mixed use development to provide community hub with enhanced 
recreation facilities including a 3G pitch, car park and access roads, change of use of land from 
agricultural to allotments and productive gardens new buildings to provide changing facilities, 
classrooms, equipment storage, poly tunnels café and kitchen, at Ashley Farm Grafton Court 
Close.  
 
There are no listed buildings on the site, however a number surround the site namely;  
UID  1196833 Grafton Lodge on Grafton Lane a mid C19th Villa  
UID 1280105 Grafton Bank on Grafton Lane a mid C19th Villa 
UID 1167443 Merryhill Farmhouse C18th farmhouse probably with earlier origins   
UID 1099674 Stables NW of  Merryhill Farmhouse – now dwellings.  
 
Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 places a 
statutory duty on decision makers to pay special regard to preserving listed buildings and their 
setting. This obligation does not prevent change from occurring but merely requires that change 
is properly informed and does not affect any special architectural or historic interest. This national 
legislation is repeated in Core Strategy Policy LD4 which seeks to protect, conserve, and where 
possible enhance heritage assets and their settings in a manner appropriate to their significance. 
 
The application is made in outline with the detailed design of the building to be submitted at 
reserved mates stage, however it is noted that a single storey building was supported subject to 
details at pre-application stage. It is therefore assumed that the building will be single storey. 
Landscaping is also deferred for reserved matters stage.  
 
The site is large comprising of 8.126ha with the northern area retaining 2 flexible grass pitches, 
and the existing car park. constructing a 3G pitch and 2 smaller pitches along with the communal 
building.  
 
The existing tree cover that surrounds the site is to be retained, with some additional planting.  
 
The south will provide a growing area , 4 polytunnels, and a small Store/Office/packing building.   
 
The football pitches and building will be separated from UID  1196833 Grafton Lodge  and UID 
1280105 Grafton Bank  by a line of trees to the SW of the site adjacent to the railway line, and 
both properties are in relatively large gardens with mature planting.  
 
As such it is not considered that the proposal would harm the visual setting of these 2 buildings. 
I note that setting also includes less tangible elements such as noise, light and other pollution that 
contribute to the experience of a sense of place.  However as these matters are to be considered 
by other more relevant regulators in respect of the dwellings in closer proximity to the proposal I 
shall defer consideration of these matters to the relevant consultees.  
 
UID 1167443 Merryhill Farmhouse is on an elevated site which affords views over the 
countryside. There is limited existing planting between this listed building and the southern section 
of the site, with the northern area screened by the existing trees. It  is noted that the proposed 
polytunnels have been located to the northern section of the site where there is some existing 
tree cover. As the  proposal is to grow produce in the southern most part of the site, and noting 
the fields between the site and the listed Merryhill Farmhouse are a mixture of arable and pasture, 
it is not considered that the proposal would harm the  visual setting of Merryhill Farmhouse.  
 

183



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

UID 1099674 Stables NW of  Merryhill Farmhouse are sited to the west of Merryhill Farmhouse, 
and is not readily viewed with the application site, as such it is not considered that the proposal 
would harm the  visual setting of this group of buildings.  
 
Noting the distance and screening between the development site and the nature of the proposal, 
I would raise no objections on the grounds of setting of listed buildings.   

 

4.7 Team Leader Area Engineer: Updated comments: No objection 
 

Further to the local highway authority’s (LHA) previous consultation response further information 
has been submitted to address the issues raised, including the provision of a Stage 1 Road Safety 
Audit.  In response to the additional submissions the LHA has the following comments: 
 

 It is noted that an assessment of available pedestrian routes to the site has been undertaken 
and this highlights that that most pedestrians would arrive at alternative access points to the 
Vernon Williams Close access.  Therefore the proposed access arrangement from Vernon 
Williams Close is considered acceptable. 
 

 A Stage 1 Road Safety Audit has been undertaken and no issues directly related to the safety 
of the scheme have been raised.  Recommendations were made in relation to the design of 
the crossing of Shaw’s Path so that it appeared to be more of a standard Zebra.  The LHA 
note though that cyclists should dismount to use a Zebra crossing which isn’t appropriate in 
this instance, therefore it is recommended that national guidance provided by LTN 1/20, TfL 
and the DfT is considered, alongside designs for the new style Zebra/Tiger crossings prior to 
the S278 being submitted. 

 
To conclude, the LHA has no objection to the application subject to the below conditions. 

 
Conditions: CAE, CAJ, CAP (crossing of Shaw’s Path), CAR, CAT (including how interaction with 
Shaw’s Path will be managed), CB2, CB3.  A condition should also be included which requires 
the funding of a TRO if parking restrictions are found to be required on Vernon Williams Close 
following the opening of the site 
 
Previous comments May 2023 
 
The application is for a range of uses including a new 3G pitch, changing facilities, café, kitchen, 
classrooms and allotments/market garden served by two car parks, one where the existing car 
park is located and another to the south of the footway/cycleway known as Shaw’s Path with 
disabled parking/delivery area provided adjacent to the building housing the changing rooms and 
café. 
 
The site is ideally situated to be accessed by a range of non-car modes including walking, cycling 
and public transport with off-road cycle access available from the City Centre via the Great 
Western Way/National Cycle Network Route 46 and Shaw’s Path.  Travel to the site by 
sustainable modes is to be further promoted via a Travel Plan which will increase awareness of 
and encourage the use of travel by non-car modes or car sharing. 
 
The Transport Statement submitted details of the likely attendance at various events, classes and 
groups that the site would support and a rationale for the proposed car parking numbers is 
provided.  Whilst the Local Highway Authority (LHA) agree that in the main the number of parking 
spaces being proposed is adequate there may be times when careful management may be 
required, for example, when seasonal Growing Local weekend events occur, potentially at the 
same time as a tournament or match day.  In the interests of not over-providing car parking, 
particularly if it is not required regularly every day/week, it is deemed appropriate for the users of 
the site to manage event timings to ensure such clashes do not occur. Considering this the LHA 
are accepting of the number of car parking spaces being proposed. 

184



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 
As mentioned during pre-app the LHA are concerned that if car parking should overspill onto the 
neighbouring streets or if existing on-street parking causes access issues then this could be 
addressed via a TRO to prevent on-street parking.  This is not deemed necessary from the start 
but a period of time, for example, 12 months from opening, should be allowed to see how the site 
operates.  However, it is necessary for some form of mechanism such as a condition to be 
attached to planning consent, should it be granted, to secure the funding of a TRO should it 
become necessary. 
 
It is noted that the access from Vernon Williams Close is to allow two-way traffic by opening up 
the full width, whilst this is beneficial for vehicular traffic there isn’t any provision for pedestrians.  
It is necessary to understand where the most popular pedestrian links to the site likely to be 
located to establish if this access point should be provided with some sort of pedestrian facility. 
 
The main concern for the LHA is the crossing of Shaw’s Path by the access road to the overflow 
car park and delivery area/disabled parking.  A Stage 1 Road Safety Audit was requested during 
pre-app and it is stated in the Transport Statement that one will be provided during the course of 
the application, however, to date one has not been received.  The LHA will need sight of the Audit 
prior to deciding on the acceptability of the crossing.   
 
It is noted that give-way markings require vehicles to give-way to pedestrians/cyclists on the path, 
however, in our experience vehicles often do not observe this instruction and assume 
pedestrians/cyclists will wait for them.  Interestingly, there are two examples very close to each 
other on the same stretch of cycleway (the Great Western Way) whereby one has a much higher 
rate of compliance than the other.  The first is located at Aldi where the cycleway crosses the 
entrance to the car park and has give-way markings as proposed here as well as a raised table 
but it is poorly observed by cars.  However, a different arrangement has been provided upon the 
entrance to the neighbouring Sainsbury’s store car park whereby the crossing is in the form of a 
Zebra crossing and has a much higher rate of vehicles giving way to cyclists.  Would it be possible 
for a similar arrangement (which complies with the necessary standards/regulations to enable 
cyclists to use it) to be looked at here and included as an option in the Safety Audit brief.  
Consideration should also be given to moving the path southwards so that it does not cross the 
access road so close to the northern car park because it is likely that vehicles will be pre-occupied 
with finding a space when exiting almost immediately onto the path and therefore may be 
distracted. 
 
To conclude, in general the LHA is supportive of the proposals, however, a Stage 1 Road Safety 
Audit will need to be received before a recommendation of no objection can be considered. 

 
4.8 Archaeology advisor comments: No objection. 

 
In view of the essentially negative results of the archaeological assessment and exploratory 
works on site, I have no objections or further requirements to advise. 
 

 4.9 Open Spaces Planning Officer: Amended comments No objection. July 2023 
 

Comments: Open Space  
 
Amendments: It is understood that the applicant has revised the application description to remove 
layout as a matter under consideration within the outline application, such that the layout will now 
form a reserved matter and that the submitted masterplan is to be treated as illustrative plan.  
 
Sports 3G and community hub: I have no further comments to make and I remain in support of 
the principal of the proposed community hub and 3G. Picking up my previous comments 
regarding the details for these facilities I can see that these have been considered by Sport 

185



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

England in their response following a meeting they had with the applicant and the Case Officer.   
I was unable to attend the meeting.  
 
I understand that based on the amendments now made to the description of the development that 
Sport England has provided recommendations accordingly on the basis that the layout of the site 
now needs to be agreed as conditions to meet with their exceptions E2, E3 and E5.   
 
I support the conditions proposed by Sport England.  
 
GI, SuDs, Car parking: I have no further comments to make and I remain in support of the principal 
of the proposal and associated GI to support people, place and nature.    Picking up my previous 
comments in relation to details, it is understood that the proposed masterplan is illustrative only 
with all details reserved matters, and this should include the proposed picnic/play area and 
educational garden.  
 

Previous comments April 2023 
 
Relevant Policies:    In this instance the following national and local planning policies are 
relevant. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 Chapter 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities.  
.  
Core Strategy (CS) 

 SC1: Social and Community Facilities: 

 OS3: Loss of Open Space, Sport and Recreation Facilities.  

 LD3: Green Infrastructure: 
 

Evidence Bases 

 Football Foundation: Local Football Facility Plan for Herefordshire (LFFP):  

 Herefordshire Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports(PPOS) Assessment September 2022 

 Herefordshire Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports(PPOS) Strategy and Action Plan Feb 
2023 

 
Proposal  
This planning application is for “The Southside Project” which has 3 key elements and has been 
developed as part of the Herefordshire Council’s programme of Towns-fund Projects.  I have 
previously commented on at pre-application stages as follows:  
 
Pre-applications: 

 21812 - Proposed community hub building 950 sq metres in size. Relates to 211796/CE         

 212797 - Addition of 4g pitch and improvement of parking on the facility 

 211796 Proposed community owned market garden, food and horticultural skills centre, 
café, farm shop and an educational garden. 

 
The scheme is a collaborative proposal between the 3 end users: Growing Local, Belmont 
Wanderers FC and NMITE with the intention to support communities across the South of the city 
and provide better access to facilities which provide sports, leisure, education and health and 
well-being opportunities.  This intention is supported by NPPF chapter 8 paragraphs 91, 92 and 
96 and Core Strategy Policy SC1, which support development proposals that enhance existing 
community infrastructure where they are close to settlements and have considered the potential 
for co-location of facilities and are safely accessible.  
 
The proposal is for a mixed used development comprising a community hub with enhanced 
recreation facilities including a 3G pitch, car park and access roads, change of use of land from 
agricultural to allotments and productive gardens, new building to provide changing facilities, 

186



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

classrooms, equipment storage, café and kitchen. The community hub will be multi-functional, to 
accommodate the needs of the 3 partners. 
 
The proposed site location forms two halves (north and south) bisected by an existing line of 
mature hedgerow and trees which will remain untouched.  
 
My comments will deal with the northern and southern halves separately given the nature of the 
proposal.  
 
Northern site: To the north the site consist of a large area of POS and recreation grounds with 
a mature belt of trees to the boundary.  It provides amenity open space for the adjacent residential 
areas and ultimately links through to the Belmont country park to the NW of the site forming part 
of the wider Green Infrastructure (GI) in the area.  The open grassed areas are used by Belmont 
Wanderers Football Club and provides for up to 5 pitches of different sizes across the space.  
 
Loss of Open Space:  NPPF Chapter 8 Paragraph 98: requires provision of what open space, 
sports and recreational opportunities are required in a local area to be based on robust 
assessments of need. 

As shown on the masterplan for the site (drawing HA43595_PL_02_L) the proposed community 
hub will be located in the northern side along with the 3G AGP requirements for Belmont 
Wanderers FC and the car-parking.   
 
Both the community hub and 3G AGP will both involve the loss of Open Space which will impact 
on both land currently being used as grass playing pitches and the wider GI.   
 
In accordance with Core Strategy policy OS3, in determining the appropriateness of proposals 
which result in the loss of open space, sports or recreation facility the principals of Core Strategy 
Policy OS3 need to be taken into account. 
 
Community Hub: The proposed siting of the communal building sits on land that has been 
previously used to provide a mini football pitch, so there is some quantitative loss of playing field 
to accommodate this building.   The proposed car parking is located on land incapable of forming 
a playing pitch.  
 
In accordance with Core Strategy Policy OS3 the provision of a new community hub will need to 
demonstrate that:  
 

 The loss of open space, sports or recreation facility is for the purpose of providing an 
ancillary development which improves the functioning, usability or viability of the open 
space, sport and recreation use, e.g. changing rooms, toilets and function uses. 

 
The community hub will provide improved ancillary facilities for football.  Both the PPOS and the 
LFFP recommend improved changing and ancillary facilities at Newton Farm and support facilities 
which can benefit the wider sporting and community offer.   The current facility has been audited 
as “poor” in the PPOS. 
 
On this basis the principal of the community hub is supported.  Details of the building have not 
been submitted with this application.   In order to be policy compliant the design of the changing 
rooms and associated facilities will need be in in accordance with relevant guidance from Sport 
England and relevant NGB’s and in particular Football Foundation technical standards.   
 
Insufficient details have been provided to agree the layout and design of the communal pavilion 
building. A condition is recommended to secure these details, unless the applicant wishes to 
provide further design details at this stage. 
  

187



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

3G AGP: The proposed siting of the 3G AGP will replace an existing area of grass playing field 
that is capable of accommodating a senior grass pitch. 
 
In accordance with Core Strategy Policy OS3 the provision of the 3G AGP will need to 
demonstrate that:  

 The loss of open space, sports or recreation facility results in equally beneficial 
replacement or enhanced existing facility for the local community 

 
The provision of a 3G AGP at Newton Farm is supported in both the LFFP and in the PPOS. 
 
In detail the PPOS reports for the Hereford Analysis Area which includes Hereford City that for 
football there is:  

 Current Shortfall Provision:   
o 1 x 3G full size 
o Grass pitches: Adult x 5, Youth 11 v 11 x 3, Youth 9 v 9 x 1.5 

 Current Spare Capacity 
o Grass pitches: Mini 5 v 5 x 1 

 

 Future Shortfalls 2041  

 1 x 3G full size 

 Grass pitches: Adult x 5.5, Youth 11 v 11 x 3.5 Youth 9 v 9 x 1.5 

 Spare Capacity 2041  
o Grass pitches: Mini 5 v 5 x 1 

 
Although there are shortfalls in grass pitches in the Hereford Analysis Area, the PPOS goes on to 
say that for the most part, they can be met by better utilising current provision, such as through 
improving quality, installing additional floodlighting, improving ancillary facilities and through pitch 
re-configuration (or re-designation), or through provision of suitable AGPs to accommodate more 
demand. With resources to improve the quality of grass pitches being limited, an increase in 3G 
provision could also help to reduce grass pitch shortfalls through the transfer of play, which in turn 
can aid pitch quality improvements.  The shortfall of 3G pitches can only be met through increased 
provision.  
 
It is important that the provision of any 3G pitch is compliant for football match-play to 
accommodate the demand from the loss of the grass football pitch. Belmont Wanderers have 
been consulted for the PPOSS to understand their future aspirations for growth and reported the 
potential for 5 additional teams across adult, youth and mini age groups. The proposal will allow 
the existing football club to develop. 
 
Rugby Union The provision of a World Rugby (WR) compliant 3G pitches for rugby is supported 
in the PPOS.  There are currently no WR compliant 3G AGP’s in Herefordshire and there is an 
identified need for Hereford RFC and Greyhound RFC to access additional 3G AGP’s for rugby 
training in the Hereford Analysis Area. 

 
The PPOS 3G site options indicate that Newton Farm and Hereford Leisure Centre are both 
preferred sites to develop full size 3G pitches. Each has been confirmed through the PPOS 
process as suitable locations via consultation for accommodating both football and rugby union.    
 
From a rugby union perspective, having the capacity to accommodate fixtures is of high 
importance to address issues at Hereford RFC, and Greyhound RFC.   The propose 3G AGP at 
Newton Farm is conveniently located to both these clubs who would benefit from securing access 

to help meet their training needs.   
 
In order to support local rugby union demand in the area for both the short and long term, the 
PPOS proposes that: 

188



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 opportunities for a 3G pitch compliant for WC22 match play are explored at Hereford 
Leisure Centre   

 the 3G proposed at Newton Farm will be required for training only.  In accordance with 
WR Law 1 this is not required to be WC22 compliant.   Training sessions can therefore 
only be held on this facility.    

 
3G AGP Provision: As such, the principle of developing a 3G AGP at this site is accepted as 
being required to meet local needs.   

 
The broad location of the 3G AGP is acceptable, providing an appropriate configuration of grass 
pitches on the remainder of the site. 
 
However, the size and dimensions of the AGP does need to be clarified, as does the proposed 
technical specification of the AGP.  The size and dimensions of the AGP will have an impact on 
how it can be used for football and rugby union training.  
 
Insufficient details have been provided to approve the layout and design of the AGP. A condition 
is recommended to secure these details, unless the applicant wishes to provide further design 
details at this stage. 
 
SuDs pond and Car parking: It is noted that an attenuation pond is proposed within close proximity 
to the car park and the pedestrian path. There are level differences and this does not seem to be 
taken into account. The main concern is safety between pedestrians and potentially water depths 
and edge conditions that could be unsafe.     Health and Safety issues of standing water need to 
be taken into account, particularly if the pond is to be integrated into the public open space.   
Further detail is requested showing appropriate gradients.  
 
Future Management and Maintenance:  I can see no details of any management or maintenance 
of the new facilities including the 3G AGP, community building and associated car-parking. A 
condition is recommended to secure these details, unless the applicant wishes to provide further 
design details at this stage. 
 
Green Infrastructure:  Although the proposal does include the loss of open space as described 
above, in accordance with CS Policy OS3 the loss is not seen to result in the fragmentation or 
isolation a site which is part of a GI corridor and network in this area of the city and the central 
hedgerow will be retained.  
 
Southern Site: To the south the site is currently agricultural and will be utilised by the Growing 
Local project as shown on the masterplan for the site (drawing HA43595_PL_02_L).    
 
The intention is supported by NPPF Chapter 8 Paragraph 96 which acknowledges that access to 
a network of high quality open spaces for physical activity is important for the health and well-
being of communities.  This is supported by CS Policy LD3 which supports development 
proposals which enhance the existing GI networks, the development of the Growing Local Project 
to the south of the site will add social benefits to the GI in support of garden food production, 
education opportunities and improved health and well-being.    
 
The proposal is located within close proximity to South Wye one of the most socially deprived 
areas in the county.  It forms an extension to the existing GI network and will be accessible via 
existing walking and cycling networks.  It will support healthier active lifestyles, help reduce 
inequalities and promote inclusivity and active travel.  The council’s Physical Activity Strategy -
Active and Healthy Herefordshire  March 2021 recognises that food can play a big part in the 
health of the county and one of the strategy's aims is to bring partners together to develop a local 
strategic approach to food, for example by encouraging more green space and allotment 
provision. 
 

189



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

The principal of the Growing Local Project is supported.  It is noted that a picnic/play area and 
educational garden are proposed.   Further design details will need to be provided to approve 
these elements.  A condition is recommended to secure these details, unless the applicant wishes 
to provide further design details at this stage. 
 

4.10 Principal Natural Environment Officer (Ecology): May 2023 comments 
 
The site is within the hydrological catchment which comprises part of the River Wye Special Area 
of Conservation (SAC); habitats recognised under the Habitats Regulations, (The Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as amended by the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ (the ‘Habitats Regulations’)) as being of 
international importance for its aquatic flora and fauna.  
 
The LPA must complete a relevant Habitat Regulations Assessment process and have legal and 
scientific certainty that there are no adverse effects on the integrity of the designated site PRIOR 
to any grant of a planning consent. The LPA must as required submit any HRA appropriate 
assessment for formal consultation and approval by Natural England prior to any planning 
consent being granted. 
 
The LPA requires all information to be beyond doubt and legally and scientifically certainty in 
order to complete the HRA process that must be completed with a precautionary approach. 
 
Notes in respect of HRA: 
 
The proposal for a mixed use development to provide community hub with enhanced recreation 
facilities including a 3G pitch, car park and access roads, change of use of land from agricultural 
to allotments and productive gardens and new buildings to provide changing facilities, 
classrooms, equipment storage, poly tunnels cafe and kitchen.        . 
 

 There is a mains sewer connection available to this development to manage foul water 
flow. 

 At this location the mains sewer system is managed through DCWW’s Rotherwas 
(Hereford) Wastewater Treatment Works. 

 The Rotherwas WwTW discharges in to the ‘lower middle’ section of the River Wye SAC. 

 DCWW have not made any comments to indicate that a connection to their mains sewer 
system cannot be achieved. 

 Natural England have not currently advised this LPA that this catchment area is failing its 
conservation status. 

 The additional nutrient loading can be accommodated within the allowance currently 
secured through the Core Strategy. 

 

 In relation to surface water management infiltration test results indicate that the site has 
insufficient levels of permeability to support soakaway SuDS components.  

 Therefore, a positive discharge system with attenuation is proposed with the rates of 
discharge controlled to at or below greenfield rates. 

 It is proposed that roof water from the proposed community hub building will be conveyed 
to a piped system discharging from the other SuDS components running to a flow-through 
attenuation basin located at a lower part of the site within the existing community open 
space.  

 Runoff from other buildings and the polytunnels is intercepted for with overflows from any 
storage tanks discharging to stone filled trenches surrounding each structure to promote 
infiltration. 

 Flows will be discharged either to a watercourse ditch located north east of the site or to 
an existing surface water sewer 

 

190



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

The LPA has no reason to consider that the foul and surface water management schemes cannot 
be achieved at this location. 
 
Subject to a no objection response by Natural England to the HRA appropriate assessment 
completed by the LPA there are no identified unmitigated effects from this development on the 
River Wye SAC.  
 
Habitat Regulations (River Wye SAC) – Foul Water  
Unless otherwise approved in writing by the planning authority, all foul water, created by the 
development approved by this permission shall discharge through connection to the local mains 
sewer system managed by Welsh Water  
 
Reason: In order to comply with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as 
amended by the Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ 
(the ‘Habitats Regulations’), National Planning Policy Framework, NERC Act (2006) and 
Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy policies SS1, SS6, LD2 and SD4. 
 
Habitat Regulations (River Wye SAC) – Surface Water 
Unless otherwise approved in writing by the planning authority, all surface water shall discharge 
through a suitably designed SuDS scheme.  
 
Reason: In order to comply with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as 
amended by the Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ 
(the ‘Habitats Regulations’), National Planning Policy Framework, NERC Act (2006) and 
Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy policies SS1, SS6, LD2 and SD3. 

 
Additional ecology comments: 
 
The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal by Acer Ecology dated May 2022 is noted. It should be 
noted that further ecology surveys may be required is support of a final application submission as 
outlined in the PEA. 
  
Much of the site is characterised by modified grassland with scattered trees and shrubs with 
existing pedestrian footpaths and sports pitches - the habitats are of very low ecological value 
with a low distinctiveness. Belmont Meadows LNR lies adjacent to the north-western boundary of 
the site which comprises grassland habitats with scattered scrub surrounded by Broad-leaved 
woodland.  
 
The River Wye SAC/ SSSI lies 1.34km to the north of the site.  
 
There are a number of Local Wildlife Sites within 0.5km of the site including Woodland South of 
Newton Farm which is located within the site boundary. This is a narrow woodland with oak 
standards with bramble and bluebells underneath and has high ecological value at the county 
level and is currently proposed for removal. However, the loss of this habitat will be compensated 
through a detailed landscape design which will aim to achieve 10% biodiversity net gain in line 
with NPPF. The proposed works are considered to have little impact on the long term viability of 
retained trees on site.  
 
The site is of high quality for foraging and commuting bats while a number of trees were recorded 
as having roosting potential for bats. If any of these trees are to be removed a bat assessment 
will be required to support a full application. If bats are found utilising the above trees, survey 
effort may need to be increased to gain an understanding of the bat roost present, and to provide 
enough information for a Natural England (NE) European Protected Species (EPS) Development 
Licence. 
 

191



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

While no signs of dormice were recorded on site, although a targeted survey for this species was 
not undertaken. The hedgerows on site are heavily managed and regularly flailed and as such 
are unlikely to provide an adequate fruit or flower food source but would provide a commuting 
corridor and sub-optimal shelter and nesting habitat. If any hedgerow or woodland is to be 
removed a nest tube and nest box survey should be undertaken in order to determine the 
presence/ likely absence of dormice on site. 
 
The majority of habitats on site were assessed as being generally unsuitable for great crested 
newts, although it is considered that woodland and hedgerow habitats on site are highly suitable 
for resting terrestrial phase GCN during both the active and hibernation seasons. There are two 
ponds within 500m of the site, although these were not assessed for GCN. Generally, the potential 
for impacts upon GCN is considered to be low, although the PEA recommends that reasonable 
avoidance measures should be adopted.  

 

Biodiversity Net Gain 
Prior to any construction a detailed specification and location plan for ‘hard’ habitat enhancement 
features including provision of bat roosting features (such as bat boxes or bricks), bird nesting 
boxes (mixed types) and provision of hedgehog homes and hedgehog highways through any 
impermeable boundary features shall be approved in writing by the planning authority. The 
approved scheme shall implemented in full prior to any occupation of approved dwellings and be 
hereafter maintained unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that all species are protected and habitats enhanced having regard to the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ (the ‘Habitats 
Regulations’), Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981,), National Planning Policy Framework (2021), 
NERC Act (2006) and Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy policies SS1, SS6, LD1, LD2 and 
LD3 and the council’s declared Climate Change & Ecological Emergency. 
 
The site is in an area with an intrinsically dark landscape that benefits local amenity and nature 
conservation interests, including nocturnal protected species commuting/foraging in wider 
locality. A condition to ensure all local nature conservation interests are not impacted and external 
lighting is kept to the essential minimum for householder safety and any systems installed 
compliant with current best practice is requested: 
 
Protected Species and Dark Skies (external illumination) 
No external lighting shall be provided other than the maximum of one external LED down-lighter 
above or beside each external door (and below eaves height) with a Corrected Colour 
Temperature not exceeding 2700K and brightness under 500 lumens. Every such light shall be 
directed downwards with a 0 degree tilt angle and 0% upward light ratio and shall be controlled 
by means of a PIR sensor with a maximum over-run time of 1 minute. The Lighting shall be 
maintained thereafter in accordance with these details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that all species and local intrinsically dark landscape are protected having 
regard to The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as amended by the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ (the ‘Habitats 
Regulations’), Wildlife & Countryside Act (1981 amended); National Planning Policy Framework, 
NERC Act (2006) and Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy policies SS1, SS6, LD1-3; ; and 
the council’s declared Climate Change and Ecological Emergency Construction Environmental 
Management Plan 
 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP)  
Before any work; including site clearance or demolition begin or equipment and materials are 
moved on to site, a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) including a full 
Ecological Working Method Statement and a specified ‘responsible person’, shall be supplied to 
the local planning authority for written approval. The approved CEMP shall be implemented and 
remain in place until all work is complete on site and all equipment and spare materials have 
finally been removed; unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 

192



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 
Reason: To ensure that all species are protected and habitats enhanced having regard to the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017), 
National Planning Policy Framework , NERC Act (2006), Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy 
policies LD1, LD2 and LD3. 
 

4.11 Environmental Health Service Manager (Noise / Nuisance): Updated comments July 2023: 
No objection. 
 
These comments are regarding the re-consultation of this application, which removes the layout 
as a matter under consideration. Therefore the proposed masterplan is now taken as purely 
illustrative. My concern remains with the sports facilities. In my previous comments dated 8th May 
2023, I discussed the noise impact assessment report which had been submitted and the 
essential need for the proposed mitigation to be installed. If the sports facilities proposed location 
changes from the position on the illustrative masterplan, a new/revised noise assessment will be 
required, along with any details of proposed mitigation. 
 
Once again, our preferred location for the 3G pitch would be on the part of the site furthest away 
from residential properties i.e. where the community garden is shown on the illustrative 
masterplan. The applicant will also need to provide a noise management plan, as outlined in my 
previous comments. 
 
Also as stated previously, lighting scheme conditions have been put forward by Sport England 
and I suggest that these are included in any permissions granted to avoid a nuisance being 
caused to local residents. Reason: In order to protect the amenity of local residents so as to 
comply with Policies SS6 and SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Previous comments: May 2023 
I have reviewed the application and also comments made in the various pre-apps by my 
colleague, Susannah Burrage. My comments concern the sports facilities. I do not have any 
concerns with the other areas of the proposal. 
 
Noise: 
I still have some concerns regarding the potential for noise nuisance that might arise from the 
new all-weather sports pitch. I agree with Susannah’s assessment that it would be preferable that 
the all-weather pitch be re-sited to where the community gardens are proposed to be located. 
However, I note that this has not been put forward in this outline application. 
 
A noise impact assessment report has been provided with this application. The report has been 
written by acoustic consultants, NoiseAir. The assessment takes into account the specific 
acoustic guidance produced by Sport England in relation to artificial grass pitches, which includes 
the WHO Guidelines on Community Noise, and also takes into account the cumulative noise 
impact of the proposals. The assessment concludes that whilst the proposal is within the 
recommended noise tolerances, the levels are likely to exceed residual levels at some areas 
surrounding the site. Furthermore, the use of the 3G pitch may create additional noise issues 
from the nature of its extended usage and therefore a noise barrier around the 3G pitch perimeter 
is suggested. Given that many local authorities’ experience noise and nuisance complaints in 
relation to these pitches, I would consider the proposed mitigation as essential to any permissions 
are granted. 
 
I would therefore suggest the following condition is added to any permissions granted: 
A noise barrier to be erected around the 3G pitch perimeter as outlined in and in accordance with 
Noise Impact Assessment Report reference P5446-R1-V1 dated 16th June 2022, produced by 
NoiseAir. 
 

193



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

The applicant has not provided a Noise Management Plan. Good management of this site will be 
important in controlling noise and nuisance to nearby residents and should cover all potential 
noise sources. Therefore, I suggest the following condition be added: 
 
Prior to first commencement of any use hereby permitted, a noise management plan shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
The noise management plan should address the following points as a minimum: 

 
 

 
 

rules) 
 

 
 

 
 

The noise impact assessment report does not cover any external fixed plant or equipment in the 
proposal and therefore I suggest the following condition is added to any permissions granted: 
 
A BS4142:2014 assessment (methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound) 
to be carried out and provided to the local planning authority in relation to any external fixed plant 
or equipment, prior to any installation. 
 
Lighting: 
I note that several lighting conditions in relation to lighting design, submission of a lighting scheme 
along with hours of use, have already been proposed by Sport England and I further recommend 
the inclusion of these conditions to any permissions granted. 
 

4.12 Land Drainage: Updated comments: No objection 
A revised surface water drainage strategy which takes into account the points made in the below 
email has not been provided. Within the rebuttal email from the Agent (dated 26th May 2023), 
several options are discussed, and reference is made to numerous flow controls within the 
system. 
 
The concerns raised regarding an offsite surface water discharge to a watercourse/ditch due to 
increased flood risk to the area should be accounted for with the provision of attenuation and a 
restricted discharge rate in order to mimic the greenfield run-off rate.  
 
We would also like to note that recent infiltration testing undertaken at 0.8mBGL on a nearby 
development site proved viable ground conditions to support a surface water discharge to ground.  
 
A statement has been made within the rebuttal email whereby conventional foul water drainage 
infrastructure with an indirect foul water discharge to the public sewerage network could be 
provided. Welsh Water have confirmed that the additional foul flows associated with the proposed 
development can be accommodated within the public sewer network. 
 
Although we require more clarity on the final surface water and foul water drainage arrangements, 
prior to planning being granted, if this is not viable due to time constraints, appropriate pre 
commencement drainage conditions can be applied to ensure that an acceptable surface water 
and foul water drainage system is established. Due to the point made above regarding nearby 
acceptable shallow infiltration test results, we would also look to condition further shallower 
infiltration testing to be undertaken onsite to explore the option of an infiltration basin. 
 
Previous comments: March 2023 

194



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

  
Having reviewed the submitted information, we note proposals for an attenuation basin with a 
controlled discharge to the Welsh Water surface water sewer. We appreciate that Welsh Water 
have not yet responded to the offsite discharge proposed to their sewer, however from past 
experience Welsh Water may not accept this proposed connection. 
 
If there is another offsite surface water discharge point from the development, such as a 
watercourse which we believe may be indicated in the Drainage Strategy, we advise the 
Applicant/Agent to proceed with this option.  
 
We note that attenuation is proposed in the form of permeable paving beneath the 3G pitch and 
the car parking area, however the surface water should be directed to the larger attenuation 
feature (attenuation basin). Also, it must be noted that a single flow control should be provided 
for the whole site, within the surface water drainage system prior to the outfall from the attenuation 
basin. We will not accept numerous small flow controls throughout the network as it will likely 
result in blockage. 
 
A compost toilet is also proposed for the community garden area of the site. However, we do not 
accept compost toilets, particularly in this case given the size and likely frequent use of the site. 
We ask that a conventional treatment and discharge method is implemented for this area of the 
site. 
 

4.13 Public Rights of Way Manager comments: updated comments: No objection 
 

There are no rights of way within the site. There is a Prohibition of Driving Order on byway GF7 
and HA14, so these cannot be used by vehicles to access the site. 

 
5. Representations 
 
5.1 Callow Parish Council:  
 
 The Parish Council Support the application in principle, however the PC have the following 

concerns which they ask are taken into account. The Byway open to all traffic (BOAT) The traffic 
coming into the development via the main access point at Vernon Williams Close Newton Farm 
must not be able to access , connect or link in anyway with Grafton Lane or Merryhill Lane, 
whether across the site itself, via the existing BOAT, or in any other way. 

 
 The reason for this is that Grafton Lane is already adversely affected by unsuitable through traffic 

and that connecting the two ends of the site would almost certainly significantly increase traffic 
on Grafton Lane. We would appreciate it if the Parish Council’s concerns and views are conveyed 
to PROW so that they are aware of them when making their decision concerning the boat access.
  

5.2 Representation received from 13 local residents (7 support & 5 object and 1 general comment)  
  
 Objections: main areas of concerns: 

 Surface water flooding which already exists. Will be further exacerbated 

 Local properties at a lower level greater risk of flooding 

 New drainage infrastructure? 

 Parking area for 50 new cars currently park on field when a tournament (against Council’s 
own policy). 

 Car parking on the green area will lead to further surface water run off 

 Not sure why this money is being spent at this site/area. Other sites have not received any 
funding/support 

 Hedgerows to be removed 

 What will the building be constructed off? 

 Noise and air pollution from extra vehicles 

195



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 Floodlights from sports pitches 

 Loss of walking routes and pedestrians having to give way to vehicles 

 Attraction of undesirable people 

 An eyesore  

 Financial cost not viable at this time 

 Site is currently well maintained. Application could hinder the appearance of the area
 and increase traffic, increase litter, noise and general industrialising the area that is 
currently a beautiful spot for people to enjoy, walking their dogs, playing football and 
having picnics 

 Wrong site for allotments 

 The South of the city has been developed enough in terms of offering community hubs, 
green spaces and playing fields, don't remove our current green spaces to build a cafe. 

 Reversible establishment of soccer as the sole sport apparently to be played on the 
Belmont recreation fields. 

 Put a permanent Astroturf pitch in the position suggested will for example prevent cricket 
from ever being played on this field again. 

 My main concern is the dearth of TENNIS facilities in Hereford, and that the Planners will 
allow this opportunity to pass without remedying this shortfall.  

 Hereford, a county town, has no flagship tennis centre and no publicly provided facility 
where the general public can book a tennis court. Equally pathetic is how Hereford has no 
indoor tennis facility and no prospect it seems of having any. 

 Mixed sports provision at Belmont,  

 Protection of Merryhill Lane (and the route 46 cycle way) is important – it cannot be 
allowed to become a vehicular access to the allotments planned in this project. 

 The Eastern area, nearest the existing housing, will be altered irrevocably for the worse.  

 The grassed areas will be reduced through the building of the community centre, and 
further reduced by the roads necessary tor access to the centre, the market garden area 

 and new parking provision. Allowing vehicles to access the areas used by large numbers 
of pedestrians, some of whom are elderly, is highly questionable on safety and 
environmental grounds.  

 The vehicle access point is from Vernon Williams Close, a short and narrow cul de sac 
which exists to service the local residents and no more. 

 Any increase in traffic will severely and adversely impact on immediate residents more 
frequently than at present. 

 Removal of one if not two wooded areas within the proposed development, with the 
obvious consequences for flora and fauna, which may also affect the perimeters. This at 
a time when the creation of grassed and open spaces is being encouraged by the Council 

 Apart from the road needed the area to the West, designated for the market garden and 
associated horticulture activities, is currently a meadow, which does not raise so many 
problems 
 

  Support: 

 Exciting and important project. A worthy cause 

 Only a few of its kind in the whole country/innovative project 

 Benefits of the Growing Local part of the project will be far reaching and include all age 
groups. Hugely valuable for local community 

 Educating people of all ages on good nutrition for themselves and their families - cooking, 
growing  

 new building will provide the means to teach children and adults these essential healthy 
lifestyle choices.  

 Opportunity to volunteer  

 Partnership working - environmental, health, educational and community cohesion. 

 Value for money contracts will still need to be managed well to ensure genuine community 
outcomes. 

 Positive effect on community wellbeing/improvement in personal positivity 

196



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 Community activity has health benefits 
 
 
5.3 Hereford and Worcester Fire and Rescue Service  

With regard to the attached planning application, Hereford & Worcester Fire Rescue Service  
(HWFRS) Fire Safety Department would make the following comments: 
 
If the proposed new building will be subject to Building Regulations approval, then the Fire Service 
will be consulted by either Local Authority or Approved Inspector Building Control bodies 
accordingly, for their comments on Building Regulations requirements and matters to be 
addressed, under the Fire Safety Order (2005), once the building is occupied.  
 
Fire Service Vehicle access must comply with the requirements of ADB 2019 Vol. 2 B5, section 
15 & Table 15.1. In particular – there should be Fire Service vehicle access for a Fire Appliance 
to: 

 
 

 
Water for firefighting purposes should be provided in accordance with: ADB 2019 Vol. 2 
B5, section 16. 

 
5.4 The consultation responses can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following 

link:- 
  

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=223
281&search-term=223281 

 
Internet access is available:  
 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/community-1/public-access-computers-wifi-map 

 
6. Officer’s Appraisal 
 

Policy context and Principle of Development  
 
6.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states as follows:  
 

“If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.”  

 
6.2 In this instance the adopted development plan is the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy 

and the ‘made’ Callow and Haywood Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP). The National 
Planning Policy Framework 2021 is a significant material consideration but does not hold the 
statutory presumption of a development plan .Only the southern part of the site falls within the 
Neighbourhood Development Plan area is the Callow and Haywood Group Neighbourhood 
Development Plan. The majority of the site falls within the Hereford City area which has not 
progressed a NDP. 

 
6.3 Policy SC1 supports development proposals that enhance existing social and community 

infrastructure.  NPPF paragraph 120 states that planning decisions should recognise that some 
undeveloped land can perform many functions including recreation.  NPPF paragraph 99 states 
that existing sports land should not be built on unless, amongst other scenarios, the 
development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of which clearly 
outweigh the loss of the current or former use.  NPPF paragraph 93 seeks to provide social and 
recreational facilities the community needs, to improve the health, social and cultural wellbeing 
for all sections of the community.  The proposal is supported by NPPF chapter 8 paragraphs 91, 

197

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=223281&search-term=223281
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=223281&search-term=223281
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/community-1/public-access-computers-wifi-map


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

92 and 96 and CS Policy SC1, which support development proposals that enhance existing 
community infrastructure where they are close to settlements and have considered the potential 
for co-location of facilities and are safely accessible.  

 
6.4 There is clear local and national planning policy support for the proposed facility.  The facility, 

co-locating with other well-established sporting and recreational facilities, will enhance local 
community infrastructure, giving direct effect to Core Strategy Policy SC1 as well as an effective 
and efficient use of land, consistent with the NPPF.  The proposal represents an alternative 
sports and recreational option, broadening the local recreational offering.  The applicant has 
demonstrated that the facility can be accommodated via the masterplan. The proposal   
represents a significant social benefit for the local community.  As indicated in the supporting 
representations, the facility will substantially improve the health and social wellbeing of many,.  
The impact on existing facilities are minimal, essentially limited to the loss of the football pitches, 
and this is outweighed by the health and social wellbeing benefits associated with the enhanced 
opportunities for the 3G pitch, compliant with NPPF paragraph 99(c).   

 
6.5 Sport England are a key statutory consultee.  Following initial concerns raised, the applicant met 

with Sport England and agreed to remove ‘layout’ from the proposal.  Sport England has 
subsequently retracted its original objection, subject to a suite of conditions. 

 
6.6 A range of Core Strategy policies, referred to in section 2 above are considered to be relevant. 

The strategic Policy SS1 sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development, reflective 
of the positive presumption enshrined in the NPPF. SS1 confirms that proposals that accord 
with the policies of the Core Strategy (and, where relevant other Development Plan Documents 
and Neighbourhood Development Plans) will be approved, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

 
6.7 It is therefore appropriate to consider the sustainability of the sites location and its relationship 

with the city. The site lies immediately adjacent to the existing edge of the built form of the city, 
close to Newton Farm and built environs of Hereford City as a whole; albeit it is noted that the 
railway line does act as barrier. In locational terms and in terms of sustainability, Officers are 
content that the sites location, spatially, is one that is acceptable.  

 
6.8 However, the site location forms only on part of the assessment as to whether the proposed 

development represents ‘sustainable development’ which is central to planning’s remit and 
objectives. The NPPF also seeks positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and 
historic environment and in regards people’s quality of life. 

 
6.9. Paragraph 130 outlines that planning decisions should ensure that developments: 
 

 Will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but 
over the lifetime of the development; 

 Are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping; 

 Are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation or change (such as increased densities); 

 Establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, 
building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, 
work and visit; 

 Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount 
and mix of development (including green and other public space) and support local 
facilities and transport networks; and 

 Create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-
being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime 

198



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community 
cohesion and resilience. 

Decision making and key issues  
 
6.10 Paragraph 11 of the Framework sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

For decision-taking this means where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the 
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless the application of policies of the NPPF that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed or any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

 
6.11 The report therefore considers the following key issues and their associated policies:  
 

 Highways and Access  

 Public Rights of Way 

 Flooding and Drainage 

 Ecology,  Biodiversity/HRA 

 Heritage Assets  

 Landscape Character and Appearance 

 Design and Amenity 
 
6.12 This is an application in outline form; it therefore only seeks to establish the principle of the 

development and the access thereto. Access as set out in the NPPG, means: the accessibility 
to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms of the positioning and 
treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into the surrounding access 
network. 

 
6.13. Whilst ‘layout’, is a reserved matter, the site can readily accommodate an appropriate layout. 

Layout means - the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the development are 
provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces outside 
the development.  

 
6.14 With this in mind, the application is to be considered against its compliance with policy in respect 

of the principle of the development and the matter of access. 
 
6.15 Whilst spatially, the sites location is one that is considered to be acceptable, the development 

of the site must be considered having regard to the other policies of the Core Strategy, and the 
NPPF taking into account any material considerations as appropriate. 

 
Highways and Access  

 
6.16 As defined in Article 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 

Procedure) (England) Order 2015 ‘Access’ means the accessibility to and within the site, for 
vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of access and 
circulation routes and how these fit into the surrounding access network. 

 
6.17 Core Strategy policy MT1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan, requires development proposals to 

demonstrate that the strategic and local highway networks can absorb the traffic impacts of the 
development without adversely affecting the safe and efficient flow of traffic on the network or 
that traffic impacts can be managed to acceptable levels to reduce or mitigate any adverse 
impact from the development. Developments should also ensure that proposals are designed 
and laid to achieve safe entrance and exit, have appropriate Operational and manoeuvring 
space. NPPF Policies require development proposals to give genuine choice as regards 
movement. Core Strategy policy SS4 requires developments to minimise the impacts on the 
transport network.  

199



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 
6.18 NPPF 105 requires Local Planning Authorities to facilitate the use of sustainable modes of 

transport and paragraph 110 refers to the need to ensure developments generating significant 
amount of movements should take into account of whether safe and suitable access to the site 
can be achieved for all people and whether improvements can be undertaken on the transport 
network or on highway safety can be mitigated. Development should only be prevented or 
refused on transport grounds where the ‘residual cumulative impacts of development are 
severe.’ (NPPF para 111). 

  
6.19 The application and the matter of Access is not reserved for future consideration. As such, full 

details of the proposed access are to be assessed as part of this application. Internal access 
arrangements are not under consideration within this application and this would be fully 
assessed at reserved matters stage as part of ‘layout’. However, the submitted illustrative plan 
demonstrates how the site can be delivered. 

 
6.20 The application submission included a Transport Statement and Travel plan (link: 

https://myaccount.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents?id=fc0baad0-b9c8-11ed-9068-
005056ab11cd). Also following initial comments from the Highway Engineer a Road Safety Audit 
was submitted. 

 
6.21 It is recognised that the site is well connected to both existing walking and cycle routes. A long 

distance cycle path connects the site with the city centre utilising a former railway line. The 
existing field access lane off Grafton Lane is a Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT). It is 
acknowledged within the supporting submission that this existing access is retained for the 
purposes of maintaining the land only with the principal access points either by the existing cycle 
and footpath network or via Vernon Williams Close.  As identified by the Highway Engineer in 
their comments the site is ideally situated to be accessed by a range of non-car modes including 
walking, cycling and public transport as well as travel to the site by sustainable modes to be 
further promoted via a Travel Plan which will increase awareness of and encourage the use of 
travel by non-car modes or car sharing. 

 
6.22 The Highways Engineer does not object to the scheme, noting the quantum of parking available 

is adequate although there may be times when careful management may be required, for 
example, when seasonal Growing Local weekend events occur, potentially at the same time as 
a tournament or match day.  It is deemed appropriate for the users of the site to manage event 
timings to ensure such clashes do not occur. It is noted that the access from Vernon Williams 
Close is to allow two-way traffic by opening up the full width, and although this is considered 
beneficial for vehicular traffic no provision had been provided for pedestrians.  A further 
assessment of available pedestrian routes to the site was undertaken and submitted and this 
highlights that that majority of pedestrians would arrive at alternative access points to the Vernon 
Williams Close access.  Therefore the proposed access arrangement from Vernon Williams 
Close is considered acceptable. 

 
6.23 Following the submission of the Stage 1 Road Safety Audit, no issues directly related to the 

safety of the scheme have been raised.  Albeit recommendations were made in relation to the 
design of the crossing of Shaw’s Path and this will be secured via a condition securing section 
278 works. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

200

https://myaccount.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents?id=fc0baad0-b9c8-11ed-9068-005056ab11cd
https://myaccount.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents?id=fc0baad0-b9c8-11ed-9068-005056ab11cd


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fig 4: existing accessible infrastructure and routes on site (as detailed within the 
Transport statement submitted) 

   
6.24 As highlighted above the Transportation Manager have raised no objection and are content that 

the submitted arrangement is suitable to issue Outline Planning Permission subject to 
appropriately conditions. They are content that the local highway network can absorb the 
additional traffic generated without compromising the safe operation of the network. A number 
of conditions have been suggested below that will manage construction traffic. It is therefore 
considered that the proposal would provide a safe and suitable vehicular access in accordance 
with Core Strategy policy MT1 and the requirements of para 110 of the NPPF. 

 
Public Rights of Way 

 
6.25 The application site is surrounded by public footpaths and the proposal does not impact directly 

on any PROW and it is noted that the Public Rights of Way manager has not objected to the 
proposal.  

 
Flooding and Drainage 

 
6.26 The Council’s Land Drainage Team (Local Lead Flood Authority) has been consulted on the 

application as have Welsh Water. A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and Drainage Strategy has 
been submitted to accompany this planning application. Policy SD3 of the Core Strategy states 
that measures for sustainable water management will be required to be an integral element of 
new development in order to reduce flood risk, avoid an adverse impact on water quality, protect 
and enhance groundwater resources and to provide opportunities to enhance biodiversity, 
health and recreation and will be achieved by many factors including developments 
incorporating appropriate sustainable drainage systems to manage surface water. For waste 
water, policy SD4 states that in the first instance developments should seek to connect to the 
existing mains wastewater infrastructure. Where evidence is provided that this option is not 
practical alternative arrangements should be considered in the following order; package 
treatment works (discharging to watercourse or soakaway) or septic tank (discharging to 
soakaway). 

 
6.27 The application site falls entirely within Flood Zone 1, which is classified as low probability of 

flooding. The application is has been reviewed by Council’s drainage consultant and Welsh 
Water.  Neither consultee raise an objection to the scheme.  It is noted that a revised surface 

201



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

water drainage strategy has not been provided albeit several options have been provided within 
a further submission of detail and reference is made to numerous flow controls within the system. 
Also a statement has been made within submission in regards to foul water drainage with indirect 
foul water discharge to the public sewerage network could be provided. Welsh Water have 
confirmed that the additional foul flows associated with the proposed development can be 
accommodated within the public sewer network. It is noted that the Council’s drainage 
consultant still require more clarity on the final surface water and foul water drainage 
arrangements this can be addressed by planning condition to ensure full compliance with core 
strategy Policy SD3 and SD4. 

 
Water Supply 

 
6.28 It is noted that Welsh Water have stated that the proposal will require the installation of a new 

single water connection and they have advised that they are  unsure to whether the network can 
sufficiently supply the proposed development without causing detriment to existing customers' 
water supply. They have advised a planning condition is added to this regard. 

 
Ecology and Biodiversity 

 
6.29 Policy LD2 of the Core Strategy seeks the conservation, restoration and enhancement of 

biodiversity and geodiversity assets. As such, development will not be permitted where it has 
the potential to harm these assets or reduce the effectiveness of the ecological network of sites. 
The introduction, restoration and enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity features will be 
actively encouraged. 

 
6.30 The application is supported by an Ecological Appraisal Report by Acer Ecology dated May 

2022.  The Council’s Ecologist has been consulted and considers the submitted ecology report 
which includes appropriate surveys is relevant and appropriate albeit has noted that further 
ecology surveys may be required. As identified within the ecology comments a large part of the 
site is characterised by modified grassland with scattered trees and shrubs with existing 
pedestrian footpaths and sports pitches and as such the habitats are of very low ecological value 
with a low distinctiveness. Also it is noted that the proposed works are considered to have little 
impact on the long term viability of retained trees on site. However, the site is of high quality for 
foraging and commuting bats while a number of trees were recorded as having roosting potential 
for bats.  Subject to the conditions which have been suggested by the Council’s Ecologist the 
proposed development is considered to comply with the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ (the ‘Habitats Regulations’), Wildlife and Countryside  
Act 1981,), National Planning Policy Framework (2021), NERC Act (2006) and Herefordshire 
Local Plan - Core Strategy policies SS1, SS6, LD1, LD2 and LD3.  

 
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 

 
6.31 The application site is within the catchment of the River Wye which is part of the River Wye 

Special Area of Conservation (SAC) which is a European designated site, and therefore has the 
potential to affect its interest features. European sites are afforded protection under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the ‘Habitats 
Regulations’. The SAC is notified at a national level as the River Wye Site of Scientific Interest 
(SSSI). As a site located within the catchment of the River Wye SAC, there the requirement for 
an assessment under the Habitat Regulations is triggered.  That assessment must satisfy 
beyond all reasonable scientific doubt that there would not be an adverse effect on the integrity 
of the River Wye.   The HRA screening and appropriate assessment was completed by the Local 
Planning Authority and this identified ‘No likely significant effects’ and no Appropriate 
Assessment required and planning permission can be legally granted. A consultation with NE is 
not required where a proposal is ‘screened out’ 

 
 

202



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 
Heritage Assets 

 
6.32 When considering the impact of a development proposal upon the setting of a heritage assets, 

there are several stages. Firstly identifying those assets which may be affected and their 
significance. Then those aspects of their setting which contribute to the significance are 
identified and lastly the impact of the development upon this significance is considered. It should 
be noted that a view to or from a heritage asset does not necessarily mean that a site is within 
that assets setting, this depends upon whether that view contributes to the significance of the 
asset. Also a site can be within the setting of a heritage asset without their being a direct view 
under certain circumstances. The fundamental principle is whether or not a development affects 
the significance of a heritage asset, including those aspects of its setting which contribute to its 
significance.  

 
6.33 The proposed development site does not lie within a Conservation Area and there are no listed 

building within or abutting the site albeit there are a number surround the site namely: 
 

 UID  1196833 Grafton Lodge on Grafton Lane a mid C19th Villa  

 UID 1280105 Grafton Bank on Grafton Lane a mid C19th Villa 

 UID 1167443 Merryhill Farmhouse C18th farmhouse probably with earlier origins   

 UID 1099674 Stables NW of  Merryhill Farmhouse – now dwellings. 
 
6.34 Under Section 66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the 

local planning authority is required, when considering development which affects a listed 
building or its setting:  

 
“to have special regard for the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features 
of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses” 

 
6.35 It follows that the duties in section 66 do not allow a local planning authority to treat the 

desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings merely as material considerations to which 
it can simply attach such weight as it sees fit. When an authority finds that a proposed 
development would harm the setting of a listed building, it must give that harm “considerable 
importance and weight”. Importantly, this does not mean that an authority’s assessment of likely 
harm of proposed development to the setting of a listed building or to a conservation area is 
other than a matter for its own planning judgement. Nor does it mean that an authority should 
give equal weight to harm that it considers would be limited or “less than substantial” and to 
harm that it considers would be “substantial”.  

 
6.36 The NPPF offers further guidance about heritage assets, recognising that they are irreplaceable 

resources that should be conserved; ‘…in a manner appropriate to their significance.’  
 
6.37 Paragraphs 194 to 198 offer particular clarity about the assessment to be made of the 

significance of heritage assets. Paragraph 190 outlines three criteria to be taken account of in 
the determination of planning applications. These are as follows:  

 the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting 
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  

 the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and  

 the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and  
distinctiveness.  

 
6.38 While Policy LD4 of the Core Strategy does require heritage assets to be protected, conserved 

and enhanced, and requires the scope of the work to ensure this to be proportionate to their 
significance, it does not include a mechanism for assessing how harm should be factored into 

203



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

the planning balance. As a result, and in order to properly consider the effects of development 
on heritage assets, recourse should be had to the NPPF in the first instance.  

 
6.39 Policy LD4 ‘Historic environment and heritage assets’, requires, inter alia, that development 

affecting heritage assets and the wider historic environment should preserve or where possible 
enhance heritage assets and their settings in a manner appropriate to their significance through 
appropriate management, uses and sympathetic design. In this case the site has no direct effect 
on any designated or non-designated heritage assets.  

 
6.40 As identified b Historic Buildings Officer the proposed football pitches and building will be 

separated from Grafton Lodge and Grafton Bank by a line of trees to the SW of the site adjacent 
to the railway line, and both properties are in relatively large gardens with mature planting.  As 
such it is not considered that the proposal would harm the visual setting of these 2 buildings. In 
regards to Merryhill Farmhouse this is on an elevated site it is noted that the proposed 
polytunnels have been located to the northern section of the site where there is some existing 
tree cover. As the proposal is to grow produce in the southernmost part of the site, and noting 
the fields between the site and the listed Merryhill Farmhouse are a mixture of arable and 
pasture, it is not considered that the proposal would harm the visual setting of Merryhill 
Farmhouse.  The Stables NW of  Merryhill Farmhouse are sited to the west of Merryhill 
Farmhouse, and is not readily viewed with the application site, as such it is not considered that 
the proposal would harm the  visual setting of this group of buildings. It is acknowledged that 
the Historic Buildings officer has not raised an objection on heritage grounds 

 
6.41 In regards to issues relating to archaeology it noted that the Council’s Archaeological advisor 

have confirmed no objection due to the negative results of the archaeological assessment and 
exploratory works on site, Having considered the merits of this scheme, it is officer’s opinion that 
the proposed development is unlikely to cause harm to any heritage assets or their setting. As 
such officers are able to confirm that the proposals would comply with the requirements of policy 
LD4 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy, and with the guidance set out in the 
National Planning Policy Framework (Chapter 16). 

 
Landscape Character and Appearance 

 
6.42 Policy LD1 in the Core Strategy seeks to ensure development proposals demonstrate how the 

character of the landscape and townscape has positively influenced the design, scale, and 
nature and site selection of the proposal. Development should be integrated appropriately 
through the use of landscape schemes and their management.  This policy also states that 
development should make a positive contribution to the architectural diversity and character of 
the area including, where appropriate, through innovative design. 

 
6.43 Green infrastructure is also covered by Policy LD3, which requires development proposals to 

protect, manage and plan for the preservation of existing and delivery of new green 
infrastructure; and to protect valued landscapes, trees and hedgerows. Proposals will be 
supported where the provision of green infrastructure enhances the network and integrates with, 
and connects to the surrounding green infrastructure network. 

 
6.44 Policies SS2 and SD1 seek to ensure that proposals make efficient use of land taking into 

account the local context and site characteristics. Whilst layout is a matter for future 
consideration, the illustrative plan submitted with the application seeks to demonstrate that the 
proposal is acceptable.   

 
6.45 Policy CH1 in the NDP specifically identifies measures to protect and enhance the rural 

landscape. 
 
6.46 The site comprises of an existing greenfield site but has no national landscape designations 

assigned to it. Core Strategy policy SS6 states that development proposals should be shaped 

204



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

through an integrated approach to planning certain listed environmental components from the 
outset. This needs to be based upon sufficient information to determine the effect upon each of 
these. Of these the following are considered relevant:  landscape, townscape and local 
distinctiveness, biodiversity and geodiversity especially Special Areas of Conservation and Sites 
of Special Scientific Interest the network of green infrastructure; local amenity, including light 
pollution, air quality and tranquillity, agricultural and food productivity. 

 
6.47 ‘Landscaping’ is a matter reserved for future consideration but it is necessary to consider the 

impact of the development on the landscape character. It is noted the site is not covered by any 
designations relating to character or quality. 

 
6.48 The application site includes an area of land defined as “Principled Settled Farmlands” and the 

southern, agricultural part of the site is highly representative of these published character areas, 
however the northern area has a markedly different character typical of urban edge public open 
space.  As part of the submission a landscape and Visual Impact Assessment has been 
prepared and supports the application which in its conclusion identified that the effects of the 
proposal are predicted to provide permanent negligible adverse effects on landscape character, 
and beneficial effects that range from neutral to minor beneficial for the vegetation and 
topography of the site, the Belmont Meadows Local Nature Reserve and the footpaths and cycle 
ways on the site. Also, it identified that the northern part of the site is almost entirely contained 
by mature vegetation and there is extremely limited visibility of it beyond the site boundaries. 
Topography and mature vegetation in the study area means that visibility of the site from publicly 
accessible areas is limited. The Market Garden element can potentially introduce landscape 
benefits, such as the creation of orchards. 

 
6.49 The landscape officer has confirmed there are no obvious impacts due to the access and raised 

no objection. The tree officer has also reviewed the application and Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment and confirmed no objection subject to conditions.  

 
6.50 Officers are satisfied that the development can be achieved without causing unacceptable 

landscape impacts.  The detail of the landscaping should form part of the reserved matters 
submissions and can be secured via a condition and it will be necessary to give careful 
consideration to any reserved matter application to ensure that the landscape character is taken 
into account at design stage. Officers are satisfied that, on the basis of the information provided, 
a scheme, can be delivered that is in compliance with Policy SS6, LD1, LD2 and LD3 of the 
Core Strategy and NDP policy CH1 and CH4. 

 
Design and Amenity 

 
6.51 Core Strategy policy SD1 (Sustainable Design and Energy Efficiency) seeks to secure high 

quality design and well planned development, that contributes positively to the character of the 
area and that development successfully integrates into the existing built, natural and historic 
environment. This policy also seeks the inclusion of physical sustainability measures, including 
orientation of buildings, provision of water conservation measures, storage for bicycles and 
waste, including provision for recycling and enabling renewable energy and energy conservation 
infrastructure. 

 
6.52 The application submission is in outline form only, which reserves all details apart from access 

for further consideration. A number of issues will need to be considered at the Reserved Matters 
Stage, such as design, character and amenity in particular the relationship with the existing the 
residential  properties adjoin the site to the north. 

 
6.53 As highlighted above there are residential properties in close proximity of the site and 

representation has been received from immediate neighbours raising concerns in regards to 
anti-social behaviour, noise and lighting. As part of the submission a noise assessment to 
assess the impact of the development to the existing adjacent residential area and which 

205



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

examines potential noise arising from the development during day and night to include a full 
description of the acoustic environment and actual or predicted 24 hours worst case scenario 
noise levels has been prepared and provided. 

 
6.54 Environmental Health officers have reviewed the submission noted that the proposed 

masterplan is purely illustrative. They have identified concerns in respect to the proposed sports 
facilities. They have identified that they have reviewed the noise impact assessment report and 
proposed mitigation to be installed but if the proposed facilities changes from the position on the 
illustrative masterplan, a new/revised noise assessment will be required, along with any details 
of proposed mitigation. They also highlighted that they would prefer the location for the 3G pitch 
to be sited furthest away from residential properties for example where the community garden 
is shown on the illustrative masterplan. They also highlighted the requirement of a noise 
management plan and lighting scheme conditions to avoid a nuisance being caused to local 
residents. 

 
6.55 It is considered that subject to an appropriate conditions the proposal can be acceptable on the 

amenity of nearby dwellings, and is capable of being compliant with policy SD1 of the Core 
Strategy. The wording of the proposed condition has been amended to ensure compliance 
moving forward. It is also noted that no flood lighting for the sports provision has been applied 
for as part of this application and this would require a new application. 

 
6.56 Officers would note that there is potential for the introduction acoustic fencing subject to an 

appropriate layout at the Reserved Matters stage, officers are content that any adverse impact 
can be mitigated but note that the Reserved Matters submissions, in relation to scale, layout, 
appearance and landscaping will need to carefully consider the impacts of the proposals having 
regard to the amenity of neighbour dwellings to ensure compliance with policy SD1 of the Core 
Strategy and Paragraph 130 of the NPPF.  

 
Design and Character  

 
6.57 Policy SS6 of the Core Strategy outlines that development proposals should support the local 

distinctiveness of an area. As such it is felt that the design of any buildings should respond to 
the character within the locality and the wider area. The design of the building will be considered 
when a detailed scheme comes forward under the reserved matters application, however, it is 
likely that a proposal that protects the amenity of neighbouring dwellings can be achieved and 
Officers would conclude that the proposals, being considered at this stage, accords with the 
requirements of Policy SD1 and SS6 of the Core Strategy and NDP policy CH2. 

 
Climate Change 

 
6.58  Core Strategy policy SS7 requires focus on measures to address the impact that new 

development in Herefordshire has on climate change, outlining how development proposals 
should include measures which will mitigate their impact on climate change, with policy SD1 
also seeking to support these measures. Herefordshire Council has unanimously passed a 
motion declaring a Climate Emergency, signalling a commitment to ensuring that the council 
considers tackling Climate Change in its decision-making, with this resolution came a 
countywide aspiration to be zero carbon by 2030; and a Climate Change Checklist to aid the 
consideration of development proposals.  

 
6.59 A condition has been added to ensure electric vehicle charging points will be considered at the 

reserved matters stage. 
 

 
 
 
 

206



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

Other Matters 
 
Loss of Open Space 

 
6.60 Chapter 8 of the NPPF (Para 98) requires what provision of open space, sports and recreational 

opportunities are required in a local area to be based on robust assessments of need. As shown 
on the masterplan for the site (drawing HA43595_PL_02_L) the proposed community hub will 
be located in the northern side along with the 3G pitch requirements for Belmont Wanderers FC 
and the car-parking.  Both the community hub and 3G pitch will both involve the loss of Open 
Space which will impact on both land currently being used as grass playing pitches and the 
wider area. In accordance with Core strategy Policy OS3 the provision of a new community hub 
will need to demonstrate that:  

 
The loss of open space, sports or recreation facility is for the purpose of providing an ancillary 
development which improves the functioning, usability or viability of the open space, sport and 
recreation use, e.g. changing rooms, toilets and function uses. 

 
6.61 It is noted that the community hub will provide improved ancillary facilities for football and as 

such the principal of the community hub is supported and no objection has been raised by the 
planning open space officer in this regard.   In regards to the south the site is which will be 
utilised by the Growing Local project again this is green infrastructure, the development of the 
Growing Local Project to the south of the site will add social benefits due to garden food 
production, education opportunities and improved health and well-being.   The principal of the 
Growing Local Project is supported.   

 
Conclusion 

 
6.62 The application is for outline permission with all matters reserved except for Access and 

therefore it is only the principle of development that is to be assessed.  The development is 
considered capable of being accommodated on the site but the detail of this is not currently 
under consideration. The application is to be considered in the context of the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development as required by the NPPF. This means approving 
development that accords with the development plan without delay.  The relevant policies of the 
development plan are afforded full weight for decision making. In this case, the adopted 
development plan comprises of the Core Strategy.   

 
6.63 The provision of a mixed use development to provide a community hub with recreation facilities 

and the change of use of land from agricultural to allotments and productive gardens, 
classrooms and polytunnels  as well as a cafe and kitchen has numerous benefits, not least 
being an efficient use of land.  The proposal will deliver health and social wellbeing benefits that 
outweigh the more modest dis-benefit relating to the loss of open space.  The development 
accords with the social dimension of sustainable development.   The proposal gives positive 
effect to Policy SC1 and the NPPF as well as the aspirations of NDP policy CH8.  Noteworthy 
is the absence of objection from Sport England, a key statutory consultee.  

 
6.64 The development can successfully assimilate into the local environment, maintaining landscape 

character. 
 
6.65 There are a number of local residents who have raised a matters of concerns, some of which 

are appropriately addressed by planning conditions.  Other matters are considered more 
operational or will be addressed with the submission of the reserved matters applications. There 
are a number of matters that can be readily satisfied with suitable worded conditions. These 
conditions will need to be read alongside and inform the Reserved Matters – that will look more 
closely at Layout, Appearance, Scale and Landscaping and be considered against the policies 
and guidance in place.  

 

207



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

6.66 The general support from statutory consultees together with the significant health and social 
wellbeing benefits that will result the scheme is considered to accord with the relevant policies 
of the development plan. The proposal represents sustainable development and it is 
recommended that permission be granted, subject to the conditions set out below. 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions and any other conditions 
considered necessary by officers named in the scheme of delegate to officers: 
 
Standard Conditions / Reserved Matters submission requirements 
 
1  Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.  
 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the date 
of the approval of the last reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later.  
 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.  
 

3 Approval of the details of the layout, scale, appearance and landscaping (hereinafter 
called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in 
writing before any development is commenced.  
 
Reason: To enable the local planning authority to exercise proper control over these 
aspects of the development and to secure compliance with Policy SD1, LD1, LD2, LD3, 
MT1, SC1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 
 

4. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved  plans: 
 

 Location Plan: HA 43595_PL_01_D 
 
Reason. To ensure adherence to the approved plans in the interests of a satisfactory form 
of development and to comply with Policy SD1, LD1, LD2, LD3, MT1,of the Herefordshire 
Local Plan – Core Strategy [and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

5. The reserved matters submission relating to layout, scale, appearance and landscaping 
for the development (or phase) submitted pursuant to Condition 3 shall be accompanied 
by details relating to the of the ancillary farm shop / café and educational / skills facility as 
follows:  
 

a) Retail Floor Area  
b) Hours of opening  
c) Hours of Delivery 
d) Waste Management Arrangements  

 
Reason: Reason: In order to allow further assessment of impacts of the proposed uses 
having regard to residential amenity, retail impact and highways safety having regard to 
policies SD1, MT1 and E5 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National 

208



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

Planning Policy Framework. (to inform whether a sequential approach should not be 
applied and ensure the proposal adheres to Para 90 of the NPPF). 
 

6.  The Reserved Matters submission relating to layout, scale, appearance and landscaping 
for the development (or phase) submitted pursuant to Condition 3 shall be accompanied 
by details of a submission of surface water and foul water drainage design details 
(including but not limited to details of shallow infiltration test results). 
 
Reason: To ensure drainage conforms with Policies SD3 and SD4 of the Herefordshire 
local Plan - Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework 
 

7. The reserved matters submission relating to layout, scale, appearance and landscaping 
for the development (or phase) submitted pursuant to Condition 3 shall be accompanied 
by details relating to the of the sports facilities and associated buildings or uses as 
follows:  
 

a) Hours of use  
b) Hours of Delivery (if applicable)  

 
Reason: In order to allow further assessment of impacts of the proposed uses having 
regard to residential amenity and highways safety having regard to policies SD and MT1 
of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. (to inform whether a sequential approach should not be applied and ensure 
the proposal adheres to Para 90 of the NPPF). 
 

Pre-commencement Conditions  
 
8. No development shall commencement until a map based phasing plan that identifies the 

following:   
 

- Timing of delivery of on-site highway works (including but not limited to on site 
roads, footways and cycleways including crossing of Shaws Path)   

- Timing of delivery of car park(s) 
- Timing of delivery the foul and surface water drainage arrangements including 

any off site works  
- Timing and delivery of off Site Highway works  
- Any other known phases of the development (e.g buildings / structures or 

pitches) 
 
The development, including the completion and delivery of infrastructure shall be 
constructed in accordance with the agreed phasing plan.  
 
Reason: To clarify the delivery of the proposed development (in relation to conditions and 
RM submissions) and ensure the acceptable phasing of the construction so as to ensure 
no detriment to the safe operation of the highway network and the timely provision of 
necessary infrastructure to serve the proposed uses. This is to ensure compliance with 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy Policies SD1, SS4, SS7, MT1, OS2. 
 

9. The Reserved Matters submission relating to layout, scale, appearance and landscaping 
for the development of the 3G Artificial Grass Pitch submitted pursuant to Condition 3 
shall be accompanied by the following details (see informative below):  
 

- Siting  
- Design  
- Specification of the AGP 
- Noise Mitigation measures 

209



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is fit for purposes and sustainable and 
that there is sufficient and adequate noise mitigation in place, and that there is flexibility 
to address concerns, in the interests of amenity in accordance with the requirements of 
policies SS6 and SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy and guidance 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

10. No longer than twelve months prior to any works or site preparation commencing a full, 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) – including but not limited to 
detailed ecological working methods and consideration of all environmental effects of 
construction processes shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 
The approved CEMP shall be implemented in full for the duration of all construction works 
at the site unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
If works are to be undertaken in phases, then the CEMP should clearly identify this.  
 
Reason: To ensure that all species are protected and habitats enhanced having regard to 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ (the 
‘Habitats Regulations’), Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981,), National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021), NERC Act (2006) and Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy policies 
SS1, SS6, LD1, LD2 and LD3 and the council’s declared Climate Change & Ecological 
Emergency. 
 

11. Prior to the commencement of any phase of development a Construction Management 
Plan for that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved Construction Management Plan (s) shall thereafter be adhered to 
throughout the construction period for that phase. The Construction Management Plan 
shall include, but is not limited to, the following matters: 
 

a) site management arrangements, including on-site storage of materials, plant and 
machinery; temporary offices, contractors compounds and other facilities;  

b) on-site parking and turning provision for site operatives, visitors and construction 
vehicles (including cycle parking for staff and visitors); and provision for the 
loading/unloading of plant and materials within the site; 

c) wheel washing facilities and other measures to ensure that any vehicle, plant or 
equipment leaving the application site does not carry mud or deposit other 
materials onto the public highway; 

d) measures for managing access and routing for construction and delivery traffic; 
e) hours during which construction work, including works of site clearance, and 

deliveries can take place. 
f) Tree / hedge protection plan for the phase of development  
g) Construction Traffic Management Plan 

 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details for the 
duration of the construction of the development.   
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in the interests of safeguarding adjoining 
amenity and uses and to conform to the requirements of Policies SD1, LD2, and MT1 of 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
 

12. Development shall not begin in relation to any of the specified improvements / works 
necessary to provide access from the nearest publicly maintained highway or other works 
related to the crossing of Shaw’s Path until details have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority following the completion of the technical 
approval process by the Local Highway Authority.  

210



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 
The development shall not be first used or occupied until the scheme has been 
constructed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure the safe and free flow of traffic on the highway and to conform to the 
requirements of Policy MT1 of Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 

Pre-occupation / Pre Use Conditions 
 
13. No premise shall be occupied until a potable water scheme to serve the development has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
The scheme shall demonstrate that the existing water supply system can suitably 
accommodate the proposed development. If necessary, a scheme to reinforce the existing 
public water supply system in order to accommodate the development shall be delivered 
prior to the occupation of any building. Thereafter, the agreed scheme shall be 
constructed in full and remain in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is served by a suitable potable water supply in 
accordance with the requirements of policy SD3 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core 
Strategy.  
 

14. Prior to the first use of or occupation of the development hereby permitted full details of 
a scheme for the provision of covered and secure cycle parking facilities to serve the 
proposed uses shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for their written 
approval. 
 
The covered and secure cycle parking facilities shall be carried out in strict accordance 
with the approved details and available for use prior to the first use of the development 
hereby permitted. Thereafter these facilities shall be maintained; 
 
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for secure cycle accommodation 
within the application site, encouraging alternative modes of transport in accordance with 
both local and national planning policy and to conform with the requirements of Policies 
SS7, SD1, MT1 of Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

15. The use of the Artificial Grass Pitch hereby permitted shall not commence until: 
 

(a) certification that the Artificial Grass Pitch hereby permitted has met FIFA 
Quality Concept for Football Turf – FIFA Quality or equivalent International 
Artificial Turf Standard (IMS) and 
 

(b) confirmation that the facility has been registered on the Football Association’s 
Register of Football Turf Pitches have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to accord with 
Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy Policy  OS2  
 

16. Before the 3G AGP hereby approved is brought into use, a Management and Maintenance 
Scheme for the facility including management responsibilities, a maintenance schedule 
and a mechanism for review shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority after consultation with Sport England. This shall include proposed 
measures to ensure the replacement of the Artificial Grass Pitch when the surface needs 

211



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

to be replaced. The measures set out in the approved scheme shall be complied with in 
full, with effect from commencement of use of the 3G AGP. 

 
Reason: To ensure that a new facility/ies is/are capable of being managed and maintained 
to deliver [a facility/facilities] which is fit for purpose, sustainable and to ensure sufficient 
benefit of the development to sport and to accord with Herefordshire Local Plan Core 
Strategy Policy  OS2 
 

17. No development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until written and illustrative 
details of the number, type/specification and location of electric vehicle charging point, 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
The electric vehicle charging points shall be installed in accordance with the approved 
details and be maintained and kept in good working order thereafter as specified by the 
manufacturer.  
 
Reason: To address the requirements policies in relation to climate change SS7, MT1 and 
SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy, to assist in redressing the Climate 
Emergency declared by Herefordshire Council and to accord with the provisions at 
paragraphs 108 and 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
 

18. Prior to first commencement of any use hereby permitted, a noise management plan for 
thst use or phase shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
The Noise Management Plan (NMP) should address the following points as a minimum: 
 

• statement of intent 
• a brief summary of the premises / site / activities 
• a location / site plan 
• an inventory of potential noise sources, including noise from voices detail 

of noise controls and limits (e.g. site rules) 
• site noise monitoring and / or evaluation 
• responding to complaints (including actions to be undertaken and recorded) 
• management command, communication, and contact details 
• periodic NMP review 
 

Reason: To ensure that there is sufficient and adequate noise mitigation in place, and that 
there is flexibility to address concerns as they arise, in the interests of amenity in 
accordance with the requirements of policies SS6 and SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan 
- Core Strategy and guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

19. A BS4142:2014 assessment (methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial 
sound) in relation to any external fixed plant or equipment shall be carried out and 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
installation. Works and sitallation shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details prior to first use and shall be maintained and kept in good working roder thereafter 
as specified by the manufacturer.  
 
Reason: To ensure that there is sufficient and adequate noise mitigation in place, and that 
there is flexibility to address concerns as they arise, in the interests of amenity in 
accordance with the requirements of policies SS6 and SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan 
- Core Strategy and guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework 
 

20. Prior to first commencement of any use hereby permitted a detailed specification and 
location plan for ‘hard’ habitat enhancement features including provision of bat roosting 

212



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

features (such as bat boxes or bricks), bird nesting boxes (mixed types) and provision of 
hedgehog homes and hedgehog highways through any impermeable boundary features 
shall be approved in writing by the planning authority. The approved scheme shall 
implemented in full prior to any occupation of approved dwellings and be hereafter 
maintained. 
 
Reason: To ensure that all species are protected and habitats enhanced having regard to 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ (the 
‘Habitats Regulations’), Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981,), National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021), NERC Act (2006) and Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy policies 
SS1, SS6, LD1, LD2 and LD3 and the council’s declared Climate Change & Ecological 
Emergency 
 

21. Prior to first installation of any external lighting to illuminate the development (e.g building 
/ car parking footways) a detailed specification and location plan shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This excludes sports related flood 
lighting (see informative below).  
 
Reason: To allow consideration of the impacts of the proposed lighting on biodiversity, 
amenity, landscape character, pedestrian, highway and rail safety having regards to the 
requirements of policies SS6, SD1, MT1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy.  
 

Compliance Conditions  
 
22. No surface water and/or land drainage shall be allowed to connect directly or indirectly 

with the public sewerage network. 
 

Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading ofthe public sewerage system, to protect the 
health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the 
environment 
 

23. All surface water flows created by the approved development shall be managed through 
relevant Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS). The approved SuDS shall be hereafter 
maintained and managed as approved. No surface water shall be discharged to any mains 
sewer system. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure Nutrient Neutrality and comply with The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as amended by the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ (the ‘Habitats Regulations’), National 
Planning Policy Framework, NERC Act (2006) and Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy 
policies SS1, SS6, LD2, SD3 and SD4 
 

24. Only foul water from the development site shall be allowed to discharge to the public 
sewerage system and this discharge shall be made at: or downstream of manhole 
reference number S049373646 as indicated on the extract of the Sewerage Network Plan 
attached to this decision notice. No building shall be occupied until it is served by the 
approved connection. 

 
Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the 
health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the 
environment. 
 

25. No retained tree shall be cut down, uprooted, destroyed, pruned, cut or damaged inany 
manner during the construction phase and thereafter for 5 years from the date of 
occupation of the building for its permitted use, other than in accordance with the 
approved plans and particulars. 

213



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 
Reason: In order to maintain the visual amenities of the area and to conform with Policy 
LD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

26. Any  farm shop hereby permitted as shall be used for Class E (a) and for no other purpose 
(including any other purpose in Class E of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning 
(Use Classes) Order 1987, or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory 
instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification.  
 
Reason: The Local Planning Authority wish to control the specific use of the 
land/premises, in the interest of local amenity and to comply with Policy SD1 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework 
 

27. Any  café herebey permitted shall be used for Class E (b) and for no other purpose 
(including any other purpose in Class E of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning 
(Use Classes) Order 1987, or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory 
instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification. 
 
Reason: The Local Planning Authority wish to control the specific use of the and/premises, 
in the interest of local amenity and to comply with Policies MT1 and SD1 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

28. In the event that the polytunnels hereby permitted become redundant and all other 
associated development shall be removed and the land reinstated to its original condition 
within nine months. 
 
Reason: In order to maintain the visual amenities of the area and to conform with Policy 
LD1 and SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning  
Policy Framework 
 

29. Except where otherwise stipulated by condition, the development shall be carried out 
strictly in accordance with the following documents and plan:  
 

Bearwood Associates Ltd – BS5837:2012 Arboricultural Impact Assessment Oct 
2022 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out only as approved by the Local 
Planning Authority and to conform with Policies LD1 and LD3 of the Herefordshire Local 
Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

INFORMATIVES: 
 
1. IP2 - Application Approved Following Revisions 
 
2. This permission does not authorise the display of any advertisements on the site 

(including any shown on the plans accompanying the application).  Separate application 
should be made to Herefordshire Council in accordance with the Town and Country 
Planning (Control of Advertisements)(England) Regulations 2007 

 
3. The submitted details should demonstrate that the AGP meets relevant design guidance 

from FA and RFU to meet relevant requirements for training and matchplay use (where 
relevant). 

 
Guidance on preparing Community Use Agreements is available from Sport England. 
http://www.sportengland.org/planningapplications/ For artificial grass pitches it is 

214



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

recommended that you seek guidance from the Football Association/England 
Hockey/Rugby Football Union on pitch construction when determining the community use 
hours the artificial pitch can accommodate. 

 
4. Any works on this land will need to be undertaken following engagement with Asset 

Protection to determine the interface with Network Rail assets, buried or otherwise and by 
entering into a Basis Asset Protection Agreement, if required, with a minimum of 3 months 
notice before works start. Initially the outside party should contact 
assetprotectionwales@networkrail.co.uk 

 
5. The proposed development site is crossed by public sewers with the approximate position 

being marked on the attached Statutory Public Sewer Record. The positions shall be 
accurately located, marked out on site before works commence and no operational 
development shall be carried out within a specified easement zone either side of the 
centreline of the public sewers.  The applicant is advised to contact Welsh Water to 
discuss.  

 
6. The applicant may need to apply to Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water for any connection to the 

public sewer under S106 other Water industry Act 1991. If the connection to the public 
sewer network is either via a lateral drain (i.e. a drain which extends beyond the connecting 
property boundary) or via a new sewer (i.e. serves more than one property), it is now a 
mandatory requirement to first enter into a Section 104 Adoption Agreement (Water 
Industry Act 1991). The design of the sewers and lateral drains must also conform to the 
Welsh Ministers Standards for Gravity Foul Sewers and Lateral Drains, and conform with 
the publication "Sewers for Adoption"- 7th Edition.  

 
Further information can be obtained via the Developer Services pages of 
www.dwrcymru.com. The applicant is also advised that some public sewers and lateral 
drains may not be recorded on our maps of public sewers because they were originally 
privately owned and were transferred into public ownership by nature of the Water 
Industry (Schemes for Adoption of Private Sewers) Regulations 2011. The presence of 
such assets may affect the proposal. In order to assist us in dealing with the proposal the 
applicant may contact Dwr Cymru Welsh Water to establish the location and status of the 
apparatus. 

7. Under the Water Industry Act 1991 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water has rights of access to its 
apparatus at all times. 

 
8. In accordance with National Planning Policy Framework (Edition 11) and Technical Advice 

Note 12 (Design), the applicant is advised to take a sustainable approach in considering 
water supply in new development proposals, including utilising approaches that improve 
water efficiency and reduce water consumption. We would recommend that the applicant 
liaises with the relevant Local Authority Building Control department to discuss their water 
efficiency requirements. The approved use should investigate an adequate grease trap to 
be fitted, in accordance with environmental health regulations, and maintained thereafter 
so as to prevent grease entering the public sewerage system. 

 
9. As the proposed orchard planting shown on the masterplan is currently outside the 

application boundary no condition to ensure the detailed specifications for provision 
planting and management of the orchard area are currently relevant. As an advisory any 
application to include the orchard planting should demonstrate that it will be a Traditional 
“standard” Orchard with all trees on fully vigorous rootstocks and include a range of fruit 
types and varieties – including heritage varieties of local distinctiveness. The understorey 
should be a traditional wildflower rich seed mixture. A relevant minimum 30 year 
establishment and maintenance plan should be provided that recognises the extensive 
formative care and pruning that will be required and specialist nature of the pruning and 
management of fruit trees. 

215

mailto:assetprotectionwales@networkrail.co.uk


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 
10. There is a Prohibition of Driving Order on byway GF7 and HA14, so these cannot be used 

by vehicles to access the site. 
 
11. The Authority would advise the applicant (and their contractors) that they have a legal Duty 

of Care as regards wildlife protection. The majority of UK wildlife is subject to some level 
of legal protection through the Wildlife & Countryside Act (1981 as amended), with 
enhanced protection for special “protected species” such as all Bat species, Great Crested 
Newts, Otters, Dormice, Crayfish and reptile species that are present and widespread 
across the County. All nesting birds are legally protected from disturbance at any time of 
the year. Care should be taken to plan work and at all times of the year undertake the 
necessary precautionary checks and develop relevant working methods prior to work 
commencing. If in any doubt it advised that advice from a local professional ecology 
consultant is obtained. 

 

12. The applicant’s attention is drawn to the comments of Sport England who will require 
(either as part of the Reserved Matters or discharge of condition) details to include plans 
and information to show the proposed location of the AGP within the existing playing field, 
the overall AGP dimensions including run-off areas, proposed hard-surfaced areas for 
goal storage, spectator viewing/circulation, the proposed carpet pile length, shockpad 
specification, infill material containment and de-contamination zones, sports fencing 
design, proposed pitch line markings for various pitch sizes to be provided, and detailed 
sports lighting design. The AGP shall not be constructed other than in accordance with 
the approved details. 

 
The application submission for the development of the 3G AGP did not propose (within 
plans or documents) the use of flood lighting and as such a separate planning permission 
would be required. The applicant’s attention is drawn to the comments received from 
statutory and non-statutory consultees in respect of impacts of lighting for the proposed 
development.  

 
13. The applicant’s attention is drawn to the comments of Network Rail. 
 

 
 
Decision:  ..............................................................................................................................................  
 
Notes:  ..................................................................................................................................................  
 
 ..............................................................................................................................................................  
 
Background Papers 
 
None identified. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

216



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Heather Carlisle on 01432 260453 

PF2 
 

 
 

This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made. 

  

APPLICATION NO:  223281   
 
SITE ADDRESS :  LAND AT ASHLEY FARM, GRAFTON COURT CLOSE, GRAFTON, HEREFORD, 
HEREFORDSHIRE, HR2 8BL 
 
Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.   Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Herefordshire Council.  Licence No: 100024168/2005 

 

217





 

 

 

 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

 

MEETING: PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 16 AUGUST 2023 

TITLE OF 
REPORT: 

212518/RM - RESERVED MATTERS FOLLOWING OUTLINE 
APPROVAL 191541/O (OUTLINE FOR THREE OR FOUR 
BEDROOM DWELLING ON A PLOT OF LAND CURRENTLY 
PART OF HILLCREST'S GARDEN)   AT LAND SOUTH OF 
YEW TREE FARM, RUCKHALL COMMON ROAD, EATON 
BISHOP, HEREFORD, HR2 9QX 
 
For: Mrs James per Mr Russell Pryce, Unit 5, Westwood 
Industrial Estate, Ewyas Harold, Hereford, Herefordshire 
HR2 0EL 
 

WEBSITE 
LINK: 

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=212518&search-term=212518  

 

Reason Application submitted to Committee – Redirection  

 
Date Received: 24 June 2021 Ward: Stoney Street  Grid Ref: 344893, 239396 
Expiry Date: 28 January 2022 
Local Members: Cllr David Hitchiner 
 
Update 
 
The application was considered by the Planning and Regulatory Committee on 18 April 2023 and was 
deferred.  The recorded minutes to the meeting reflect the Committee’s requirement and further detail 
regarding the following matters was requested for submission:- 
 
• Drainage and flood mitigation; and  
• The construction management plan, including parking for site operatives and access for 

vehicles delivering construction material. 
 
Given local interest in the scheme, new site publicity was arranged to ascertain any further comments 
on the matters to be considered as part of the deferral resolution.  In summary, the following comments 
have been submitted that are relevant to the deferral matters.  Other matters were raised that were 
considered as part of the original committee report. 
 
• Question marks raised over the viability of drainage mounds and the potential for leaks from 

the system over neighbouring property given relative land levels.  
• Concerns as regards the suggested route of a private water supply pipe serving Hillcrest up 

through the site and thereby impeding upon the ability to build the scheme. 
• Potential for increased run-off water onto the public highway. 
• Inconsistencies in the technical advice provided by the Drainage Engineer. 
• Concerns about the Construction Management Plan and viability of managing construction 

impacts without causing highway safety issues or undue harm to local amenity. 

219

AGENDA ITEM 8

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=212518&search-term=212518


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

 
Drainage and flood mitigation – Officer response: 
 
The advice received from the Council’s technical consultee indicates that the proposed drainage 
strategy, as amended, has been designed to manage water within the site area; and that a drainage 
channel connecting to the roadside ditch is not required.  Please see the most recent relevant 
comments from the BBLP Senior Drainage Engineer below.   
 
“We note that the surface water drainage design was developed on the basis of the water being 
retained on site.  The culvert at the site entrance was already in existence and so the post development 
run-off would be the same as the pre-development run-off.  Hence, no new discharge channel to the 
ditch is needed.” 
 
The technical merits of drainage mounds are well established and provided for within Part H of the 
Building Regulations.  As regards concerns as to the consistency of the advice provided by the 
Councils’ technical consultee, your Officers have sought further information from the Agent to assuage 
local concerns as to the General Binding Rules applying to drainage fields/mounds within 50m of a 
private water supply.  Please see paragraph 6.24 below for further commentary. 
 
As regards the suggestion of a water main running up through the site, there will be the ability to apply 
to Welsh Water for a diversion, if necessary. Welsh Water has not raised this as an issue within its 
comments on either of the outline or reserved matters applications.  This matter does not give rise to 
a reason to withhold reserved matters approval.   
 
Finally, in respect of the possible proximity of the proposed drainage mounds to the registered private 
water supply at Bethel Rose, Officers have received an update from the BBLP engineer that clarifies 
the General Binding Rules.  In response, the Agent has provided conclusive evidence that Bethel Rose 
Cottage is served by a mains water supply; in the form of a Welsh Water searches report.  It was also 
asserted that the capped-off historic well is in fact in excess of 50m away.  On this basis, no 
environmental permit will be required from the Environment Agency. 
 
Construction period issues – Officer response: 
 
It is considered that the CMP and site set-up plan provide a suitable degree of assurance that effects 
arising during the construction period could be satisfactorily managed.  Notably, the initial laying out 
of the access driveway and other temporary hardstandings would enable deliveries of materials to be 
made, as overseen by a banksman/site manager; and there would be space available for site 
operatives’ vehicles.  Moreover, given the length of the plot and the proposed rear garden, there is 
space available within the site to accommodate the spreading of the sub-soil excavated through the 
works.  A method for ensuring that mud and detritus are not carried onto the public highway is 
addressed under condition 10 of the outline permission.   
 
Overall, Officers are satisfied that the deferral matters have been satisfactorily addressed. 
 
HRA / Water quality considerations 
 
One other matter to address is the River Wye’s status being downgraded from “unfavourable-
recovering” to “unfavourable-declining”. The additional representations received suggest that this 
should necessitate further consideration of the scheme’s water quality impacts on the River Wye 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC).  However, the Council is not currently in receipt of notification 
from Natural England that the River Wye sub-catchment is failing its conservation objectives (as is the 
case with the River Lugg sub-catchment).  On that basis, there is currently no policy imperative to 
achieve nutrient neutrality, nor any requirement for the local planning authority to revisit the HRA 
Appropriate Assessment that was carried out as part of the outline application.  The requisite mitigation 
was captured within condition 13 of the outline permission granted. 
 

220



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

Other matters 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, the text of the original report is presented below but has been updated to 
incorporate matters raised when the application was last considered and to include further relevant 
representations. 
 
 

1. Site Description and Proposal 
 
1.1 This reserved matters application proposal is for the construction of a detached 4-bed dwelling 

with associated access, driveway and parking facilities.  A detached garage, as shown on the 

originally submitted plans, has been subsequently removed from the scheme.  The dwelling is 
proposed to be centrally situated within the plot, broadly speaking, with the front elevation 
addressing the lane and a private garden area lying to the rear. 
 

1.2 Outline planning permission was approved on 3 September 2019 for the construction of a 
detached 3 or 4 bed dwelling (ref. 191541/O).  The means of access to, the layout and 
landscaping of the site, as well as the scale and appearance of the dwelling, were reserved for 
future consideration.  The permission includes various conditions, including a requirement for full 
drainage details to be submitted prior to development commencing. 
 

1.3 The site is located in the centre of the small, rural settlement of Ruckhall and lies around 500m 
north-east of Eaton Bishop.  It is accessed via an existing field gate off Ruckhall Common Road 
(U73202), which terminates a short distance to the north-west of the site.  A public footpath (ref. 
EB19) runs along part of the north-western site boundary.  Immediately to the north of the site is 
Yew Tree Farm, comprising a detached dwelling and collection of steel framed, corrugated clad 
buildings. To the south lies pasture land used for keeping horses and to the east, on the opposite 
side of the lane, are mostly detached dwellings. 
 

1.4 The site itself is a long narrow strip of agricultural land enclosed on all sides with a mixture of post 
and wire and post and rail fencing, trees and intermittent native hedging.  Levels fall from the rear 
of the site towards the lane.  The house FFL would be situated at 87.187m AOD, which is roughly 
5m above the adjacent road level of 82.143m AOD. 

 
2. Policies  
 
2.1 Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy  

 
SS1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
SS2 – Delivering new homes 
SS4 – Movement and transportation 
SS6 – Environmental quality and local distinctiveness 
SS7 – Addressing climate change 
RA1 – Rural housing distribution 
RA2 – Housing in settlements outside Hereford and the market towns 
LD1 – Landscape and townscape 
LD2 – Biodiversity and geodiversity 
LD3 – Green infrastructure 
SD1 – Sustainable design and energy efficiency 
SD3 – Sustainable water management and water resources 
SD4 – Waste water treatment and river water quality 
MT1 – Traffic management, highway safety and promoting active travel 

 
The Core Strategy policies, together with any relevant supplementary planning documentation, 
can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:- 
 

221



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/local-plan-1/local-plan-core-strategy  
 
2.2 Eaton Bishop Neighbourhood Development Plan (EBNDP) 
  

EB1 – Supporting new housing within the Eaton Bishop and Ruckhall settlement boundaries 
EB2 – Site allocations 

 EB4 – Green infrastructure and protecting local landscape character and diversity  
EB5 – Protecting built heritage and archaeology and requiring high quality design  
EB7 – Managing flood risk 
EB8 – Wastewater treatment and water supply  
 
The EBNDP policies can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:- 
 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/11103/eaton_bishop_ndp_may17 
 

2.3 National Planning Policy Framework 
 

Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development 
Section 4 – Decision-making 
Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities 
Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport 
Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 
Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 
2.4 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) and 

paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework require a review of local plans be 
undertaken at least every five years in order to determine whether the plan policies and spatial 
development strategy are in need of updating, and should then be updated as necessary.  The 
Core Strategy was adopted on 15 October 2015 and the decision to review it was made on 9 
November 2020.  The EBNDP was made on 21 August 2017 and has not been reviewed since.  
The level of consistency of development plan policies with the NPPF will be taken into account 
by the Council in deciding applications.  In this case, relevant policies have been reviewed, are 
considered consistent with the NPPF and thus attributed significant weight. 

 
3. Planning History 
 
3.1 191541/O - Outline for three or four bedroom dwelling on a plot of land currently part of Hillcrest's 

garden - Approved 3 September 2019 
 
3.2 202768/XA2 - Application for approval of details reserved by condition 12 attached to outline 

permission 191541/O - Withdrawn on 15 January 2021 
 
4. Consultation Summary 
 
 Statutory Consultations 
 
4.1 Welsh Water (No objection) 
 

We acknowledge this application is for the approval of reserved matters of the original planning 
consent (ref. 191541) that established the principle of the development.  We have no objection to 
the application subject to compliance with the requirements of the drainage conditions imposed 
on the outline planning permission. 

 
  

222

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/local-plan-1/local-plan-core-strategy
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/11103/eaton_bishop_ndp_may17


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

 
 

Internal Council Consultations 
 
4.2 Transportation (No objection subject to conditions)  
 

 Vehicular accesses over 45m in length from the highway boundary to the face of a building 
should be referred to a Building Regulations Approved Inspector.  In these circumstances, 
access and turning for emergency vehicles may be required.   

 The vehicle turning area is adequate for the scale of the dwelling.  

 The dimensions of the driveway are also adequate for the nature of the development.   

 The parking provided on the driveway is acceptable. 
 
4.3 PRoW Officer (No objections) 
  
4.4 Commons Registration (comments) 
 

 I can confirm that this piece of land is adjacent to Ruckhall Common (CL65) but does not encroach 
onto it. 
 

4.5 Land Drainage Engineer 
 
 Comments since the April committee meeting   
 

 We have been made aware of an existing private water supply located within close proximity of 
the proposed drainage mound.  Therefore, the foul water drainage proposals are not strictly 
compliant with the Binding Rules as the discharge must not be within 50m from any well, spring 
or borehole that is used to supply water for domestic purposes.  The applicant will need to 
demonstrate that there will not be any deterioration in water quality at the house served by a 
private water supply.  The distance to the abstraction point should be considered. 
 
We note that the surface water drainage design was developed on the basis of the water being 
retained on site.  The culvert at the site entrance was already in existence and so the post 
development run-off would be the same as the pre-development run-off. Hence, no new discharge 
channel to the ditch is needed. 
 

 Comments dated 02/02/23 (No objections) 
 

 Review of the Environment Agency’s Flood Map for Planning indicates that the site is located 
within the low risk Flood Zone 1.  Review of the Risk of Flooding from Surface Water map also 
indicates that the site is not at risk of surface water flooding. 

 
 As the topography within the area of the proposed development is sloping, the Applicant needs 
to consider the management of overland flow and any necessary protection to the proposed 
dwellings and surface water drainage systems.  It must also be ensured that surface water run-
off generated by the proposed development does not get onto the adjacent highway.  

 
 Although we previously commented on the potential presence of springs, it has been highlighted 
that this is unlikely to be the case given the subsequent excavation of 3 groundwater trial holes.  
All three holes were 2m deep and only one hole encountered 20mm of groundwater in the base. 
Appendix 1 to the Drainage Report (05.10.22) outlines that there is a likely surface water issue 
on-site, whereby water was seen seeping out of the bank on the northwest site boundary.  This 
occurs during or after short periods of rainfall.  Given the site topography, a retaining wall is 
proposed to reduce the likelihood of any surface water flows entering the plot to the north. 

  
 

223



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

 
 
 Surface Water Drainage 
 

 We understand that a groundwater level assessment undertaken at the site was excavated to a 
depth of 2.5m BGL but found that there was no groundwater encountered at a depth of 2.2m BGL.  
The Applicant has provided the results of a single infiltration test which gave a slow infiltration 
rate of 1.87x10-6m/s at 1.5m BGL.  Permeable surfaces are proposed to receive the surface 
water and discharge it to ground.  Permeable paving is proposed for the patio area and permeable 
tarmac with a 450mm deep sub-base is proposed for the driveway and parking area.  These areas 
have been adequately sized to accommodate a 1 in 100yr + 40% CC event.  Check dams will be 
constructed every 3m along the length of the permeable surfacing. 
 
 A drainage channel will be constructed where the driveway meets the highway to prevent any 
overland surface water flows entering the highway.  The surface water will be directed to an 
existing soakaway area.  An infiltration trench is also proposed along the southern site boundary 
to prevent any overland flows from the field to the south of the site spilling onto the site. 
 
Foul Water Drainage 
 
We note that five percolation test pits were excavated to various depths across the site ranging 
between 50-600mm BGL.  Consequently, a range of Vp rates were obtained from these tests 
such as 30.4, 94.5, 126s/mm.  The better, lower rates were found at the shallower test pits 
whereby the 50mm deep pit had a Vp rate of 51.25s/mm and the 250mm deep pit had a Vp rate 
of 30.4s/mm.  The deeper pits of 600mm and 550mm depth had poorer Vp rates of 126 and 
124s/mm.  Due to the shallow depths to which the pits have been excavated, and the poor rates 
obtained at depths of 550 and 600mm, a drainage field is unsuitable.  An acceptable average Vp 
rate of 85.23s/mm was established from this testing.  Additional percolation testing has been 
undertaken at the site in February 2022, whereby another four percolation trial pits were 
excavated.  The trial pits ranged in depths from 200-600mm BGL however as all pits failed to 
drain within 24-hours, no viable Vp rates were obtained.  However, these trial pits were located 
to the west of the proposed dwelling which is not in the proposed drainage mound location.  We 
note proposals for a terraced drainage mound to discharge the foul flows to ground.  A flow split 
chamber with unequal length weirs will allow the appropriate ratio of foul flows to enter both parts 
of the mound.  A conservative Vp rate of 110.5s/mm has been used to size the drainage mound 
which means it will be slightly oversized; this is favourable.  The required drainage mound area 
is 132.6m2, as proposed.  A gravity-fed discharge will be accommodated. 
 
Comments dated 01/11/22 (as summarised) 
 
We object to the proposals due to the following concerns: 
 

 The existing surface water run-off issue observed on-site as a result of poor ground 
permeability is confirmed by poor percolation rates obtained at various depths.  This evidence 
raises significant concerns that the drainage proposals will likely result in the re-emergence 
of surface and foul water, which would cause nuisance flooding within the area.  

 The additional risk of surface water run-off onto the public highway should development occur, 
as already observed on-site. 

 
Comments dated 14/12/21 (as summarised) 
 
We object to the proposals due to the following concerns: 
 

 The presence of springs and perched water table combined with poor deep infiltration rates 
and rapid soakage at shallow depths is likely to result in the infiltrated water re-emerging and 
cause nuisance flooding within the area.  

224



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

 A pumped foul system is unfavourable due to risk of failure, maintenance costs and lifetime.  
We do not accept a pumped system is required. 

 A drainage field is not viable for this area given the poor percolation test results at the greater 
depths. 

 
 Comments dated 01/08/21 
 

 The below comments have been copied from the previous withdrawn DoC application, as no 
further relevant information has been provided. 

 
 “Further information is required to better establish the groundwater depth across different areas 
of the site. Details of the roof area and areas of hardstanding must be provided to allow 
appropriate calculations to be undertaken.  The required size of soakaways for surface water and 
a much clearer foul drainage strategy must be established to include the intended occupancy of 
the property so that the correct size of treatment plant and drainage field can be calculated (based 
on British Water Flows and Loads).  There is clear evidence of a perched water table in this 
location, and so the drainage plan must accommodate that and provide strong evidence that there 
will be no nuisance flooding as a result of this development before this condition can be 
discharged.” 

 
4.6 Ecologist (further information required) 
 

 Condition 14 of the outline permission states:  
 
“Prior to commencement of any site clearance, preparation or development a fully detailed and 
specified Ecological Working Method Statement (EWMS) including details of appointed 
Ecological Clerk of Works shall be provided to the local planning authority.  The EWMS should 
consider all relevant species but in particular consideration for great crested newts.  The approved 
EWMS shall be implemented in full unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority.” 

 
Response: No EWMS has been provided and so it is recommended that further information with 
regard to location of these additional measures be provided.  As no changes to drainage 
type/outfall are proposed since outline permission was granted, no new HRA is required. 

 
5. Representations 
 
5.1 Eaton Bishop Parish Council  
  

Comments dated 13/03/23 
 
Eaton Bishop Parish Council has again discussed this application and has heard personal 
representation from the applicant at its meeting on 8th March 2023. 
 
We appreciate the efforts the applicant has made to address our concerns; concerns which reflect 
our detailed local knowledge of the site and its environs, as well as being set out in the reserved 
matters of the outline permission. We understand that this has been a lengthy planning process, 
but this is because of real worries regarding some of the reserved matters that are being raised 
by parishioners, and the real difficulties posed by the nature of the site. 
 
The commitment to minimise disruption during the construction phase by using parking/storage 
off road at a nearby property and using smaller vehicles for deliveries to site is most welcome.  
 
We acknowledge that the height of the building has been reduced by 0.5m.  The location of the 
building further back and so higher on the site means that the finished floor level will be higher 
and the overall impact on the skyline is largely unchanged, if not marginally increased.  The 

225



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

applicant mentioned at our meeting the possibility for the floor level to be dug lower into the ground 
at the proposed site to reduce the skyline impact of the building.  We believe this could be a 
solution and would support, subject to the actual heights and FFLs being confirmed. 
 
We note that the Council's drainage experts are now confirming that the proposals will not 
exacerbate flooding onto the neighbouring properties or the road.  Whilst we are not drainage 
experts, we are familiar through experience with the flooding issues around the site, and note that 
one of our parishioners who has some expertise in this area has raised further concerns about 
the revised plans.  As we set out in our previous response, we would like reassurance from the 
Council that the plans will not exacerbate flooding issues for the road or surrounding properties.  
We feel there needs to be accountability for proper drainage plans on this site. 
 
Our remaining concern relates to the visibility splays at the access point to the site and we would 
ask that the Highways Department review this to ensure that the relevant dimensions are 
achievable; specifically the splay to the right (exiting the property) and the gate width. 
 

 Objection dated 24/10/22 
 

Eaton Bishop Parish Council has reviewed the revised planning application and appreciates the 
changes that have been made to address our concerns regarding the fit of the building into the 
local built environment and the treatment of foul and storm drainage on the site.  We have listened 
to representations of residents in the locality and also looked carefully at Policy EB1 of our NDP.  
For us to be able to support this application we would need two things:- 
 
1) The half-dormer style of the building is in keeping with the local environment but at 7m the 
height of the building is still an issue.  We suggest this could be addressed by constructing the 
base of the building 1m lower, thus creating a 6m impact on the skyline which would be 
comparable to neighbouring buildings. 
 
2) The drainage solutions appear to address our concerns, but as this is a particularly important 
and sensitive issue we would like reassurance from the Council's own drainage experts that the 
solutions are workable.  At present, we cannot see a commentary on this. 
 
Finally, we acknowledge that the access is not a planning issue, but it does need to be resolved, 
and we believe that the configuration of the common land around the entrance will make the 
proposed splays (a planning issue) not possible to construct. 
 
Objection dated 09/12/21 
 
Eaton Bishop Parish council wishes to lodge the following objection.  We acknowledge that the 
applicant has sought to address its three concerns; waste water, storm water; and the size and 
proportionality of the development.  Nonetheless, the proposal still falls short in these respects. 
 
1) The Land Drainage comments identify the likely presence of a perched water table on the site, 
the presence of which amplifies our drainage concerns. In particular the size of the drainage field 
and the soakaway need to be maximized given the available area. We also question whether 
locating the drainage field above the property with consequent reliance on pumps is wise, 
particularly as in Ruckhall we experience regular power cuts every year. 
 
2) The storm drainage relies on an overflow into a ditch.  There is no ditch owned by the property, 
so an alternative needs to be sought. 
 
3) The scale of the building remains out of proportion to the Ruckhall settlement.  See Policy EB1 
(paragraph 2) of the NDP.  For the building to fit in Ruckhall, its height needs to be reduced 
significantly.  This could be achieved for example by building the first floor within the roofspace, 
lit by dormer windows (in common with much of the existing housing stock in the settlement). 

226



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

 
Finally, although possibly not strictly a planning issue, the Parish Council notes that the applicant 
has still not addressed the problems of access.  To be clear, under the terms of the Parish 
Council's lease of the verge between the road and the proposed site, it cannot permit any 
alteration of the land, e.g. by installing a driveway or allow access for other than agricultural 
vehicles.  We urge the applicant to contact the Church Commissioners to resolve this issue. 
 
Objection dated 19/08/21 
 
The Parish Council objects to the reserved matters proposals.  We have reviewed the planning 
application and listened to points raised by local residents.  We have significant concerns that 
need to be addressed before we could support.  This is particularly disappointing as this is a site 
identified for development in the Parish NDP (please see policy EB2 of the Eaton Bishop NDP), 
but important aspects of other policies and reserved matters set out in the outline permission of 
3rd September 2019 have not been properly addressed, making the proposal in our view, 
unsuitable.  The Parish Council objects to this application for the following reasons:- 
 
1) There are no detailed plans for waste water treatment taking into account the impact of any 
outfall on the local existing drainage and flooding issues on the road below the site and the 
properties opposite.  
2) There are no detailed plans for drainage of the site, again a major concern given the nature of 
the site (significant slope and existing localised flooding issues). 
3) The scale of the proposed structure is out of proportion to the site and locality. 
 
On a separate matter we advise the applicant to seek permission for any change to the verge 
between the site gate and the roadway from the owner of the verge.  This is land owned by the 
Church Commissioners and their agreement will be needed for any change to the nature of the 
verge.  The Parish Council leases this land but is not empowered to give such permission. 
 

5.2 Church Commissioners for England (comments) 
 

Please note the Commissioners neither object or support the application and make comment on 
the details of the application itself.  I act for the Commissioners as managing agent of their 
Hereford Estate.  The Commissioners own Eaton Bishop Common, which is let to the local parish 
council.  The access for this application is proposed to cross this land owned by the 
Commissioners.  In respect of the access over this land, we are not aware that the applicant holds 
right over the Commissioners property in order to access the site nor to undertake the required 
works that are shown in the application.  Insufficient detail is provided in respect of any water run-
off from the drive and where this will be channelled to.  A drainage channel is illustrated on the 
drawings but no indication as to its connection is given.  At present, this could significantly 
increase the amount of water entering the ditch network on the Commissioners property or flowing 
over the lane.  In respect of the width of the access we are concerned that construction traffic 
travelling to and entering the site is unlikely to have sufficient space to manoeuvre without causing 
damage to land outside of the applicant’s control. 

 
5.3 A significant number of local objections have been expressed, as summarised below. 
 

 There are existing natural springs and grounds conditions are not suitable 

 Existing surface water run-off issues would be exacerbated 

 The foul water solution is not viable and could not be accommodated on the site 

 The drainage solutions would not comply with the Building Regulations 

 Access issues relating to poor visibility and the restricted driveway entrance width 

 Disruption to local residents and businesses during the construction period 

 The applicant does not own the land within the highway verge 

 Problems with indiscriminate parking on common land during the build process 

 There are private water wells within the vicinity of the site 

227



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

 The proposed dwelling would be unduly prominent and too tall and elevated 

 The style of the house would not accord with the character of the area 

 A smaller house should have been proposed due to the site constraints 

 There is a watermain  pipe running within the verge that serves Hillcrest 

 The site will be subject to significant earth movements as part of the build process 

 Access rights will need to be obtained from the Church Commissioners 
 
5.4 The consultation responses can be viewed on the Council’s website via the following link:- 
 

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=212518&search-term=212518  

 
Internet access is available at the Council’s Customer Service Centres:- 
 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage 

 
6. Officer’s Appraisal 
 

The procedural scope of this application  
 
6.1  Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states as follows:  
 

“If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.”  

 
6.2 In this instance, the adopted development plan includes the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core 

Strategy and the Eaton Bishop Neighbourhood Development Plan.  The National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) is also a significant material consideration.   

 
6.3 Approval has been sought for the reserved matters of access, appearance, landscaping, layout 

and scale.  It is stressed that outline planning permission has been granted for a 3 or 4 bed 
dwelling and the principle of development cannot be revisited.  The details of the reserved matters 
application must be in line with the outline permission, including any conditions. 

 
6.4 Drainage has been raised as a matter of significant local concern.  This is however dealt with 

under the remit of condition 12 of the outline permission.  That said, the Agent has sought to 
address concerns arising by submitting details as part of the current application, to demonstrate 
that a layout can be achieved that enables sustainable foul and surface water drainage, avoiding 
pollution or exacerbating any existing run-off issues. 

 
Access 
 

6.5 There has been some suggestion, from local residents, that it was originally envisaged that 
access would be obtained via Hillcrest.  However, the EBNDP, as ‘made’ by the Council on 21st 
August 2017, is not prescriptive in this respect.  Similarly, the outline planning permission granted 
includes no stipulations in this respect.  Moreover, the delegated Officer report for 191541/O 
states that the proposed dwelling would take access from the unclassified road to the north of the 
site, with the existing field gate forming the access point.  

 
6.6 Similar local concerns have been raised as part of the current application, in relation to the 

restrictive nature of the access point, the limited visibility within the control of the applicant and 
the impact that this could have on local roads.  However, the Council’s Transportation team has 
considered the access details supplied and raised no objection subject to conditions.  The road 
serves a small number of dwellings and a limited commercial enterprise.  The potential difficulty, 
in practice, of achieving the 20m visibility splay required to the south-east by condition 6 of the 
outline permission, is appreciated.  However, given the lightly trafficked nature of the road and 
low observed vehicle speeds, the modest uplift in vehicular movements associated with a single 

228

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=212518&search-term=212518
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

new dwelling would not lead to an unacceptable impact on highway safety or severe residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network, as per paragraph 111 of the NPPF. 

 
6.7 Similarly, whilst noting that the driveway would exceed 45m in length, it would not be possible to 

provide access/turning for emergency vehicles within the site area, due to the restricted width of 
the access point and of the plot itself, as well as associated tree constraints.  Given that outline 
permission has already been granted on the basis that safe access in this location was feasible, 
it would be unreasonable to refuse reserved matters on these grounds. 

 
6.8 The recommendation made by the Transportation team includes conditions relating to visibility 

splays; the setting back of any access gates; vehicular access, driveway and parking area 
construction; and secure cycle parking provision.  These have only been included where they are 
not already addressed by conditions attached to the outline permission.  It is stressed that the 
driveway exceeds the desirable width of 3.2m (as set out in the Highways Design Guide).  

 
6.9 Turning to another local concern, it is appreciated that the build process will lead to challenges in 

terms of construction vehicle access and unloading of materials, as well as the potential for 
parking on common land and disruption to local residents.  Conditions 5 and 10 of the outline 
permission seek to alleviate these issues in terms of residential amenity (by restricting hours of 
working) and highway safety (via a Construction Management Plan - CMP).  Nonetheless, as 
discussed within the above update, a further condition can be imposed regarding compliance with 
the details and construction site set-up plan supplied as part of this application. 

 
6.10 In terms of future enforcement of these conditions, it should be reinforced that this would only be 

where requirements were not being fulfilled, e.g. the area for site operative parking was not 
available.  Planning enforcement is not intended to more widely enforce parking regulations or 
breaches of other legislation relating to driving over common land.  Similarly, any access 
implications for, or easements required over, land within Church Commissioners’ ownership are 
private matters which should not fetter the determination of this application. 

 
Appearance, layout and scale 

 
6.11 Ruckhall is comprised of a diverse mix of house sizes and styles but properties are generally 

detached and set within reasonably sized plots.  It is fair to conclude that there is no prevailing 
vernacular, with the designs varying across the village.  Brick and render are the predominant 
external facing materials, under natural slate and tiled roofs.  The following paragraph is extracted 
from Policy EB1 of the EBNDP, given its relevance to design considerations. 
 
“The focus for new housing development is Eaton Bishop, but some small scale housing also 
may be permitted in Ruckhall, where proposals demonstrate particular attention to form, layout, 
character and setting of the site and/or they contribute to the social well-being of Ruckhall.” 

 
6.12 The plot is narrow and slopes up from the lane by several metres, which has led to the evolution 

of a bespoke design proposal that attends to these constraints.  Amended plans have been 
submitted as a result of the need to address drainage concerns by setting the house further into 
the site and the need to reduce the ridge height.  The proposed dwelling, as revised, has a narrow 
frontage with its proportions reflecting the width of the site.  The principle elevation nonetheless 
retains a gable feature addressing the lane, with the bulk of the dwelling running back into the 
site and excavated into the rising ground.  The accommodation to be provided would provide for 
an open plan arrangement at ground floor and well-sized bedrooms at first floor. 

 
6.13 On balance, whilst observing the raised ground level relative to the road, the modest height of the 

dwelling and its set back siting within the rural street scene, are found to be acceptable.  Although 
it may have a greater degree of visual prominence than nearby dwellings due to its more elevated 
position, it would not disrupt the organic settlement pattern found in the village or cause material 
harm to the rural landscape in terms of views from the surrounding countryside.  The scale of 

229



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

development, for a 4-bed, one and a half storey dwelling, is commensurate with the plot and 
would allow for a generous garden and ample parking space to be provided. 

 
6.14 It is reinforced that the finished floor level (FFL) relative to the lane has increased by virtue of 

having to set the dwelling further back into the site to facilitate a gravity-fed drainage proposal.  
The house design has been amended accordingly, with the reduced ridge height (from 8.1m to 
6.75m at the south-eastern corner) responding to its more elevated position.  The siting of the 
dwelling, alongside the corrugated clad buidings at Yew Tree Farm, also ensures there would be 
no unacceptable impacts on the residential amenity of nearby properties. 

 
6.15 As regards appearance, a balanced design approach has been adopted that is neither pastiche 

nor overtly contemporary, with the size and distribution of fenestration considered appropriate.  In 
terms of the composition of external materials, the use of red/orange brickwork would be 
complemented by off-white render to visually ‘break up’ the elevations.  Artificial roof slates are 
proposed, which would also be appropriate in this semi-rural setting. 

 
6.16 The supporting documents indicate that consideration has been given to minimising the future 

carbon impact of the house.  The use of a well-insulated air tight structure that minimises heat 
loss is to be supplemented by a low carbon heating system, in the form of air source heat pump.  
An electric vehicle charging point can be secured via a suitably worded condition and potable 
water efficiency measures are to be obtained under condition 18 of the outline permission.  
Provision for rainwater harvesting is already made within the drainage schematic drawing. 

 
6.17  In summary, the appearance, layout and scale of the proposed development are acceptable. 
  

Landscaping 
 
6.18 Existing trees and hedges are being retained, as shown on the landscaping and ecological 

enhancement plan.  New planting comprises a mixture of native hedging with occasional native 
and fruit trees and wildlife-friendly ground cover planting within the rear garden.  This planting will 
provide additional screening along the site boundaries and assist in assimilating the scheme into 
its landscape setting, as well as enhancing the biodiversity value of the site. 

 
6.19 Condition 17 of the outline permission is relevant to landscaping insofar as it requires hedgerow 

protection areas to be implemented during the construction process.  It is observed that the 
revised siting of the dwelling may require some reduction works to boundary tree canopies.  This 
is regrettable but a consequence of having to move it further back into the site.  Similarly, whilst 
there would be extensive earthworks required, any disruption caused to the locality would be 
temporary and does not give rise to a reason to refuse reserved matters. 

 
6.20 On balance, the rural landscape environment would be enhanced by the proposed planting, when 

weighed against the relatively minor adverse impacts described above.  A condition can be 
imposed to require implementation of the submitted landscape scheme. 

 
Other matters 
 

6.21 Conditions on the outline permission relevant to biodiversity include conditions 14, 15 and 16, 
relating to ecological compliance, working methods and enhancement.  These will remain to be 
satisfied through any relevant conditions discharge process.  With regard to condition 14, it is not 
necessary for the Ecological Working Method Statement (EWMS) to be submitted as part of the 
reserved matters process. 

 
6.22 As regards foul and surface water drainage, it is reiterated that condition 12 of the outline 

permission would continue to apply and require a discharge process prior to commencement of 
works.  That said, Officers are satisfied that the work undertaken, and the technical comments 
received, provide sufficient assurance to enable approval of the relevant reserved matters of 

230



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

layout and scale.  Although noting local concerns about the veracity of the revised drainage 
solutions, these are informed by a report prepared by a qualified engineer and predicated on site-
specific testing of ground conditions. The findings and recommendation of the report are accepted 
by the Council`s technical consultee.  The updated drainage report addresses the matter of locally 
reported springs (suggested in the report to be surface water seepage) by way of a retaining wall 
along the northern boundary. 

 
6.23 Should further clarification be required, despite the procedural advice set out above, Officers 

would highlight the drainage engineer’s most recent comments.  It is stressed that for surface 
water, Policy SD3 says that development should not result in an increase in run-off and should 
aim to achieve a reduction in the existing run-off rate and volumes, where possible.  Moreover, 
Policy EB7 of the EBNDP says that new development must be designed to maximise the retention 
of surface water on the site and to minimise run-off.  These requirements should however be 
distinguished from any notion that the scheme must fully alleviate existing issues.  

 
6.24 The foul solution is compliant with the requirements of condition 13 of the outline permission, 

insofar as a new private foul water treatment system is proposed with final outfall to an elevated 
drainage field/mound on land under the applicant’s control.  Although the mound would have an 
‘artificial’ appearance, the visual harm arising is limited.  Review of the EA’s groundwater map 
indicates that the site is not located within a designated Source Protection Zone.     
 
Conclusion 

 
6.25 The layout, scale and appearance of the proposed new dwelling, along with the proposed 

landscaping, have been designed to harmonise with the built and natural context of the site and 
the verdant character of the area.  The dwelling would also be served by safe and suitable access 
and appropriate car parking and private amenity space can be fulfilled. 

 
6.26 The development therefore upholds the design requirements of Policies RA2, SD1 and LD1 of 

the Core Strategy and Section 12 of the NPPF.  Furthermore, the proposed access and parking 
facilities satisfy the objectives of Policy MT1 of the Core Startegy.  The development also accords 
with the design requirements of relevant EBNDP policies, particularly EB1 concerning new 
housing within the Ruckhall settlement boundary; EB4 regarding the protection of local landscape 
character and biodiversity; and EB5 in terms of requiring high quality design. 

 
6.27 Accordingly, this reserved matters proposal is compliant with the development plan and the 

NPPF.  There are no substantive reasons why approval should be withheld. 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That reserved matters approval be granted subject to the following conditions and any other 
conditions considered necessary by officers named in the scheme of delegation to officers: 
 
1. The development hereby approved shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 

approved plans (drawing nos. YTF-PA-529601b; YTF-PA-5296-02d; YTF-PA-5296-03d; 
YTF-PA-5296-04c and YTF-PA-5296-06) except where otherwise stipulated by 
conditions attached to this reserved matters approval. 
 
Reason: To ensure adherence to the approved plans and to protect the general 
character and amenities of the area in accordance with the requirements of Policy 
SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

231



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
approved schedule of materials, as found on drawing no. YTF-PA-5296-03d, unless 
samples and/or trade descriptions of alternative materials are submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority (in which case, development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details). 
 
Reason: To ensure that the materials harmonise with the surroundings so as to 
ensure that the development complies with the requirements of Policies SD1 and LD1 
of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy, Policy EB1 of the Eaton Bishop 
Neighbourhood Development Plan and the requirements of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

3. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted Construction Management Plan and site set-up plan (YTF-PA-5296-07) for 
the duration of the construction period of the development. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to conform to the requirements of 
Policy MT1 of Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

4. All planting, seeding or turf laying in the approved landscaping scheme (drawing no. 
YTF-PA-5296-02d) shall be carried out in the first planting season following the 
occupation of the dwelling or the completion of the development, whichever is the 
sooner.  Any trees or plants which die, are removed or become severely damaged or 
diseased within 5 years of planting will be replaced in accordance with the approved 
plans. 
 
Reason: To ensure implementation of the landscape scheme approved by local 
planning authority in order to conform with Policies SS6, LD1 and LD3 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework 
 

5. Existing boundary treatments shall be retained, unless otherwise specified on the 
approved plans or approved in writing by the local planning authority (in which case, 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details). 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is assimilated into its semi-rural setting, in order 
to conform with Policies SS6, SD1 and LD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan - Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

6. Any new access gates/doors shall be set back 5 metres from the adjoining 
carriageway edge and shall be made to open inwards only. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to conform to the requirements of 
Policy MT1 of Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  
 

7. Prior to first occupation of the dwelling hereby permitted, written and illustrative 
details of the type/specification and location of a charging point to enable the 
charging of plug-in and other ultralow emission vehicles (e.g. provision of cabling 
and outside sockets) and serve the occupiers, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  The charging point shall be installed prior to 
first occupation and be maintained and kept in good working order thereafter as 
specified by the manufacturer. 
 
 

232



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

Reason: To address the requirements of policies in relation to climate change, 
including SS7, MT1 and SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy; to assist 
in redressing the Climate and Ecology Emergency declared by the Council; and to 
accord with paragraphs 107 and 112 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 
INFORMATIVES: 
 
1. The attention of the applicant is drawn to the conditions on the outline planning 

permission granted on 3 September 2019, reference no. 191541/O.  This application, 
for the approval of reserved matters, is granted subject to these conditions. 
 

2. The applicant is reminded of the obligation to ensure that nearby public rights of way 
(EB19 and EB19A) are not obstructed during the construction period. 
 

3. This approval does not imply any rights of entry onto or over adjoining property. 
 

  
 
 
 
Decision:  ..............................................................................................................................................  
 
Notes:  ..................................................................................................................................................  
 
 ..............................................................................................................................................................  
 
Background Papers 
 
None identified. 
  

233



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Simon Rowles on 01432 260238 

PF2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made. 

  

APPLICATION NO:  212518   
 
SITE ADDRESS :  LAND SOUTH OF YEW TREE FARM, RUCKHALL COMMON ROAD, EATON BISHOP, 
HEREFORD, HR2 9QX 
 
Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.   Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Herefordshire Council.  Licence No: 100024168/2005 

 

234



 

 

 

 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

MEETING: PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 16 AUGUST 2023 

TITLE OF 
REPORT: 

231926 - APPLICATION FOR THE PRIOR APPROVAL OF 
CHANGE OF USE OF AGRICULTURAL BUILDING TO SINGLE 
DWELLING. AT BARN AT WOOLNER HILL FARM, 
STONEHOUSE LANE, BRINGSTY, HEREFORDSHIRE,  
 
For: Mr Buckley per Mr Rhys Bennett, 16 Royal Crescent, 
Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, GL50 3DA 
 

WEBSITE 
LINK: 

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/
details?id=231926&search-term=231926 
 

 

Reason Application submitted to Committee – Staff Applications 

 
Date Received: 22 June 2023 Ward: Bishops Frome 

& Cradley  
Grid Ref: 367231,252694 

Expiry Date: 17 August 2023 
Local Members: Cllr Ellie Chowns 

 
1. Site Description and Proposal 
 
1.1 The application is submitted under Part 3 Class Q of the General Permitted Development Order for 

the conversion of an agricultural building to a single dwelling. 
 

1.2 Woolner Hill Farm is located at the end of Stonehouse Lane, approximately 2 miles to the south 
east of Bromyard.  The property is one of a small number of properties and smallholdings located 
sporadically along the lane, the closest being Stonehouse Farm, approximately 220 metres to the 
north. 

 
1.3 Woolner Hill Farm itself is comprised of a farmhouse and a small group of four buildings immediately 

to its west as shown on the site plan below. The application relates to the westernmost of these 
buildings, sitting slightly apart from the rest.  It is a modern, open fronted steel framed building, the 
remaining three sides enclosed with profiled metal walls and roof.  

 

 

235

AGENDA ITEM 9

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=231926&search-term=231926
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=231926&search-term=231926


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
 
 
  
2. Planning History 
 
2.1 None Identified  
 
3. Consultation Summary 
 
3.1 No Statutory Consultations 
  
Internal Council Consultations 
 
3.2 Area Engineer (Highways)  
 
 No objections subject to conditions  
 
4. Representations 
 
4.1 Brockhampton Group Parish Council  
 

Brockhampton Group Parish Council considered this application at their meeting 19/07/23 and 
raised no objections or concerns with the proposals 

 
The consultation responses can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following 
link:- 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_searc
h/details?id=231926 
 
Internet access is available at the Council’s Customer Service Centres:- 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage 

 
5.  Officer’s Appraisal 
 
5.1  The application has been submitted under Part 3 Class Q(a) and (b) and is therefore seeking the 

change of use of the building and proposing building operations related to the change of use.  
 
5.2  In order for a building to benefit from the permitted development rights contained within Class Q, 

it needs to be established that the proposed development is the conversion of a building and does 
not amount to a fresh build. As stated in the NPPG “it is only where the existing building is already 
suitable for conversion to residential use that the building would be considered to have the 
permitted development right”.  

 
5.3  Furthermore the National Planning Practice guidance (NPPG) directs attention to the case of 

Hibbitt and another v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government (1) and 
Rushcliffe Borough Council (2) [2016] EWHC 2853 (Admin) for a full discussion on the matter.  

 
5.4  Critically the Hibbitt case asserts that the concept of conversion is found in the overarching 

provisions of Class Q as a whole and not simply in Q.1 and therefore it is, as stated above, the 
qualifying test to ensure the building would be considered to have the permitted development 
rights.   

 
5.5  The building is of substantial construction and have been demonstrated to facilitate conversion 

without the need for additional structural support.  The Planning Statement accompanying the 
submission advises that the building has been inspected by a qualified structural engineer who 
has confirmed that it is structurally sound and capable of conversion without structural alterations 

236

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=231926
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=231926
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

or reinforcements.  The level of intervention required to convert the building is high for it to be 
considered a conversion.  In this case the external materials will be re-used with insulation added 
to the internal face and the schedule of works appears appropriate to meet the ‘Hibbitt’ gateway 
test. Given this, the barn qualifies for permitted development rights and the proposal now falls to 
be considered against the provisions of Class Q.  

 
  Plans as existing 
 

 
 
  Plans as proposed 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

237



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

5.6 Having established that the building passes the first principles as set out by the ‘Hibbitt’ gateway 
tests, the proposal now falls to be considered against the remaining provisions of Class Q.  For 
ease, these are set out in the left hand column of the table below, with a brief commentary in 
respect of the application in the right hand column.  It should be noted that these are matters of 
fact and are not subject to a planning judgement in the same way as a typical planning application.  
If it can be shown that the proposal complies with all of the criteria then it should be concluded 
that the proposal is permitted development. 

 
Criteria Officer response  

 

a) Was the site used solely for an agricultural 
use, as part of an established agricultural 
unit; 

 on 20th March 2013;  

 if the site was not in use on that date, when 
it was last in use; or  

 if the site was brought into use after that 
date, for ten years before the date the 
development begins?  

 
If NO planning permission is required. 
 

Yes.  
 
Having visited the site it is clear that 
the site is part of an established 
agricultural unit.  The application 
advises that the building was erected 
between 1973 and 1975 and that it has 
been used continuously since.   

(b) in the case of – a larger dwellinghouse, within 
an established agricultural unit where — 

 
(aa) the cumulative number of separate 
larger dwellinghouses developed under 
ClassQ exceeds 3; or 
 
(bb) the cumulative floor space of the 
existing building or buildings changing use 
to a larger dwellinghouse or dwellinghouses 
under Class Q exceeds 465 square metres; 
 
Is the cumulative floor space of the existing 
building or buildings changing use under 
Class Q within an established agricultural 
unit less than 450 square metres?  
 
If NO planning permission is required. 
 

 
The proposal is for a single larger 
dwelling with a floor area of 
approximately 149m2.  The proposal 
complies with Q.1(b) 

(c) in the case of—i) a smaller dwellinghouse, 
within an established agricultural unit— 

 
(aa) the cumulative number of separate 
smaller dwellinghouses developed under 
Class Q exceeds 5; or 
 
(bb) the floor space of any one separate 
smaller dwellinghouse having a use falling 
within Class C3 (dwellinghouses) of the 
Schedule to the Use Classes Order 
exceeds 100 square metres; 
 

  
Not applicable 

(d) Would the development under Class Q 
(together with any previous development under 

There has not been any development 
previously under Class Q.  The floor 

238



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

Class Q) within an established agricultural unit 
result in either or both of the following— 

 
i. a larger dwellinghouse or larger 

dwellinghouses having more than 465 
square metres of floor space having a 
use falling within Class C3 
(dwellinghouses) of the Schedule to the 
Use Classes Order; 

ii. the cumulative number of separate 
dwellinghouses having a use falling 
within Class C (dwellinghouses) of the 
Schedule to the Use Classes Order 
exceeding 5; 

area proposed is 149m2 and therefore 
falls below the 465m2 threshold.  The 
proposal complies with Q.1(d) 

(e) If the site is occupied under an agricultural 
tenancy has the express consent of both the 
landlord and the tenant been obtained?  

 
If NO planning permission is required 
 

Not applicable. There is no agricultural 
tenancy 

(f) If less than one year before the date 
development begins an agricultural tenancy over 
the site has been terminated where that 
termination was for the purpose of carrying out 
development under Class MB, have both the 
landlord and the tenant agreed in writing that the 
site is no longer required for agricultural use?  

 
If NO planning permission is required. 
 

Not applicable 
 

(g) Has development under Class A(a) or Class 
B(a) of Part 6 of this Schedule (agricultural 
buildings and operations) been carried out on the 
established agricultural unit since 20th March 
2013, or within 10 years before the date 
development under Class MB begins, whichever is 
the lesser?  

 
If YES planning permission is required. 
 

No. There is no planning history 
relating to the site to suggest that this 
is the case 
 

(h) Would the development result in the external 
dimensions of the building extending beyond the 
external dimensions of the existing building at any 
given point?  

 
If YES planning permission is required 
 

On the basis of the drawings submitted 
the proposed development would not 
exceed the external dimensions of the 
building 

(i) Would development under Class Q(b) consist of 
building operations other than:  

 
1. the installation or replacement of - 

• windows, doors, roofs, or exterior walls, or  
• water, drainage, electricity, gas or other 
services  

The plans indicate that all existing 
materials will be re-used and 
refurbished.  The scheme will require 
the enclosure of the front elevation in 
order to facilitate conversion to a 
residential use.  The ‘Hibbitt’ case has 
established that this level of 
intervention is considered to be 
reasonably necessary.  No demolition 

239



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

where such works are restricted to those 
reasonably necessary for the building to 
function as a dwelling; and  
 

2. partial demolition to the extent reasonably 
necessary to carry out building operations allowed 
by paragraph Q.1.1(i)(i)?  

 
If YES planning permission is required. 
 

is proposed and on this basis the 
proposal is considered to comply with 
Q.1(i) 

(j) Is the site on article 2(3) land?   
 
If YES planning permission is required.  
 

No 
 

(k) Is the site or does the site form part of—  
• a site of special scientific interest;  
• a safety hazard area; or  
• a military explosives storage area?  
 
If YES planning permission is required. 
 

No 
 

(l) Is the site or does the site contain a scheduled 
ancient monument?  

 
If YES planning permission is required.  
 

No 
 

(m) Is the building a listed building? 
 
If YES planning permission is required. 
 

No 
 

Does the proposal comply with the definition of 
'curtilage' (Interpretation of Part 3) as follows:  

 
(i) The piece of land, whether enclosed or 
unenclosed, immediately beside or around 
the agricultural building, closely associated 
with and serving the purposes of the 
agricultural building, or  
 
(ii) an area of land immediately beside or 
around the agricultural building no larger 
than the land area occupied by the 
agricultural building,  
 
whichever is the lesser;"; 

 
Yes 
 
  

 
5.7  The proposed development is therefore considered permitted development.  
 
5.8  As such the proposal is now required to be assessed against the conditions found in Q.2. 

Given the application follows approval under Q(a) the proposal has already been assessed 
against subparagraphs 1(a) to (e), nevertheless the provisions of Class Q does not limit the 
assessment of Q(b) solely to the remaining sub-paragraphs and as such the proposal will be 
assessed against all sub-paragraphs. 

 
(a) Transport  and highways impacts of the development  
 

240



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

The proposal has been assessed by the Council’s Highway Engineer who has confirmed that 
there are no objections to the proposal from a highway perspective.  Conditions have been 
recommended relating to the provision of appropriate parking and turning areas, the provision 
of cycle storage facilities and the need for a construction management plan.  Given the 
limitations of Class Q in terms of identifying a curtilage, the requirements for parking and turning 
are not necessary.  Class Q does not facilitate the provision of other operational development 
and therefore a requirement by condition of secure cycle storage facilities would fundamentally 
fall foul of the provisions as set out.  Therefore a condition to require such facilities cannot 
reasonably be imposed.  Finally, the requirement for the submission of a construction 
management plan is considered to be disproportionate to the development proposed. 

 
(b) Noise impacts of the development 
 
The proposal will not give rise to any noise impacts.  The remaining buildings on the site will 
continue to be used for agricultural purposes, but their scale and relationship with the subject 
building mean that any noise impacts are unlikely 
 
(c) Contamination risks on the site 
 
There are no known contaminative sources on the site. 

 
(d) Flooding risks on the site 
 
The site is not contained within any identified flood hazard area and did not appear to be at 
risk of surface water flooding.  
 
(e) Whether the location or siting of the building makes it otherwise impractical or undesirable 

for the building to change from agricultural use to a use falling within Class C3 
(dwellinghouses) of the Schedule to the Use Classes Order. 

 
Given the site is in an isolated open countryside location there are inherent landscape and 
environmental impacts. However, the barn is part of an established farm group and is unlikely 
to create adverse effects in this regard. 
 
(f) The design or external appearance of the building 
 
The design and external appearance of the resultant dwelling is typical of a conversion of a 
modern agricultural building. The proposal includes the retention of existing external materials.  
The design and external appearance of the proposal is considered to be acceptable 
 
(g) The provision of adequate natural light in all habitable rooms of the dwellinghouses 
 
All habitable rooms have windows or doors and will have adequate natural light.  
 

Conclusion  
 
5.9  After assessing the above matters, it is considered that the change of use of the agricultural 

building to a dwelling would amount to permitted development under the Town & Country 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015.  It is recommended that prior approval 
for the change of use and associated building operations be granted. 

 

241



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
That Prior Approval be granted subject to the following conditions (as required by the Town & 
Country (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015) 
 
1. Development under Class Q is permitted subject to the condition that development under 

Class Q (a) and under Class Q (b), if any, must be completed within a period of 3 years 
starting with the date of this permission.  
 
Reason: In accordance with Condition (3) as outlined under Conditions of Class Q under 
Part 3 of Schedule 2 of The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended). 
 

2. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plans 
(drawing nos. 4439 (P) 001, 4439P (0) 106 & 4439 P (0) 107), except where otherwise 
stipulated by conditions attached to this permission.  
 
Reason: To ensure adherence to the approved plans and to protect the general character 
and amenities of the area in accordance with the requirements of the National Planning 
Policy Framework and to ensure compliance with the provisions of Class Q of Part 3 of 
the General Permitted Development Order.  
 

INFORMATIVES: 
 
1. The applicant is advised that it in accordance with Regulation 75 of the Conservation 

of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as amended by the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019, it is a condition of 
any planning permission granted by a General Development Order that is likely to 
have a significant effect on a European site (either alone or in combination with other 
plans or projects), that works should not commence until the developer has received 
written notification of the approval from the local planning authority under 
Regulation 77. The applicant should therefore be satisfied before commencing works 
that the development will not have any likely effect on any European Site.  In addition, 
applicants are advised that they can , if they choose to, apply to Natural England as 
the appropriate Nature Conservation body, under Regulation 76 of Regulations (as 
amended) prior to making any necessary application to the Local Planning Authority 
under Regulation 75. 
 

2. The attention of the applicant is drawn to the provisions of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). This gives statutory protection to a number of 
species and their habitats. Other animals are also protected under their own 
legislation. Should any protected species or their habitat be identified during the 
course of the development then work should cease immediately and Natural England 
should be informed. They can be contacted at: Block B, Government Buildings, 
Whittington Road, Worcester, WR5 2LQ. Tel: 0300 060 6000.  
 
The attention of the applicant is also drawn to the provisions of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010. In particular, European protected animal 
species and their breeding sites or resting places are protected under Regulation 40. 
It is an offence for anyone to deliberately capture, injure or kill any such animal. It is 
also an offence to damage or destroy a breeding or resting place of such an animal.  
 

3. The proposed development may not have access to mains water and be reliant on a 
private water supply. The applicant is advised that the Private Water Supplies 
(England)Regulations 2016 (as amended) and the Water Supply (Water Quality) 

242



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

Regulation 2016 are likely to apply. In accordance with these Regulations and the 
Building Regulations 1984 the water must be of a potable and safe standard. 
 
If the supply is to be used for shared or commercial purposes including renting, the 
private Water Supplies (England) Regulations 2016 specify that the water supply 
cannot be used until it has been risk assessed by the local authority’s private water 
supplies team (01432 261761) and found compliant. Applicants that are connecting 
to existing private water supplies or accessing sources of water on land over which 
they have no control are advised to give careful and specific attention to 
contractual/civil arrangements including rights of access, maintenance 
arrangements, provision of alternative water supply are agreed in writing at the 
outset. 
 

 
Decision:  ..............................................................................................................................................  
 
Notes:  ..................................................................................................................................................  
 
 ..............................................................................................................................................................  
 
Background Papers 
 
None identified. 
  

243



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made. 

  

APPLICATION NO:  231926   
 
SITE ADDRESS :  BARN AT WOOLNER HILL FARM, STONEHOUSE LANE, BRINGSTY, 
HEREFORDSHIRE 
 
Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.   Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Herefordshire Council.  Licence No: 100024168/2005 

 

244


	Agenda
	 Public Information
	 GUIDE TO THE COMMITTEE
	 NOLAN PRINCIPLES
	4 MINUTES
	Minutes
	11 222314 - LAND AT GLOUCESTER ROAD (A40 A449 JUNCTION), ROSS ON WYE, HEREFORDSHIRE
	Appendix to update sheet - Application 222314

	12 204242 / 204243 - WARHAM COURT FARM, BREINTON, HEREFORD, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR4 7PF

	6 181494 - LAND ADJACENT TO SPRING COTTAGE, HEADBROOK, KINGTON, HR5 3DY
	181494 - LAND ADJACENT TO SPRING COTTAGE - Appendix 1 - 2018 Committee Minutes
	181494 - LAND ADJACENT TO SPRING COTTAGE - Appendix 2 - 2018 Committee Report
	181494 - LAND ADJACENT TO SPRING COTTAGE - Appendix 3 - HRA

	7 223281 - LAND AT ASHLEY FARM, GRAFTON COURT CLOSE, GRAFTON, HEREFORD, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR2 8BL
	8 212518 - LAND SOUTH OF YEW TREE FARM, RUCKHALL, COMMON ROAD, EATON BISHOP, HEREFORD, HR2 9QX
	9 231926 - BARN AT WOOLNER HILL FARM, STONEHOUSE LANE, BRINGSTY, HEREFORDSHIRE

